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Additional Praise for Paul Volcker: 

The Making of a Financial Legend

“As Joseph Treaster’s quite wonderful biography makes clear, Paul
Volcker is a rare gift to the nation. Read this book and be reminded
anew of the extraordinary integrity and intellectual firepower Volcker
has made synonymous with his service to the Republic. You may not
think you care about the role of the Federal Reserve, but after you
read Paul Volcker: The Making of a Financial Legend, you will.’’

—Hodding Carter III, 
State Department Spokesman 
in the Carter Administration 
and currently President of the John S. 
and James L. Knight Foundation

“I remember well when Paul Volcker became chairman of the Fed
and vowed to break inflation. Not many believed him, but he did it,
almost single-handedly. The story of this great financial strategist
will help you understand today’s economy and what lies ahead.”

—Jim Rogers, international investor
and author of the bestselling books,
Adventure Capitalist 
and Investment Biker

“Through five decades of competence and integrity in both the pub-
lic and private sectors, Paul Volcker has gained the respect of the
world’s financial leaders while never forgetting those in America
who needed a helping hand. He has been the voice of calm in times
of financial crisis and of innovation in times of opportunity. Above
all he has been candid in a world where candor often takes second
place to public relations and spin. Treaster’s compelling book about
an extraordinary American is long overdue.’’

—Former Senator Bill Bradley
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Foreword

Without Paul Volcker’s toughness and guts, we may never
have broken the grip of rising inflation and declining pro-
ductivity that plagued the United States during the 1970s.
And we surely would not have been positioned to enjoy
record economic growth in the 1990s. It would have been
amazing to think in 1982, but now inflation barely registers
as a concern in the United States. For that, Americans have
to thank Paul Volcker.

At the start of the 1980s, America was suffering through
its greatest economic crisis since I was a young boy during
the Great Depression. In March of 1982, as Chairman of the
American Stock Exchange, I put forward Wall Street’s per-
spective on President Reagan’s economic policies in an
address at the National Press Club in Washington, buttress-
ing my remarks with data from a poll of 400 leaders in the
financial community. The results of the poll, conducted by
the Exchange, were clear: Business leaders were losing
enthusiasm for the president’s economic plans, but they
overwhelmingly supported Paul Volcker’s stewardship of
monetary policy at the Federal Reserve Board.

At the time, that was not an opinion shared by most
Americans. As Joseph Treaster vividly describes in the fol-
lowing pages, Volcker was under intense pressure to reverse
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his policy of monetary restraint. At the time, it was hard for
a lot of people to see that Volcker was administering the
medicine that our ailing economy sorely needed. But I
believed that he was. That is why at the end of that talk at
the National Press Club, I told the reporters there that 
Volcker “may be the only voice of sanity left in Washington.
We respect him for his toughness and guts.” My comments
elicited a small storm of controversy, but I stood by them
then, and I stand by them now. 

Having gotten to know Paul over the years, I can say that
this courage is a manifestation of how he has lived his per-
sonal and professional life. He has always stood for what he
believes is right, regardless of the political consequences.

After Volcker left the Fed, he undertook the difficult task
of chairing a joint committee of Jewish groups and Swiss
banks to bring resolution to the question of unclaimed
accounts of Holocaust victims. It was a situation fraught
with emotion and acrimony, one in which the chance for
failure was high. Yet Volcker took on the task, oversaw a
massive accounting of Swiss bank records, and helped force
a $1.25 billion agreement.

As that process was winding down in 2002, Volcker
answered the call at Arthur Andersen, agreeing to chair an
independent oversight committee at the height of that
accounting firm’s problems concerning the Enron collapse.
It was a total no-win situation. The public was outraged at
the firm’s role in this massive corporate scandal, and the
accounting industry had a history of obstinacy toward
reform.

But Volcker truly believed that it was important to the
future of accounting and to the future of our market system

F O R E W O R D
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for him to help turn Arthur Andersen into a model for the
entire field. Unfortunately, Volcker’s reorganization plan
was never implemented, as criminal indictments quickly
doomed the future of Arthur Andersen. Yet many of the rec-
ommendations that Volcker made—such as restrictions on
nonaudit work and the rotation of auditors—became part of
the groundbreaking Sarbanes-Oxley Act passed by Con-
gress later that year.

Finally, I saw Volcker’s courage up close as a fellow
member of the Conference Board’s Blue-Ribbon Commis-
sion on Public Trust and Private Enterprise. When everyone
else in this august group of business leaders was talking
about the right formula to treat stock options as an expense—
an important move to realign the interests of management
and shareholders—Volcker took the practical, principled,
and bold stand that these options should be banned out-
right.

What motivates Volcker to take these principled stands
is engagingly detailed in the following chapters. Joseph
Treaster’s book paints an encompassing portrait of one of
the great economic minds and financial leaders of our time,
detailing his professional triumphs as well as the personal
side of the man, from his upbringing in New Jersey to his
struggles in caring for his wife and family.

Reading this book, one also learns the story of a now
rare breed: the private sector leader who takes his public
obligations seriously. 

In an era in which business leaders are celebrated on
magazine covers for acquiring a company in one stroke of
the pen, firing tens of thousands of employees in another
stroke, and in yet another, selling off the enterprise years

F O R E W O R D

xi

11245_Treaster_3p_flast.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:42 AM Page xi



later for less than shareholders paid for it in the first place,
Volcker stands out as an exception to the rule. He traded
years of lucrative earnings on Wall Street for years in the
public service, and, when he moved to the private sector,
placed more value on maintaining his integrity than on
maintaining a flashy lifestyle.

Now, when anyone is drawing up a list of people to head
an important public commission, Paul Volcker heads the list.
Unfortunately, he is often the only name on it. Today, there
are too few private sector leaders who appreciate the respon-
sibilities that they have to the rest of society, who understand
that their expertise is needed to navigate the challenges before
us, and who recognize that their interests are served when
they serve the public interest.

I hope those reading this book will see the story of Paul
Volcker’s life not only as a piece of history, but as an exam-
ple of the type of public-spirited behavior we need from our
business leaders in the years to come. I can think of no more
fitting tribute to this great man. 

Arthur Levitt, Jr.
Westport, Connecticut
March 2004

F O R E W O R D
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A FINANCE LEGEND
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The lanky man in the rumpled suit puffed serenely on a
cigar, and the members of the House Committee on
Banking sputtered with rage. The lawmakers had been

flooded by their constituents with heartbreaking stories of
personal hardship as the nation slid ever deeper into the
worst recession since the Great Depression. Interest rates
had shot above 20 percent, millions of Americans had been
thrown out of work, and consumer spending had plum-
meted. The vital industries that built and sold homes and
cars were struggling, and thousands of businesses were
heading into bankruptcy.

Yet, as the Congressmen questioned the one man most
responsible for the hard times, Paul A. Volcker Jr., the chair-
man of the Federal Reserve Board, they drew no comfort.
As bad as conditions were, Volcker said on that summer day
in 1981, they were only going to get worse.1

Volcker knew, because he pulled the levers and pressed
the buttons that largely determined the flow of money in

3
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America, whether it would be bountiful or scarce and how
much it would cost to borrow. He had deliberately orches-
trated a stratospheric rise in interest rates over the previous
two years in a determined campaign to crush inflation. He
had not expected interest rates to soar quite so high or the
economy to fall quite so deeply into distress,2 but he was
convinced that the constant escalation of prices—the essence
of inflation—gravely threatened America’s economic stability
and its status as a world leader, and that it had to be stopped.

Most Americans, however, did not see the danger. As
troubled as they were by the uncertainties of ever rising
prices, they had learned to live with inflation. They realized
that the money in their pockets was losing value every
month, so they bought homes and land that would rise in
value as inflation rose and took out loans that would be 
paid back in inflated dollars. They demanded and received
higher wages. Manufacturers marked up their goods. When
Volcker slammed on the brakes and threw the economy into
a dive, the country was stunned—and many Americans com-
plained to their representatives in Washington.

Calm and seemingly detached in a wreath of wispy cigar
smoke, Volcker told the Congressmen in their grand hear-
ing room that summer day that while he saw signs that infla-
tion was declining, he was cutting back further on the
supply of money in the economy,3 knowing that almost cer-
tainly business failures would multiply and millions more
would lose their jobs. He was doing this, he said, for the
long-term good of the country.

The Congressmen literally shrieked. Frank Annunzio, a
Democrat from Illinois, shouted and pounded his desk.4

“Your course of action is wrong,” he yelled, his voice breaking

PA U L VO L C K E R
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with emotion. “It must be wrong. There isn’t anybody who
says you’re right.”5 Volcker’s high interest rates were “destroy-
ing the small businessman,” decried George Hansen, a
Republican from Idaho.6 “We’re destroying Middle America,”
Representative Hansen said. “We’re destroying the American
Dream.” Representative Henry B. Gonzalez, a Democrat from
Texas, called for Volcker’s impeachment, saying he had per-
mitted big banks to be “predatory dinosaurs that suck up bil-
lions of dollars in resources” to support mergers while doing
little to help neighborhood stores and workshops and the
average American consumer.7

The outburst was a distillation of national sentiment—or
resentment—that would only deepen as unemployment rose
to a high of nearly 11 percent and interest rates, which
peaked the following month in August 1981 at 201⁄2 percent,
remained close to 16 percent for the next year.

As the recession worsened, Americans beseeched Volcker
to relent. Building contractors and carpenters inundated his
offices in Washington with stubby lengths of two-by-fours,
lumber they said they would not need since no one was buy-
ing houses. They slapped mailing labels on the wood and
scrawled plaintive messages. On one block now sitting on a
shelf at the Federal Reserve, Lloyd Fancett wrote, “I need 
my job, don’t stop housing.” L. D. Estes Jr., of Texarkana,
Arkansas, sent in a block with a knothole. “Dear Mr. Volcker,”
he wrote in black marker, “I am beginning to feel as useless as
this knothole. Where will our children live?”

Car dealers sent Volcker mailbags full of ignition keys
for sedans and coupes that had no buyers. Farmers brought
their tractors to the capital and paraded gloomily around the
Federal Reserve headquarters, along Constitution Avenue,

A  F I NA N C E L E G E N D
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up 21st Street, then back on C Street. Some of the protests
were menacing. In Kentucky, a homebuilders’ association
tacked up “Wanted” posters featuring Volcker and the six
other Federal Reserve governors. In neighboring Tennessee,
a building trades magazine accused Volcker and his col-
leagues of the “premeditated and cold-blooded murder of
millions of small businesses” and of “kidnapping (and hold-
ing for ransom) the American dream of home ownership.”8

Shortly before Christmas, a man talked his way into the Fed-
eral Reserve, dashed up the interior marble stairs, and got as
far as a closed-door meeting in the majestic Federal Reserve
boardroom before he was tackled by a guard. The man, who
told the police he was upset about high interest rates, was
carrying a sawed-off shotgun, a pistol, a knife, and a satchel
containing a fake bomb.9

Volcker’s fight against inflation had consequences even
the Fed chairman could not have predicted, contributing
strongly to the defeat of President Carter in 1980 and signifi-
cantly hurting the popularity of his successor, Ronald Reagan.
Both presidents chose not to quarrel openly with Volcker, 
but their aides felt less constrained, with some of the more
pronounced hectoring coming from President Reagan’s Trea-
sury secretaries, Donald T. Regan and James A. Baker III,
who earlier had served as White House chief of staff. When
Volcker told President Reagan in the summer of 1987 that he
was resigning, Baker could not contain his glee. “We got the
son of a bitch,” Baker told a friend in New York.10

Volcker ultimately defeated inflation, putting the country
on the path to its greatest run of prosperity in history. In

PA U L VO L C K E R
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recognition of his success and his unyielding adherence to
principles and tactics, his stature has risen to the level of
demigod in the world of economics and finance. “If you play
free association with the name Paul Volcker, two words
come up, integrity and steadfastness,” says Alan S. Blinder, a
Princeton University economics professor who served on
President Bill Clinton’s Council of Economic Advisers and
was Clinton’s appointee as vice chairman of the Federal
Reserve Board in 1994.11

Alan Greenspan, the current chairman of the Fed, hails
Volcker as the father of America’s economic vitality over
most of the last two decades and says his own success in
driving down inflation to historic lows has been largely an
extension of “the basic policy that Volcker put in place.”12

Volcker’s approach to tackling inflation has its detrac-
tors, but even they acknowledge his historic achievement
and admire his iron will. Nobel laureate in economics Joseph
E. Stiglitz views him with “enormous respect,”13 even though
he believes Volcker inflicted more pain than necessary on
America.

Likewise, Professor Blinder would have preferred a
slower pace in the inflation fight, but heralds the results. In
the years since Volcker administered his shock therapy,
Blinder points out, inflation has been “a very minor social
and economic issue in this country.”14 As Volcker saw it, he
had to strike hard to jolt Americans out of the expectation
that prices would inevitably leapfrog higher and that the
only way to stay ahead was to keep spending and demand-
ing higher pay.15

In retrospect, Greenspan says, Volcker may not have
needed to apply as much pressure as he did, but there was

A  F I NA N C E L E G E N D
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no way for Volcker or anyone else to know that. The infla-
tion he faced was like a virulent cancer. In a situation like
that, Greenspan says, one tends toward overdose. “You do
not want to take the chance that you will underdose,” he
says, “because you might not get a second chance.”16

Volcker was probably the best-prepared chairman ever
to preside over the Federal Reserve, both in education and
manner of thinking. But for all his brilliance in setting mon-
etary policy and skill in navigating Washington politics, he
often came across to ordinary Americans as a cold and arro-
gant numbers cruncher. The ever present cigar only rein-
forced the public’s perception of him as a hard-nosed
banker’s banker. In a way, that’s what he was. But he was
convinced that he had to act decisively to save his country
from ruin. His predecessors had tried to dampen inflation,
but had retreated as Americans began to feel the pain. The
result had been an exceedingly long, rippling upward climb
of inflation. Volcker, the son of a revered town manager ded-
icated to public service, felt a duty to stay the course. “If he
would have walked away from it, it would have really
endangered the United States,” says Henry Kaufman,
Volcker’s colleague and friend from the early days at the Fed
and for years the head of research at Salomon Brothers on
Wall Street.17

Conversations with Kaufman and veterans of Volcker’s
war on inflation, including Volcker himself, make clear
that there was never any question of his turning back. The
Fed chairman and his lieutenants were like surgeons work-
ing on a patient, though Volcker admits he “did a lot of

PA U L VO L C K E R
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pacing the floor.”18 Volcker compares himself to a physician
administering medicine: “The doctor says, ‘I know you
don’t like this, but it’s good for you.’ Maybe that sounds
trivial. But you don’t do it unless you think it’s for the
overall good of the country.”19

Paul Volcker is regarded as one of the world’s great eco-
nomic strategists. But he is much more than that. He is also
an instinctive leader, a figure of unshakable integrity and that
almost unheard-of master of Wall Street and Washington
finance who has never sought to amass personal wealth. At
76, he continues, by Wall Street standards, to live modestly.

Since his departure from the Fed almost two decades
ago, Volcker has remained engaged in both the financial
world and the world at large, striving most recently to revive
the Arthur Andersen accounting firm and to recover billions
in lost savings of Holocaust victims from Swiss banks. This
book is the story of his half-century of service and an
account of the enormous impact he has had on American
business and finance, and on the lives of the more than 290
million Americans.

A  F I NA N C E L E G E N D
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CHAPTER TWO

SEVENTY-SIX
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After three decades of government service, Paul Volcker
stepped down from the Federal Reserve in 1987, feeling
younger than his nearly 60 years and showing no signs

of shifting to a slower pace. With little fanfare, he galloped
off to begin a new career as a university professor and a
New York City investment banker. Yet he never stopped see-
ing himself as a public servant, and in the next phase of his
life his unpaid work in pursuit of corporate honesty, a
strengthened civil service, and aid to the victims of the Holo-
caust far overshadowed his private business career. As cor-
porate scandals at Enron, the huge Texas-based energy
trading company, and the missteps of the world’s biggest
accounting and consulting firms unfolded in the early years
of the new century, Volcker emerged more than ever as a
beacon of integrity and strength, a legend of finance whose
solid principles never yielded.

Thriftiness and unpretentiousness are as much a part of
Volcker as his towering 6-foot, 7-inch frame. He seemed to

13
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delight in cheap cigars and bargain suits and he has always
found it difficult to discard a shirt just because it was begin-
ning to fray. When he became president of the Federal
Reserve Bank in New York, he immediately replaced the
official limousine with a standard sedan.

Though his work has profoundly affected the financial
well-being of millions of Americans, he has never placed
much emphasis on his own personal riches. By his account,
he has ambled though life without a career plan and, by all
appearances, has had no greater goal than doing the best job
he could in the public interest. Though Volcker is nominally
a Democrat who admires Harry Truman and Adlai Steven-
son, his style has generally been nonpartisan. The result of
all this has been that public and private organizations have
been powerfully drawn to him in times of need. Alan S.
Blinder, the Princeton University economics professor and
former vice chairman of the Federal Reserve Board, calls
Volcker “an exemplar of the notion of public service.”1

As he celebrated his 76th birthday in 2003, Volcker had
accumulated a comfortable reserve of money. Yet he stuck to
his lifelong low-budget daily routine, occasionally riding a
New York City public bus and walking a few blocks to his
small office in Rockefeller Center. He had long ago given up
his favorite Antonio y Cleopatra cigars for health reasons,
but he had begun thinking they were getting expensive
when they got up to a quarter apiece. 

In his prime, as chairman of the Fed in the 1980s, Volcker
appeared on the covers of Time and Newsweek, regularly came
into American living rooms on the nightly television news,
and was often referred to as the second most powerful person
in America, with only the president regarded as having more

PA U L VO L C K E R
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clout. Volcker was the go-to guy on the economy. And the
reputation born out of his term as chairman remains constant
to this day.

As the fever of corporate scandal spread over America in
recent years, Volcker was in heavy demand. Senators and
representatives called him to Washington to testify before
Congress. He was often mentioned as a candidate for impor-
tant government and regulatory posts.

One of the central themes in the Enron disaster was
deception through accounting. Arthur Andersen, an account-
ing and consulting giant with annual revenue of $9 billion,
1,750 partners, and 80,000 employees, was Enron’s auditor.
Disturbing reports about the two companies filled the news-
papers and the airwaves. In early January of 2002, with
investigations by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Justice Department, and Congress under way, lawyers
for Andersen made a stunning discovery. As they prepared
testimony before Congress,2 the lawyers found that a large
number of potentially incriminating e-mail messages and
computer files dealing with Enron had been deleted. They
found signs, too, that many documents had been shredded.
Eventually, investigators would determine that Andersen had
destroyed roughly 30,000 e-mail messages and computer files
and nearly a ton of paper documents relating to the troubled
energy company.3

In a business based on trust, Andersen was in extreme
trouble. With the firm’s reputation in ruins, its chief execu-
tive, Joseph F. Berardino, went looking for a savior. He
sought to create an independent board to demonstrate that

S E V E N T Y-S I X

15

11245_Treaster_3p_c02.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:29 AM Page 15



Andersen intended to make a fresh start. To lead the board,
he needed someone with impeccable credentials—someone
like Paul Volcker. “We’re in big trouble,” Volcker recalls
Berardino saying.4 “We’ve got to make some changes.”
Berardino was looking for someone to steer the firm in a
new direction. “It was more than oversight in the sense of
just approving what they were doing,” Volcker says, “but it
wasn’t running the place in the sense of operating it, day by
day.”5

Volcker was intrigued, but in order to accept the position
he wanted full authority to make whatever changes he
deemed necessary, including the replacement of Berardino
and other senior executives. “He went away and a few days
later sent me an e-mail on what they had in mind; he’d obvi-
ously consulted with friends,” Volcker says. “And it was
weak, and I said, ‘Well, if that’s what you’ve got in mind, I’m
not interested.’ So he came back saying, ‘Oh, no. No. No.
You tell us what you’ve got in mind.’”

Volcker reiterated his conditions, and on February 3,
Andersen announced from its headquarters in Chicago that
Volcker had agreed to become chairman of an independent
oversight board to work with the firm “in making funda-
mental changes in its audit practices.”6 The company also
said it was taking steps to reduce conflicts of interest and
specified wide-ranging powers for Volcker.

Accounting professionals were amazed. “What they’ve
done now is almost hard to believe,” Arthur W. Bowman,
the editor of Bowman’s Accounting Report, told Jonathan Glater
of The New York Times.7 “They’re going to give this commit-
tee carte blanche to make recommendations, and they’ll fol-
low them without question.”

PA U L VO L C K E R
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Volcker, who declined, as usual, to be paid for his ser-
vices, was not so sure it would work out that crisply. But he
expected to be able to bring substantial change to Andersen.
Otherwise, he said, “I could not possibly invite other people
to join this board.”8

Volcker did not know at the time that he had not been
Berardino’s first choice. Arthur Levitt, the former chairman
of the Securities and Exchange Commission, was among the
others Berardino considered before seeking out Volcker, but
Volcker says that would not have mattered. He saw an
opportunity to directly affect what he regarded as the declin-
ing standards of American accounting firms, and he was not
about to let pride stand in the way. Nearly two years earlier
he had become chairman of the board of trustees of the
International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation
in London, the parent of a board that has developed audit-
ing rules followed by many countries. He was particularly
concerned that lucrative consulting contracts posed a con-
flict of interest for the accounting firms. The danger was that
to get the consulting fees the firms could be tempted to com-
promise on the accounting. In 2000, Enron paid Andersen
$27 million in consulting fees, $2 million more than the $25
million it paid the firm for auditing.9

In the crisis at Andersen, Volcker saw a chance to retool
one of the giants of accounting, turning it into an incubator
for a purer kind of auditing. Competitive pressure, he
believed, would force other firms to follow Andersen’s
lead. For Volcker, that was the big draw. “I thought it was
a good lever for getting Andersen reformed, and through
Andersen, setting a model for the industry, for the profes-
sion,” Volcker says.10

S E V E N T Y-S I X

17

11245_Treaster_3p_c02.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:29 AM Page 17



To work with him on the independent oversight board,
Volcker recruited Charles A. Bowsher, a former comptroller
general of the United States and head of the General
Accounting Office, the investigative arm of Congress; P. Roy
Vagelos, a former chief executive of Merck & Company; and
a handful of others including John C. Bogle, the retired
chairman and founder of the Vanguard Group, and Russell
E. Palmer, a former dean of the Wharton School at the Uni-
versity of Pennsylvania.

Before the group could get under way, Volcker learned
in early March that the prosecutors were preparing to indict
Andersen within days. “At that point,” he says, “we got
together much faster than we otherwise would have and put
out a document as to how we would like to see Andersen
reformed.”11 The idea was to show the prosecutors an alter-
native: “Look, we’re going to have a reformed firm. You
don’t have to indict it.”12 In a news conference in New York
on March 11, Volcker proposed breaking apart Andersen’s
accounting and auditing businesses, separating them into
independent companies with no sharing of revenue.13 Under
Volcker’s plan, no auditor would be in charge of overseeing
a client’s books for more than five years, to reduce the
chance of personal relationships clouding judgments. He
also recommended a “cooling-off” period of a year before
partners could accept jobs with accounting clients and called
for the elimination of bonuses for auditors who persuaded
clients to buy consulting services.14

Volcker was in such a rush to make the plan public that he
announced it before his panel of advisers could review it. But
his efforts were undercut by a phlegmatic response from
Andersen. Charlie Leonard, a spokesman for the firm, told a
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reporter for The Washington Post, “We appreciate his hard
work.”15 Leonard assured The Wall Street Journal that Volcker’s
recommendations would “be seriously reviewed.”16

But the Justice Department was looking for much more
from Andersen. It was going to take a significant show of
contrition on the accounting firm’s part, not merely a pledge
to begin following pristine practices. On March 14, Ander-
sen was indicted for obstruction of justice.

A week later, Volcker abandoned subtleties. This time
when he called reporters together in a news conference, his
pitch to the Justice Department was direct and to the point.
He and six other financial experts would take control of
Andersen and replace the firm’s top executives, providing
the prosecutors dropped their criminal case.17 He said sev-
eral other things would have to happen before his group
would take the reins of Andersen. But the key, “the most
fundamental stumbling block,” as Volcker puts it, “was the
indictment.”18

With the indictment facing Andersen, the firm was essen-
tially doomed. “They weren’t going to have any clients left,”
Volcker says. “Being accused of being criminally derelict is
not a conducive atmosphere for retaining clients.”

New York Times reporter Jonathan Glater got mixed reac-
tion from Andersen on Volcker’s plan to take charge of the
firm.19 Charlie Leonard said it was “clear that Mr. Volcker
has broad authority,” but added that it was also clear that
Berardino, Andersen’s chief executive, was “the elected
CEO of the worldwide organization.” Leonard’s colleague
at Andersen, Patrick Dorton, was more upbeat. “This is a
positive and constructive proposal that works to resolve the
difficult issues with the SEC, the Department of Justice, and
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other claimants,” he told Glater. In a conversation that day
with a reporter for The Washington Post, Volcker said: “It is a
confused company at the moment; they’re trying to decide
whether to live or die.”20

The Justice Department did not immediately say no,
but it offered little hope of a deal. Meaningful reform
would certainly be kept in mind as prosecutors weighed
indicting Andersen, said Brian Sierra, a Justice Department
spokesman.21 But cooperation with investigators and the
full acceptance of responsibility were also important. This
was a crucial gap Volcker could not bridge. The prosecu-
tors were sure of their case and Andersen’s partners were
just as firmly convinced that a jury would see the case their
way: That the company was a victim of overzealous prose-
cutors. There was no give. Andersen had already entered a
not guilty plea and was preparing for trial on May 6.22

Less than two weeks after the indictment, Joseph Berar-
dino was gone, announcing his resignation on March 26
and leaving Andersen without a chief executive. Andersen’s
lawyers kept talking to the prosecutors and in early April,
according to Kurt Eichenwald of The New York Times, they
came close to a deal. But on April 6, David B. Duncan, the
senior Andersen auditor on the Enron account, pleaded
guilty to a felony and agreed to testify against the firm.
There was one more round of settlement talks, but that,
too, failed.23

Even before then, Volcker had lost hope. As he saw it,
the firm had become totally paralyzed.24 He was never able
to get “a critical mass” of partners to sign on to his changes.
“There were a good number that were ready to go along,” he
says, “but a lot of the others just wanted to get the hell out.”
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On May 5, the weekend before the Andersen trial was to
begin in Houston, Volcker issued a brief statement that he
was suspending his work with the firm. “We had stopped
being active some time before that,” Volcker says.25 “But I
didn’t want to make an announcement. It wasn’t my posi-
tion to apply the coup de grâce. I would have been shooting
a dead man. The guy already had three bullets in his lungs.
I didn’t need to put another bullet in his head.”

On June 15 Andersen was convicted of obstruction of
justice, and within a few hours the Securities and Exchange
Commission announced that the firm had agreed that by
August 31 it would stop auditing publicly traded companies.
In September the firm was sentenced to five years of proba-
tion and fined $500,000, the maximum penalty under Fed-
eral law. 26

The scandal at Andersen cost thousands of employees
their jobs and reduced competition among big accounting
firms. But the prosecutors were convinced they had served
the nation well by firing a cannon shot that would forever
reverberate in the minds of American executives as they
contemplated how far they were willing to push legal and
moral limits in pursuit of corporate growth and personal
wealth.

In retrospect, Volcker was probably overly optimistic
about the future of the firm. At one point, talking with
Louis Uchitelle of The New York Times during his work at
Andersen, Volcker referred to himself mockingly as Don
Quixote. But his work was not fruitless. Though he was not
able to rescue Andersen, some of the changes he advocated

S E V E N T Y-S I X

21

11245_Treaster_3p_c02.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:29 AM Page 21



were incorporated by Congress a few months later in some
of the most sweeping securities legislation since the 1930s.
Volcker was not the only one calling for new standards. But
the Andersen post created heightened visibility for Volcker
and his views, and amplified his themes for the lawmakers
in Washington.

The reform legislation, written by Senator Paul S. Sar-
banes, a Democrat from Maryland, and Representative
Michael G. Oxley, an Ohio Republican, and promptly signed
by President George W. Bush, not only adopted Volcker’s
proposed restrictions on consulting and the rotation of lead
auditors, but, in direct response to Andersen, broadened the
definition of document destruction and doubled the criminal
penalties for individuals to up to 20 years in prison. The 
new law required chief executives and chief financial officers,
for the first time, to personally certify quarterly and annual
financial reports, prohibited most corporate loans to senior
executives, and prevented executives from filing for bank-
ruptcy to avoid paying fines for violations of securities laws.
It also increased protections for whistle-blowers.

One of the strongest provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act overrode the long-standing objections of the accounting
industry to the creation of an independent regulatory body
that would set standards and discipline auditors. For the
auditors, self-regulation was over. The new organization,
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, would
come under the purview of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which would choose the chairman and four
members of the board. The first choice for chairman was
Paul Volcker.27

For several weeks, Volcker debated whether to accept the
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post. It was an opportunity to go far beyond leading by
example at Andersen. As chairman of the accounting over-
sight board, Volcker would dictate the behavior of the
accounting profession and be armed with the authority to
punish rogues. He would also have a bully pulpit for his
other passions in corporate management. Volcker particu-
larly wanted to eliminate stock options (contracts to buy
stock at a predetermined price) as part of executive pay
packages. Stock options become valuable only if a com-
pany’s stock rises, and Volcker regarded them as dangerous
incentives for executives to employ any tactic—even illegal
ones—to drive share prices higher. He also wanted to reduce
the power of American chief executives by requiring them to
relinquish the chairmanship of the board to an executive
with no ties to the company—a nonexecutive chairman,
selected by the board with confirmation by the vote of
shareholders.

Congress provided that financing for the accounting
oversight board would come from fees collected from all but
the smallest of publicly traded companies and that the chair-
man would receive a huge annual salary of $556,00028—
more than President George W. Bush’s salary and nearly
four times the $142,500 annual pay of the chairman of the
board’s parent agency, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission.29 Typically for Volcker, the money was not a key
factor. More enticing was the proposal that while the board’s
headquarters would be in Washington, he would also be
able to have an office in New York.30 Yet in the end, Volcker
decided against the assignment in favor of his other proj-
ects.31 He was, without doubt, fully engaged, putting in long
days at his office in New York and frequently on the road, in
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the United States and around the world. He was an adviser
to a Japanese bank and several international corporations, a
member of the small trust committees that guided the man-
agement of the family fortunes of the Rockefellers and the
Kennedys and the chairman or a trustee of more than a
dozen nonprofit organizations. But none of those jobs was as
highly visible or likely to have the long-term significance of
the one he declined. “I think he made a mistake,” says
Michael Bradfield, a lawyer who has worked with Volcker
for more than 30 years.32 “It would have been good for him.
He likes to have more to do than it’s possible to do. He likes
to run a big organization and he likes to be confronted with
big problems that require big answers. That’s why I thought
it was the right job.”

While Congress was discussing the creation of the
accounting oversight board during the summer of 2002,
Volcker argued in testimony that the chairmanship should
be part time. But with corporate America unraveling, the
lawmakers were in no mood for half-measures. “My concep-
tion was, you’ve got a very strong executive director, you
didn’t need a fulltime board,” Volcker says.33 “It had to be an
active board, but it didn’t need to be full-time. And the
chairman himself would not be full-time. Under those con-
ditions, I would have taken it.”

At one point in conversation with me, Volcker seemed to
suggest that he passed up the opportunity because he thought
he might be losing his fast ball, and that over a tenure of three
or four years at the accounting board he might start throwing
more balls than strikes. “I was conscious that I was 75 years
old,” Volcker said.34 Yes, he was getting up there in years, but
even as we spoke in late 2003 and he had celebrated his 76th
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birthday, he was still charging around at a pace that would
have winded most 50-year-olds.

I caught sight of Volcker loping down Lexington Avenue
near his apartment one morning in the fall of 2003, a slightly
hunched figure in an old trench coat and brown fedora,
moving at flank speed. He flashed past the window, staring
straight ahead in the direction of his office, his doughy face
frozen in concentration. This was no pensioner out for a
stroll, perhaps thinking the exercise might do him good.
This was Paul Volcker, hammer down, plunging hell-bent
toward his next meeting, a running back in mufti. This was
not the picture of a man running out of steam. This was a
man with all the tools: the brains, the stamina, and the sta-
tus. I asked him every way I could think of if there were
some other reason he declined the accounting board job. But
Volcker, being Volcker, responded the same way: “I just
didn’t, that’s the answer, I didn’t want to give up everything
else, whether it was right or wrong.”

To accept the accounting board assignment, Volcker
would have had to sacrifice his work on behalf of Holocaust
victims. But as he was considering the post late in the sum-
mer of 2002, the most difficult and most important aspects
of his Holocaust mission had been accomplished, and he
had turned over all but the last threads of responsibility to
his old friend and colleague, Michael Bradfield, a lawyer
who had worked with him at the Treasury Department and
the Federal Reserve.
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By then, Volcker had been immersed in the Holocaust
for more than six years, but his biggest achievements in the
project came in the early phases when he commanded an
army of hundreds of international accountants in an exami-
nation of millions of Swiss bank records. Volcker’s investi-
gation riveted further attention to increasing assertions of a
despicable and profitable relationship between the Swiss and
the Nazis and helped force the banks to agree to a settlement
of $1.25 billion for the benefit of Holocaust survivors and
their families.

As chairman of a joint committee representing Jewish
groups and the Swiss banks, Volcker found himself in a
strange, bare-knuckles world of rancorous verbal combat
unlike anything he had known at the Fed or even in the most
contentious corporate boardrooms. Volcker had to con-
stantly force compromise from the two warring sides. The
first meeting of the committee in his office in New York
erupted in acrimony over the scope of the investigation.35

The Jewish members stood up and threatened to walk out.
At one point, Edgar Bronfman, the president of the World
Jewish Congress but not formally a member of the commit-
tee, snapped at Volcker: “Who made you God? You’re not
chairman of the Fed now!”36 The Jewish groups wanted
more disclosure; the Swiss bank representatives wanted the
appearance of a full investigation, but they volunteered con-
siderably less than full cooperation. “There was a feeling of
failed justice on the Jewish side,” Volcker says. “And on the
Swiss side, a feeling of unfair criticism. I think I was gen-
uinely neutral.”37

Amazing as it may seem with such a deeply emotional
issue, Volcker truly was one of those uncommon people
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who could attack the problem with detachment. All his life
he had operated in that mechanical way, intensely intellec-
tual yet warm with friends, but piercingly to the point on the
big issues, the business at hand.

He was Mr. Incorruptible. He never went looking for
work; the work always came to him. And he was almost
always reluctant to take it. It was a month before he finally
said yes to the Jewish groups and the Swiss, who both nom-
inated him as the referee in their battle royal. He was
approached first by Israel Singer, the secretary general of the
World Jewish Congress,38 then by Edgar Bronfman Sr., the
heir to the Seagrams fortune and the president of the World
Jewish Congress.39 Others from both sides appealed to him
to step in. Finally, his old friend Fritz Leutwiler, whom he
had gotten to know as chairman of the Swiss central bank
and who had been a fellow board member of one of Switzer-
land’s biggest companies, the Nestlé Corporation, tipped the
balance. Volcker had not missed the social magnitude of an
investigation into the role of the Swiss banks in the Holo-
caust, but in the end it was the personal connection that won
him over. “Paul will do that for somebody he respects,” says
Michael Bradfield.40 “That’s Volcker.” 
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CHAPTER THREE

THE POWER OF THE FED
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Congress established the Federal Reserve Board in 1913 as
an independent, self-financing body. The Fed, as it was
widely known, was nominally responsible to Congress.

But saddled with the difficult job of keeping the economy
from either overheating with vaulting inflation or sagging
into recession, it was inherently controversial. Despite its
best efforts, recessions inevitably capped periods of prosper-
ity and, in good times, prices often threatened to run away
with the show—at which point the Fed would step in and
apply the brakes. So, in practice, Congress preferred to keep
its distance. If there was any heat to be taken, let the Fed
take it. But, in fairness, on those rare occasions when the
public was feeling good about the Fed—when it was even vis-
ible to the public—Congress was willing to forsake any claim
on those brief moments of gratitude.

When Jimmy Carter was sworn in as the 39th president
of the United States in 1976, Paul Volcker was running the
Federal Reserve bank in New York, and that made him one
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of the most influential players in American finance. The
New York bank conducted the trading in government secu-
rities that attempted to keep the American economy flowing
evenly. It was the window for investors in other countries
who bought and sold United States securities and it was
America’s center for transactions in the $1.6 trillion market
in world currencies, the place where the pulse—and, more
important, the worth—of the ever fluctuating dollar was
tracked minute by minute. Volcker’s bank was the opera-
tional arm of the Federal Reserve System—the nation’s cen-
tral bank, with a dozen member banks scattered around the
country and headquartered in a grand marble palace in
Washington, DC.

At the time, Arthur F. Burns was the chairman of the
Federal Reserve Board. Imperious and often caustic, the
pipe-smoking former professor of economics at Columbia
University delighted in lecturing Congress, the public, and
presidents of the United States. A stocky, energetic, and
supremely self-confident man, Burns presided over the
entire Federal Reserve System that comprised the Board of
Governors in Washington and the 12 district banks and
their outlying branches. By law and by virtue of personality,
performance, and friendship, Volcker was Burns’s right-
hand man. Burns had worked closely with Volcker when
Volcker was a high-ranking official in the Treasury Depart-
ment, and ensured that he got the prestigious New York job
in the summer of 1975.

For the White House, the Fed was personified by its
chairman. Certainly, by all indications, when Carter thought
of the Federal Reserve, he thought of Burns, and often not
fondly. For Carter, who had managed to get through the
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United States Naval Academy with only a single course
even vaguely related to economics (personal finance),1 the
inner workings of the Federal Reserve were obscure, as they
had been to most presidents. Volcker might have been a crit-
ically important part of national finance and economics, but,
ensconced in his own stone palace in New York, a much
more massive edifice than the Washington headquarters, he
was well off Jimmy Carter’s radar screen.

From the earliest days of the Federal Reserve, the New
York bank has been the preeminent member bank, due in 
no small part to the bank’s location in the heart of Wall
Street. Its special trading functions put it at the center of
national and international finance, and the power of the
bank automatically accrued to its president. Despite the
bank’s prestige, it was not impossible for its president to lose
clout. Volcker’s predecessor, Alfred J. Hayes, managed to do
that, but Volcker came in strong and stayed strong.

Of the heads of the 12 Federal Reserve banks, the presi-
dent of the New York bank is the only permanent member
of the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC). The
group takes its name from its mission of managing the tides
of the economy through the sale of government securities in
the open market. The committee is made up of the chairman
and the six other members of the Federal Reserve Board in
Washington, the president of the New York bank, and, in
annual rotation, the presidents of 4 of the 11 other Federal
Reserve banks around the country.

The committee tries to stimulate or cool the economy
by raising or lowering the federal funds rate—the interest
rate that banks charge each other for loans, and the main
guidepost for interest rates in America. In his capacity as

T H E P O W E R O F T H E F E D

33

11245_Treaster_3p_c03.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:31 AM Page 33



president, Volcker and his New York bank served as the
committee’s agent, selling securities in order to take money
off the streets and slow the economy or buying in order to
inject money into the system and give the economy a lift. In
Fed talk, reducing the money in the system is known as
tightening; increasing it is referred to as easing. The transac-
tions are conducted throughout the day by a unit of the New
York bank known mundanely as the Federal Open Market
Committee Desk in a continuous exercise to keep the Fed
funds rate where the committee decides it should be. These
days the Desk employs about 50 men and women and
trades billions of dollars in securities a week.

The New York bank, a 14-story fortress of gray Floren-
tine marble with heavy wrought iron grills on its windows,
occupies an entire block in the Wall Street district, near the
New York Stock Exchange and some of the nation’s largest
banks and investment houses. As president, Volcker was
not just a permanent member of the Federal Open Market
Committee, but was also the vice chairman of the group. At
committee meetings in Washington, he sat just to the right
of the Fed chairman at the head of a long, graciously bowed
mahogany table, looking out at the six other governors, as
the members of the board are called, and at the presidents 
of the other Federal Reserve banks. All of the bank presi-
dents attend committee meetings and participate in the dis-
cussions, even though only five, including the New York
Fed president, have voting rights.

By the time Volcker had become president of the New
York Fed that summer in 1975, he was well known among
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bankers and economists around the world. For five years, he
had been the third-highest-ranking official in the Treasury
Department. As undersecretary for monetary affairs, Volcker
had devised a strategy in the early 1970s for breaking the
linkage of the dollar to gold, and he was the United States’
point man in negotiating new, lower price levels for the dol-
lar against the currencies of the other major countries. The
other countries did not welcome the devaluing of the dollar.
They liked a strong dollar because it made the products they
exported to the United States cheaper for American buyers;
their sales were strong when the dollar was strong, weaker
when the dollar became weaker.

It was tough for Volcker to get the other countries to
come around to the United States’ way of thinking. In one
sense there was really no alternative for the other countries.
Since the United States’ economy was the biggest in the
world, the others ultimately had to find a way to adjust. But
they did not have to do so quickly or without a lot of grum-
bling. As undersecretary, it fell to Volcker to smooth the
transition, and, when the other countries began to bend, to
get them to bend a little more. In the process, Volcker devel-
oped close relationships with the princes of public finance
around the world, not only the heads of the central banks
and the finance ministers but also junior staffers who would
later rise to positions of authority. Volcker worked closely
with Helmut Schmidt of Germany and Valéry Giscard
d’Estaing of France when they were finance ministers of
their countries, and he stayed in touch as they rose to the
top of their governments. Edward George was rather junior
when he met Volcker and marveled at how the gangly
American in the baggy suit commanded a room during the
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currency negotiations in the early 1970s.2 He stayed in
touch with Volcker, too, even as he rose to become gover-
nor of the Bank of England and became known as Sir Eddy.

Volcker moved into the huge wood-paneled presidential
suite on the 10th floor of the Federal Reserve bank in New
York on August 1, 1975, as Carter was heading into the
stretch of his campaign for the White House. Volcker was a
giant, both professionally and literally, striding back into
familiar territory. At Princeton, he had written his under-
graduate thesis on the Federal Reserve system. When he
graduated summa cum laude in early 1949 and was on his
way to graduate study at Harvard, a friend of his father’s put
in a good word for him at the New York Fed, and he worked
there for several months as a research assistant. After getting
a master’s degree in political economy at Harvard and spend-
ing a year at the London School of Economics, Volcker
became a staff economist at the New York Fed. He was there
five years when David Rockefeller’s Chase Bank lured him
away. Now, on his first day as president of the New York
bank, he made a small but important discovery: His legs
would not fit under the elegantly carved mahogany desk that
had been used by his five predecessors in the premier post
outside Washington of one of the youngest but most power-
ful of the nation’s institutions. Instead of wasting government
money and ordering new furniture befitting the chief of the
bank, Volcker turned to Anne Poniatowski for help. He had
known her since his first job at the Fed in his student days
and she had moved up the ladder to become an administra-
tive assistant to the president and other senior New York Fed
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officials. Poniatowski could handle a simple thing like having
a giant in the house. She called for the carpenters. They set
to work fitting blocks to the base of the desk and soon
Volcker had more than enough legroom.3 The raising of the
desk not only preserved a tradition, but was an example of
the Puritan ethic that permeated Volcker and informed some
of his most important decisions as president of the New York
Fed, and later as chairman of the Federal Reserve System.

Volcker had not campaigned for the New York job, taking
pride in the fact of never having sought any job after apply-
ing for his first full-time work as a staff economist at the New
York Fed. Opportunity seemed always to come to him.

In 1957, John D. Wilson, a five-year veteran of the Fed
himself and now the chief of research at the Chase Bank,
invited Volcker to join him at Chase. Volcker did not have a
career plan. He certainly was not committed to a lifetime at
the Fed and he was eager to see what it was like to work in
the private sector. For all its intellectual intensity, Volcker
says, “the Fed was a pretty stuffy, bureaucratic place.” Going
to Chase “was a chance to see the world outside.”4

Once Volcker was at Chase, David Rockefeller, the chair-
man of the bank, recruited him as his special assistant on a
congressional commission on money and credit in America
and for help, later, on an advisory commission to the Trea-
sury Department, giving Volcker his first taste of official
Washington. Rockefeller had felt immediately drawn to
Volcker, and it would be the beginning of a lifelong relation-
ship. “He just thought very clearly and expressed himself
very clearly,” Rockefeller says.5 It was while Volcker was at
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Chase that he was first tapped for a government job in Wash-
ington. Robert V. Roosa, a mentor to Volcker at the New
York Fed, had moved to Washington to become undersecre-
tary of the Treasury for monetary affairs in the early days of
the Kennedy administration in 1961. The next year, Roosa
brought Volcker to Washington as director of the Office of
Financial Analysis to do long-term planning in the Treasury
Department, then headed by C. Douglas Dillon.6 Volcker
quickly attracted the attention of Dillon, who added speech-
writing to his duties and eventually promoted him to deputy
undersecretary.7 In 1965 Volcker returned to Chase to work
again as an aide to Rockefeller, this time as a vice president
dealing with international business. Then, as Richard Nixon
was moving into the White House for his first term in 1969,
Volcker got the call from Washington. Even though Volcker
was a Democrat, he was asked to assume the third-highest
job in the Treasury Department. 

Volcker’s work as undersecretary of the Treasury for
monetary affairs would put him at the center of one of the
revolutionary changes in international finance, the dissolu-
tion of the Bretton Woods agreement, named after the New
Hampshire town in which it was reached. Under the Bretton
Woods agreement, a fixed exchange rate for the world’s cur-
rencies was established based on gold. The value of the dol-
lar was set at $35 to an ounce of gold. All other currencies
were pegged to the dollar. Under the Bretton Woods system,
other countries could present dollars to the United States and
receive gold. But, over the years, through the Marshall Plan
and other generous aid programs and heavy spending on
United States troops abroad, particularly in Germany and
South Korea, great quantities of dollars accumulated in cen-
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tral bank vaults overseas. By the summer of 1971, other
countries held three times more dollars than the United
States held in gold, which meant that if everyone decided to
cash in these dollars, the United States would eventually
default.

Facing a crisis with demand for gold increasing, the
United States abruptly announced it was breaking the deal.
It would no longer exchange gold for dollars at a fixed rate.
Instead, the dollar and other currencies would be allowed to
float and find their own levels of value. It was a momentous
development that infuriated America’s trading partners and,
for the first few days of its enactment, sent the world’s cur-
rency markets into paroxysms. President Nixon announced
the change and John B. Connolly, his flamboyant Treasury
secretary, took center stage in explaining the decision. But
Volcker was the architect of the move and he spent the next
two years negotiating agreements with other countries.

It was an exciting and important job, and one that would
help to create or solidify professional relationships that
would serve Volcker well over the years. Volcker was now
face to face with the most influential money people in the
world. Often, to them, he was the United States. He may
have been only an undersecretary, but he was held in high
regard, and was even flown occasionally in his own Air Force
plane. Once, when an official from another country chal-
lenged Volcker’s presence in a room filled with more senior
representatives, Valéry Giscard d’Estaing, then the French
finance minister, jumped to the American’s defense. “He is a
minister,” d’Estaing declared, instantly promoting Volcker
and ending the matter.8

Throughout his career in government service Volcker
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felt a tension between the excitement and satisfaction of
serving the nation and financial responsibility toward his
family. He never hungered for luxuries or great wealth, but
he worried about earning enough to keep up with the med-
ical costs of an ailing wife and a handicapped son, paying for
the education of his son and daughter, and putting a little
away in case he were suddenly struck down. “If I got hit by
a bus,” he asked rhetorically in a conversation with me in
2003, “what would have happened to them?”9 His family, he
said, in an interview as chairman of the Fed, were “the ones
who’ll pay for my indulgence in pursuing a career in public
service.”10

Volcker had taken a substantial pay cut when he left
Chase for Washington and in 1973, after just four years at
Treasury, the old concerns began to gnaw at him again. Per-
haps it was time to take a job at a bank or one of the big bro-
kerage houses in New York, where he could easily earn three
or four times the $40,000 or so that the Treasury was paying.

Volcker’s commitment to government service was
gravely shaken by the disclosures of President Nixon’s
abuse of power in the Watergate scandal that came to light
in the summer of 1972 as a result of a bungled burglary of
Democratic party headquarters in Washington. “That was a
big factor,” Volcker says. “I remember thinking when Water-
gate first broke, ‘What am I doing working for this guy? I
ought to resign.’”11

Yet government service had a powerful pull. Volcker was
in the midst of the international negotiations over the dollar
and he decided not to leave, at least not just yet. But in early
1974, with his work on the dollar behind him and the ugli-
ness of Watergate deepening around Nixon, Volcker felt
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restless and weary. There was plenty of important work to
be done at Treasury, but it had somehow lost its edge for
Volcker. “I’d done what I could,” he says, “It was time to go.”

Volcker says that in his early days in government he also
chafed at constraints on his ability to fully speak his mind.
He imagined more personal freedom as a private executive,
though there were few examples of corporate leaders actu-
ally taking a stand on public policy. Years later, as chairman
of the Fed, Volcker would rise above the bureaucracy and
become a crusader against inflation, tax cuts, and budget
deficits.

Overlaying all the other factors leading up to Volcker’s
departure from government in 1974 may have been a certain
disappointment in never having been elevated to the top job,
secretary of the Treasury. Even though Volcker had worked
closely with secretary of the Treasury, John B. Connolly, on
some of the most important economic projects in the gov-
ernment, when Connolly abruptly left in the spring of 1972,
the post of secretary went to George P. Shultz, who was then
Nixon’s director of the budget. In 1973, Shultz brought in
William E. Simon, a former Wall Street executive, to be-
come deputy  secretary of the Treasury, a notch above 
Volcker. It was at about that time that Volcker started seri-
ously thinking about leaving the Treasury. Simon, who
developed a close working relationship with Shultz, served
simultaneously at Treasury and as Nixon’s chief on energy
policy and was known as the “energy czar.” Shultz resigned
in March 1974 and, a month later, Nixon appointed Simon
secretary of the Treasury.12

Volcker submitted his resignation shortly before the
Simon announcement.13 But whether that was because
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Simon was about to get the top job is not clear. He does
seem to have acted abruptly; he had no job lined up and no
definite plans. Yet years later, he insists “there was no one
thing on the road to Damascus”14 that forced his decision.

Volcker sometimes seems wistful, talking about the idea
of his ever being secretary of the Treasury. “When you
became secretary of the Treasury,” he says, “obviously you
got some glory. But then you get involved in all this political
stuff. You’ve got to deal with Nixon trying to corrupt the
IRS. You’ve got to go out campaigning for Republicans. I
wasn’t even a Republican. You had to deal with the operating
side of the Treasury. You had to deal with a lot of political or
semipolitical stuff, which is not my particular cup of tea.”15

Having left the Treasury, Volcker, without a job in hand,
was expecting to go to work on Wall Street. He’d been
approached about private banking jobs many times while at
the Treasury and assumed he would soon be employed, but
with much higher pay and possibly less demanding hours.

Fed chairman Arthur Burns had other plans for Volcker.
For five years, Volcker and Burns had been the nation’s prin-
cipal officials dealing with monetary policy. As chairman of
the Fed, Burns was by far the more powerful of the two. On
policy matters Volcker, as undersecretary, deferred to the sec-
retary of the Treasury and, of course, the White House. But
in practice, the Treasury secretaries relied on Volcker’s exper-
tise. Volcker mastered the intricacies of interest rates and for-
eign exchange rates, the essence of monetary policy. He took
it as his duty to manipulate the two in what he regarded as the
best interests of the United States. The Treasury secretaries
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were not always great financial technicians. But they were
always out front, always the face of the department, weighing
decisions on political merit as much as anything else, selling
the administration’s economic programs. Volcker was the
chef, sifting the ingredients, blending them into a workman’s
stew. The Treasury secretaries were the president’s dining
room managers, usually taking the bows or the brickbats,
sometimes giving a nod to the kitchen.

During Volcker’s years at the highest levels of Treasury,
he and Burns and a small group of other officials from the
Treasury and the Fed met over lunch twice a week. On
Mondays, they would be guests of the secretary of the Trea-
sury at the Treasury’s granite building adjacent to the White
House. On Wednesdays, Volcker and two or three Treasury
aides would walk a few blocks over to the Fed, past the great
lawn of the Ellipse, past the headquarters of the Organiza-
tion of American States and, finally, just before reaching the
Fed on Constitution Avenue, past the chunky beige stone
home of the Department of the Interior. As proud as the Fed
was of its independence from the rest of government, the
Fed chairman and the secretary of the Treasury recognized a
common goal in keeping the economy vibrant. Whether
they agreed precisely on how to do that or not, they knew
they should at least be up to date on each other’s thinking.

Volcker and Burns, in particular, had some fundamen-
tal disagreements. Volcker thought Burns should have kept
a tighter rein on inflation, which would have made life
more difficult for the White House, and Burns contended,
unsuccessfully, that the United States in 1971 could have
addressed its worsening balance of payments problem by
persuading other major countries to incrementally raise the
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value of their currencies and effectively reduce the value of
the dollar. But Treasury Secretary John Connolly and Pres-
ident Nixon adopted Volcker’s logic: There was no way
other countries would voluntarily act against their national
interest. It was going to take brute force. After all, increas-
ing the value of their currencies would make products 
of those countries more expensive for Americans. Sales of
imported goods in the United States could therefore de-
cline, hurting the manufacturers of everything from Jap-
anese cars to French perfume and weakening the trade 
balances of the other countries. Volcker and Burns were
definitely not cut from the same cloth, but both displayed
commanding styles that, at least to those around them, sug-
gested great self-confidence. They respected each other,
and despite Volcker’s direct, no-frills manner and Burn’s
ingrained pomposity and blustering, they somehow got
along well.

As chairman, Arthur Burns was a kingmaker in the Fed-
eral Reserve System. When there were openings at any of
the 12 Federal Reserve banks, he had the last word on who
would fill them. Sometimes he made a point of having the
first word as well.16 In 1974, his choice to run the bank in
New York was Volcker. “I wanted someone who was an
expert in the monetary and banking area—a man of good
character,” Burns said.17 “I wanted someone whom I knew
personally and therefore I could trust. In my own mind,
there were no competitors.” 

Volcker resisted. “It was time for me to be in the private
sector,” he says. “I’d been in the government most of my life.
To some degree, I thought it was about time to make some
money.”18
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It was also true that the New York job did not seem as
exciting and challenging as making economic policy in
Washington and flying around the world lining up interna-
tional support. But Burns persisted. “He came and talked
repeatedly about how he thought this would be a good thing
for me,” Volcker says. “He thought it would be a good thing
for the Federal Reserve, but of course it would be a good
thing for me.’”

Burns knew just how to reach Volcker’s soft spot. “This
is something you ought to do,” Volcker recalls Burns say-
ing.19 “You’re a public servant.” In the end, Volcker agreed.
But Burns and Volcker had a problem: There was no open-
ing in New York. Alfred J. Hayes, a man of great reserve
and formal bearing, had been president of the New York
bank since taking over from Allen Sproul in 1956. By 1974
he had run the New York Fed for 18 years, far longer than
anyone else. People who were involved with the Fed at that
time say that Burns increasingly found Hayes to be irritat-
ing. Hayes preferred compromise to combat. “He was not
inclined to rock the boat,” says Peter D. Sternlight, an econ-
omist who spent 40 years at the New York Fed and knew
both men well.20 Sometimes at meetings, Hayes relied on
notes, suggesting to some colleagues a lack of certainty and
self-confidence. Boldness was not one of Hayes’ traits, and,
for a bulldozer like Burns, that may have been unsettling.
Although nothing about Burns’s discontent found its way
into the newspapers at the time, Burns wanted Volcker sit-
ting next to him at the Federal Open Market Committee
meetings and he wanted him there right away. Quietly,
Burns tried to persuade Hayes to step down before reaching
the mandatory retirement age of 65 on July 4, 1975. Hayes,
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of course, knew he did not have to go early and, on that
issue, at least, he would not budge.

By the time Burns began promoting the New York posi-
tion, Volcker had left Treasury and had no job. Now, with
Hayes insisting on staying on in New York, Volcker needed
a place to bide his time and draw a paycheck. That spring
Volcker had given a speech at Princeton. He had spoken
with the dean of the Woodrow Wilson School of Public and
International Affairs at that time and the dean wondered
whether Volcker might like to return to his alma mater as a
senior fellow. That now seemed like a splendid idea. So for
the next academic year, Volcker cooled his heels amidst the
bucolic environs of Princeton. His main duty was to conduct
a graduate seminar in international finance, something he
could easily accomplish. So, when Hayes was finally ready
to go, shortly after his 65th birthday, Volcker was ready to
step in.

Burns now had his handpicked man in New York and at
his side in the most important Federal Reserve meetings in
Washington. But much sooner than he had ever expected,
Burns’s partnership with Volcker, as well as his dreams of
greater national influence, would come to an end.
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CHAPTER FOUR

CHAIRMAN
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Just two-and-a-half years after he installed Volcker at the
New York Fed, Burns was gone.

Appointed chairman by President Richard M. Nixon
in January 1970, Burns had loved his time at the Fed. He had
coached Nixon on economics during the 1968 presidential
campaign, and, with Nixon in the White House, Burns made
his desire for the chairman’s post clear. Robert Solomon, an
economist at the Federal Reserve Board at the time, recalls
that Nixon asked William McChesney Martin Jr., one of the
most highly regarded chairmen in the history of the Fed, to
step aside.1 Martin had done nothing to warrant early depar-
ture, but Nixon held him partly responsible for his defeat in
the 1960 presidential elections. Martin had refused to lower
interest rates to jump-start the economy and produce a rosier
picture for the incumbent Republican administration. Martin
rejected Nixon’s request to retire early, just as Hayes later
would rebuff Burns. During the end of Martin’s term, Burns
served as an economic adviser in the White House waiting
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for Martin to move on. Once ensconced as chairman, Burns
found that the Fed became a wonderful platform, ideally
suited for his personality. He was neither understated nor
self-effacing. “He liked the idea of having a powerful, influ-
ential position,” says Peter D. Sternlight, an economist who
spent most of his professional life working at the Federal
Reserve bank in New York and at the Treasury Department
in Washington.2

As the end of his second term as chairman approached in
late 1977, Burns made clear to the administration that he
wanted to be reappointed for another four years. That was
a decision now in the hands of President Jimmy Carter. But,
according to press reports at that time, Carter did not appre-
ciate Burns’s abrasive and superior manner. Burns’s bid
ended with a stunning phone call from Carter: Burns’s life at
the Fed suddenly was over. The president would appoint
G. William Miller, chief executive of the Textron Corpora-
tion, as the new chairman.

Miller was known in the corporate world as tough, hard-
driving, and confident and had served on the nine-member
board of the Federal Reserve bank in Boston. However, he
was not an economist and he had no expertise in monetary
policy, which was the main business of the Fed. The Boston
board and those of the other regional banks maintained a
passive, supportive relationship with the president of their
bank and the bank’s technical staffs. The board members
kept the Fed up to date with the thinking in the business
community, but they had little influence on policy.3

Miller’s lack of the experience and skills most needed 
at the Fed made him suspect to some of the bank’s most
important constituencies: Wall Street and the professional
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economists of America, not to mention the men and women
who had devoted their lives to the inner workings of the
Fed. None were ever fans of Miller as chairman, and they
became less enamored with him as time went on. Part of the
problem was that Miller brought his harsh corporate style
to the Fed. He was known to place a three-minute egg timer
on the table at board meetings to limit the often rambling
discourse, and worse, he tried to ban smoking. But the
members of the Federal Reserve Board, seasoned econo-
mists serving virtually irrevocable 14-year appointments,
were used to doing things their way. At his first board meet-
ing, Miller brought along a small sign: “Thank you for not
smoking.” Within minutes, the governors were filling the
room with smoke as usual.

As Wall Street and the economic pros saw it, Miller never
behaved like a Fed chairman. He not only spoke clearly and
to the point—violating the historic commitment of chairmen
to obfuscation—but in June 1978, a few months after taking
charge, he aligned himself with the minority in a vote of the
Federal Reserve Board, something almost unheard of for a
chairman. Ending up in the minority raised questions about
leadership. “He lost status in the market and in the Fed itself,”
says Stephen H. Axilrod, a senior staff official at the Fed for
more than 30 years. “The vote as much as said to the market,
‘If I’m listening to the chairman, I’m not necessarily listening
to the person in charge.’”4 Moreover, the majority had moved
to raise the discount rate—the interest rate that the Fed
charges banks for loans—signaling a tightening of money.
Miller’s opposition suggested that he might be more inter-
ested in serving the needs of the White House than those of
the economy. This, in turn, raised questions about Miller’s
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adherence to the tradition of the political independence of 
the Fed and its chairman.

More than anything, for professional economists, Miller’s
vote demonstrated that he was out of his depth. “You have to
have some sense of what the board members are thinking,”
Axilrod says. “Miller was new. He didn’t have any real sense
of his board. He should have sensed the direction and post-
poned the vote. Or he could have voted with the majority. It
was considered bad judgment.”5

There was more bad news for Miller in his future. In
April of 1979, just a day before the Federal Open Market
Committee (FOMC) was to meet for one of its discussions
on whether to raise rates or take any other action, Miller
gave the press a preview of how he saw the secret session
unfolding. In several interviews that day, he proclaimed that
he saw no need to raise interest rates.6 Miller was counter-
punching in an intramural dust-up with Secretary of the
Treasury W. Michael Blumenthal, who had been pushing
publicly and privately among Carter’s economic advisers
for an increase in interest rates. Even so, Miller’s remarks,
on the eve of a meeting, were considered by those inside and
outside the Fed as an ill-mannered preemption of the com-
mittee’s authority.

For years, inflation had been eroding wealth in America.
By 1978, when Miller arrived at the Fed, inflation was 
the number one economic problem. As chairman, Miller
argued for gradualism. Like Burns and some other board
members, he worried that by sharply increasing interest
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rates—the standard medicine for inflation—the Fed would
push the economy into a recession.

His approach did not alleviate the problem, and through
most of 1979 the economic picture grew worse, due in large
part to a growing fuel crisis. Because of the revolution that
led to the fall of the Shah of Iran, oil exports to the United
States from Iran had slowed. A fuel shortage developed in the
United States, resulting in long lines at gas stations that some-
times erupted into violence. By midyear, the cost of gas and
oil shipments to the United States from the Organization of
Petroleum Exporting Countries had jumped 60 percent.7

Increased fuel costs were slowing the economy and many
economists, including those at Miller’s Fed, were expecting a
recession. Unemployment and inflation were rising. By June
1979, inflation was running at an annual rate of 13 percent.
At the same time, the value of the dollar had been declining
against other major currencies.

For months, Treasury Secretary Blumenthal had been
urging Miller to raise interest rates to counter inflation and
bolster the dollar. He had also been agitating for support
among the economic advisers in the White House. Miller
was reluctant to move, concerned that higher interest rates
would deepen a recession and also fail to halt inflation. If the
recession was mild and brief, Miller reasoned, lower rather
than higher interest rates could contribute to a rise in pro-
ductivity that could dampen inflation. In a few months,
President Carter would be mounting a campaign for reelec-
tion and liked Miller’s restrained approach. In the spring, 
in a speech in Dallas, Blumenthal went public with his 
argument for higher interest rates. (It was that speech that
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prompted Miller to call in news reporters just before the
FOMC meeting in April.) Miller complained to President
Carter about the pressure from Blumenthal and the presi-
dent told Blumenthal and the economic advisers in the
White House to back off.

By early July, the Carter presidency was in grave trouble.
Carter had promised a more prosperous and decent Amer-
ica and now, two-and-a-half years into his presidency, he
seemed to have lost touch with the people. Though still
regarded as a man of high moral principles, he seemed
weak, indecisive, and ineffectual, regarded more as a man-
ager than a leader—and the frustrating lines at the gas sta-
tions called even his managerial ability into question. Tully
Plesser, a political analyst and pollster with the Republican
National Committee, classified Carter as a “well-intentioned
amateur.”8

Shortly after flying back to Washington from a confer-
ence in Tokyo on the international oil crisis, Carter decided
to address the nation on July 5, 1979. He spent much of the
Fourth of July at Camp David, the Presidential retreat in the
Catoctin mountains of Maryland, working on the speech.
Late in the day he canceled the talk and decided not to
return to the White House. 

Instead, he remained in seclusion at Camp David and
began 10 days of long, rambling conversations with select
groups that he hoped would help him get back in touch with
the nation. One day he heard from businessmen, university
presidents, labor leaders, and the president of the Audubon
Society. Another day it was clergy and civil rights leaders, oil
executives, and oil industry consultants. He met with mem-
bers of congress, governors of states, and mayors. He then
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left Camp David to visit ordinary families in Pennsylvania.
Mostly, President Carter listened and took notes.

On Sunday, July 15, Carter settled at his desk in the
Oval Office at 10:00 P.M. and spoke to the American people.
He reported on the discussions at Camp David, outlined a
half dozen steps for reducing dependence on foreign oil, and
told Americans that working together to solve the energy
problem could bring new vigor to the country.9

But the speech began on a somber note. “The true prob-
lems of our nation are much deeper . . . than gasoline lines
or energy shortages, deeper even than inflation or reces-
sion,” Carter said. He conceded that he had had “just mixed
success” as president and said that, partly as a result of the
conversations at Camp David, he sensed that a deep discon-
tent had been building since the assassinations of John F.
Kennedy and Martin Luther King Jr., and as America strug-
gled through the agony of Vietnam and the shock of Water-
gate and then watched inflation eat away at family savings
and the value of the dollar abroad. The country, Carter said,
was in the midst of “a crisis of confidence.” He spoke of “a
growing doubt about the meaning of our lives,” and of “a
loss of a unity of purpose for our nation.” The situation was
critical. “The erosion of our confidence in the future,” Carter
said, “is threatening to destroy the social and the political
fabric of America.”10

Carter’s specific proposals helped him look more decisive
to some Americans, but the lasting impression was of a coun-
try in trouble. Clark Clifford, a Washington lawyer, former
Defense secretary, and Democratic Party sage, said Carter
told him and other visitors to Camp David that “he had 
a feeling that the country was in a mood of widespread
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national malaise.”11 During the talks at Camp David, William
Safire suggested in one of his columns for The New York Times
that the president would “try to transfer the wide dissatisfac-
tion with his own performance into a ‘national malaise.’”12

Though Carter never used the word malaise in his address, it
nevertheless became known as his “malaise speech.”

In the Sunday night address, Carter quoted one of his
visitors to Camp David as saying, “Some of your Cabinet
members don’t seem loyal. There is not enough discipline
among your disciples.”13 Back in Washington, on Tuesday,
Carter suggested to his cabinet and senior staff members
that they offer their resignations. All 34 of them did so
immediately. The mass resignation startled the country and
the world. The reaction was strongest in countries with par-
liamentary governments, which interpreted the resignations
as a protest rather than an act of compliance. Because of
international concern that the Carter government would fall,
the value of the dollar plunged and the price of gold reached
a record high of $300 an ounce.14

On Thursday, two days after the resignations, the
White House announced news that would create another
uproar: the dismissals of Joseph Califano, the secretary of
Health, Education and Welfare, and W. Michael Blumen-
thal, the secretary of the Treasury. The removal of three
more cabinet officials soon followed; the other cabinet
members stayed on.

Both Califano and Blumenthal were highly regarded by
experts in their fields and good at their jobs. But they had run
afoul of Hamilton Jordan, the president’s chief of staff; Jody
Powell, the president’s press secretary; and other Georgians
that Jimmy Carter had brought into his inner circle in the
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White House. The administration regarded the two cabinet
officials as too independent, too outspoken, and perhaps dis-
loyal. From the outside it looked like Jimmy Carter was sac-
rificing competence to style, inciting further criticism.

Carter had already lined up Patricia Roberts Harris, the
secretary of Housing and Urban Development, to replace
Califano, but he spent much of that Thursday scrambling to
find someone willing to become secretary of the Treasury
before telling Blumenthal he was through.

Carter first turned to David Rockefeller, the chairman of
Chase Manhattan Bank. When Rockefeller declined, Carter
approached A. W. Clausen, the chairman of the Bank of
America. Clausen also said no. Finally Carter contacted
Miller, who was in San Francisco making a speech. While
finance professionals had criticized Miller, the head of the
supposedly apolitical Federal Reserve, as being too sensitive
to the needs of the White House and too much of a team
player, the Carter administration saw those qualities as
virtues. When Carter asked Miller to take charge of Trea-
sury, he did not hesitate.

Now Carter had an opening at the Fed.

In New York, Volcker learned about the upheaval almost
immediately, and his first reaction was that he was not in the
running for the job. While Volcker was more than qualified
to be chairman, he thought he lacked crucial connections. “I
didn’t have the qualification of knowing the president,” he
says. “I didn’t have the qualification of being particularly
close to Miller or anyone else in the administration.”15

Volcker thought his real opportunity to become chairman
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was in early 1978, when Carter decided not to reappoint
Arthur Burns. “I was fresher from Washington,” he says. “It
was obvious that I could have been a logical candidate.”16

Aides to Carter agreed. Volcker had, indeed, been on a list of
potential chairmen then. But this time around, in moments of
pessimism, Volcker would tell himself to forget it, that no
president of the New York Fed, for all its power and influ-
ence, had ever been called to Washington as chairman. In
brighter moments, he might concede: “Well, I had a shot 
at it. But, I wasn’t sitting there waiting for the telephone 
to ring.” “At that time,” Volcker says, “I was making up my
mind on whether or not I wanted to go private. Before I went
to the New York bank I thought, well, okay, once I’m there
five years, it’s time to leave. And if I was thinking about any-
thing, I was thinking about what kind of a job, when should
I leave, when should I get a job in the private sector.”17

Almost as soon as word reached Europe that Miller had
left a vacancy at the Fed, central bankers there began
telling news reporters that Volcker would be a natural
choice.18 But Carter’s instinct was to go back to Rockefeller
and Clausen. Again, they both said no. In his memoir,
David Rockefeller said he concluded he was not the right
choice. “I would have been responsible for implementing a
set of draconian policies to wring inflation from the econ-
omy and stabilize the dollar,” he said. “As a wealthy Repub-
lican with a well-known name, and a banker to boot, it
would have been extremely difficult for me to make the
case for tight monetary policy and sell it to a skeptical Con-
gress and an angry public.”19

Newspapers and magazines reported that President
Carter had also considered Robert V. Roosa,20 Volcker’s
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mentor at the Fed and Treasury and, at the time, a partner at
the New York brokerage firm of Brown Brothers, Harriman.
Carter sounded out Bruce MacLaury, whom Volcker had
brought to Washington from the New York Fed to assist him
at Treasury. MacLaury had gone on to become president of
the Federal Reserve Bank in Minneapolis, and in the sum-
mer of 1979 became president of the Brookings Institution,
the economics research center in Washington.

Though his name had been on the list of possible
replacements for Burns, this time, Volcker was not in the
picture. 

Two days after Carter appointed Miller secretary of the
Treasury, the president, according to author William Neikirk,
telephoned Anthony Solomon, the undersecretary of the
Treasury for monetary affairs, at his home in suburban Wash-
ington. The president said he hoped Solomon would stay 
on under Miller and asked who he thought would be good 
as chairman of the Fed. Solomon did not hesitate. “Paul
Volcker,” he said.21

To Solomon’s surprise, the president replied: “Who’s
Paul Volcker?”

After Solomon, in Neikirk’s telling of the episode, brought
the president up to date on Volcker, Carter asked, “Why not
David Rockefeller?”

Again, the answer was evident to Solomon. “Because,”
he said, “David doesn’t have the technical understanding 
to conduct monetary policy and would, in my opinion, be
murdered on the Hill [in Congress] when he appeared to tes-
tify before committees.”22
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With the Fed loaded with experts, Carter did not see 
why the chairman personally needed to know all that much
about how the economy worked. “Unlike some other policy-
making jobs,” Solomon told Carter, “the chairman of the
Federal Reserve must have the understanding of how the
economy works and how monetary policy impacts on the
economy. He must be able to preside over a very difficult
decision-making process, and he must be able to articulate it
very carefully because, more than any other single person,
the markets are impacted by what he says.”23

Carter surely had not missed the criticism of Miller, who
lacked those very skills. But the lesson apparently had not
sunk in. Even after hearing Solomon outline the qualities
needed in a Fed chairman, Carter still thought David Rock-
efeller would make a good choice for the position and tried
to get him to take the job. In turning the president down,
Rockefeller recommended Volcker.24

After his initial failures at recruiting a new Fed chairman,
Carter delegated the task to Vice President Walter Mondale,
who in turn handed the job to his chief of staff Richard Moe.
On Sunday, July 22, as author William Greider recounted
the effort, Moe was in his office in the White House work-
ing the phones. As Moe searched for a new Fed chairman,
one name came up again and again: Volcker.

“It was a very intense and compressed process, very
rushed,” Moe told Greider. “The big factor was: we’ve got to
reassure the markets. That’s all we heard. Coming in the
wake of the Camp David meetings and the Cabinet changes,
people were very nervous about the direction we were
going. I wouldn’t call it panic but there was clearly a level of
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concern. We’ve got a problem on our hands and we have to
do it right.”25

The only problem with Volcker, as Moe saw it, was
concern that he might not be a team player. “Nobody ever
questioned his intellectual credentials,” Moe said. “People
knew that he was a very conservative fellow. But that
never dissuaded the president on appointments anyway.
The only question was whether he could work with the
White House the way Bill Miller had. Miller was very
close to the White House on monetary policy. That’s the
way any White House wants it.” What Moe had heard
about Volcker was that “he’s a very strong-willed, strong-
minded person who may or may not be prepared to coor-
dinate policy with you.”26

Based on this, Moe told Carter that Volcker might not
be his man.27 Yet on Monday, William Miller telephoned
Volcker in New York and told him the president would like
to see him.28

The next day, Tuesday, July 24, Volcker went to the
White House. His main concern, he said years later, was for
Carter to understand the type of Fed chairman he would
be.29 The meeting ran about an hour. Carter told author
Carl Biven that Volcker sprawled on a couch as they talked,
adding, “I think he was smoking a cigar.” Indeed, the presi-
dent did not know much about his visitor. “I didn’t really
know whether Paul Volcker was a Democrat or a Republi-
can,” Carter told Biven.30

Volcker recalled doing most of the talking.31 “I told him
the Federal Reserve was going to have to be tighter and that
it was very important that its independence be maintained,”
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Volcker says.32 Walking out of the White House, Volcker
said to himself, “That’s the end of that. He’ll never offer me
the job.33

Later that afternoon, Greider reports, Gerald Rafshoon,
Carter’s media coordinator, got a phone call from Bert Lance.
Lance, an old banker friend from Georgia and Carter’s bud-
get director before he was forced to resign, had a message for
the president.34 “I don’t know who the president is thinking of
for Fed chairman,” he said. “But I want you to tell him some-
thing for me. He should not appoint Paul Volcker. If he
appoints Volcker, he will be mortgaging his reelection to the
Federal Reserve.”35

Rafshoon went to see Carter and passed on Lance’s warn-
ing: The appointment of Volcker would mean higher interest
rates and higher unemployment and the outcome of the 1980
election would be “mortgaged” to the Federal Reserve. Carter
smiled and thanked Rafshoon, Greider reported.36

Volcker flew back to New York and that evening went to
dinner with two old friends, Lawrence S. Ritter and Robert
Kavesh. Ritter had worked with Volcker as a young staff
member at the New York Fed and was chairman of the
finance department at New York University’s Stern School
of Business. Kavesh had studied with Volcker in graduate
school at Harvard and had also become a professor at the
New York University business school. Volcker told them
“with a certain sense of relief that, after my performance, I
surely wouldn’t be asked to pull up stakes to return to Wash-
ington and disrupt the family.”37

The next morning the phone rang in Volcker’s apart-
ment. It was 7:30 A.M. and Volcker and his wife were still in
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bed.38 President Carter was on the line. He wanted Volcker
for the job.

Bankers, business leaders, and government officials in
New York and Washington and around the world hailed the
appointment. The stock and bond markets rallied and the
dollar regained some of its losses. “He chose the right man,
the best of all the possible choices,” said Larry Wachtel, a
stock analyst for the New York brokerage firm of Bache
Halsey Stuart Shields.39 “Seldom has President Carter used
his appointive power so well,” said Gabriel Hauge, the
retired chairman of the Manufacturers Hanover Trust Com-
pany, one of the nation’s largest banks.40

Volcker’s appointment was good news to others outside
of big business. The small savings banks scattered across
America welcomed his nomination as well. “It puts to rest
the rumor that we’re not going to have an independent Fed
chairman,” said Raymond D. Campbell, the president of the
Oberlin Savings Bank Co. in Oberlin, Ohio, with $41.3 mil-
lion in deposits. Campbell was also the chairman of the
trade group of the savings banks, the Independent Bankers
Association of America.41

Stuart Eizenstat, President Carter’s adviser on domestic
policy, told William Greider that with the economy looking
bleak and with the Carter administration in turmoil, the
president and his staff concluded that they had no choice but
to pick Volcker. “Volcker was selected because he was the
candidate of Wall Street,” Eizenstat said.42 “This was their
price, in effect. What was known about him? That he was
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able and bright. And it was also known that he was conser-
vative. What wasn’t known was that he was going to impose
some very dramatic changes.”

On the afternoon of July 25, Volcker called a press con-
ference at the New York Fed and that evening at 9:00, dur-
ing prime time, Carter, for the first time in his presidency,
addressed the press in the ornate East Wing of the White
House rather than in a drab auditorium in the Executive
Office building. Carter fielded questions about the economy
and his cabinet shake-up and elaborated on his announce-
ment that morning of the Volcker appointment.

In their separate meetings with reporters, Volcker and
Carter gave the first hint that they held strikingly different
views of how to deal with the ailing economy. Inflation, they
agreed, was a monster that had to be contained. They each
spoke of stability, but they had different visions of what that
meant. Carter told the reporters he wanted “to maintain our
steady course and to dwell as best I can on a balanced growth
in the economy.” It was time, he said, “for stability,” time “for
continuation of our present economic monetary and bud-
getary policies.”43 Volcker spoke of price stability. To his way of
thinking, the only way to get price stability was to drive up
interest rates to the point where the economy stalled, to where
people no longer wanted to buy. Then prices would begin
falling and you would begin to see stability replace the
upward climb of inflation. That was not Carter’s definition of
stability. Volcker’s approach would not be a continuation of
Miller’s way, gradually raising interest rates. Volcker sent a
blunt message: “Our job,” he told the reporters, “is to main-
tain a steady, disciplined policy.”44 This was not a man pre-
paring to temporize. As Volcker saw it, Americans had to
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understand that inflation was going to be crushed. Then, and
only then, would they end the pattern of buying as much as
they could today because they believed everything would cost
more tomorrow. “If we are going to progress and prosper,” he
continued at his news conference, “we need a sense of confi-
dence that we are moving toward price stability at home and
a sense of strong confidence in the dollar internationally.”45

Both objectives translated into higher interest rates, finance
professionals and economists knew. This was radically differ-
ent from the moderate approach Carter was advocating.

Although Volcker was promoting a much tougher strat-
egy than Carter’s, many thought the president and his new
Fed chairman were in harmony on the issue. In an editorial
published the day after the announcement of Volcker’s nom-
ination, The New York Times said it was unlikely that the Fed,
under new direction, would “make any sudden shifts.” If
there were changes, the Times said, “the changes will be
largely symbolic.”46

In his way, perhaps, Volcker was not trying to mislead.
He made a point in his news conference of declaring that he
did not want the president “to be under any illusion about
what my views were.”47 That may have been true. After all,
he was speaking just the way he always spoke. But, of
course, that was in Fedspeak. Whether or not Jimmy Carter
was later surprised to see the ferocity of Volcker’s assault on
inflation, there surely would have been no point for him in
those early days to have suggested that he and his new
appointee were on divergent courses. And, of course, the
president could always have hoped that he might influence
his appointee by spelling out his views on the best way to
proceed.
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A few days later, Volcker went up to Capitol Hill for his
confirmation hearing before the Senate Banking Committee
and its chairman, Senator William Proxmire, the Wisconsin
Democrat. The hearing was going to be a cakewalk. On the
day of the nomination, Proxmire had told reporters: “Paul
Volcker is a man of great intellect and proven leadership
ability.”48

During the hearing, nearly all of Proxmire’s Senate col-
leagues took time to praise Volcker for his experience and
demonstrated capabilities. But they also pressed him on how
harsh he expected to be in attempting to slay the dragon of
inflation.49 He was somewhat less forthcoming with the sen-
ators than in his press conference with financial reporters in
New York. Perhaps the more formal circumstances and the
theoretical possibility that the senators could contest his
nomination led him to be more circumspect. In any case, by
the time of the confirmation hearing, the chatter among
finance professionals was that interest rates were almost cer-
tainly going to increase. The senators may well have under-
stood which way Volcker was headed. Yet, perhaps more for
the benefit of their constituents back home, they sought
assurances that Volcker would somehow quell inflation
without forcing more people out of work, without causing
more economic distress. 

Some of the questions sounded combative. Following cus-
tom, the chairman, Senator Proxmire, led off. “You may be
the personification of Wall Street and international banking,”
he told Volcker. “You’re viewed as a hard money, big business
conservative. What’s your answer to the fear that—in the
immortal words of William Jennings Bryan—you may choose
to ‘crush down upon the brow of labor the crown of gold,’ by
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pushing high interest rates to levels that would be punishing
and create more unemployment and be very difficult for small
business, the farmer and the working people?”50

Using much less vivid language, Volcker had already
acknowledged in his conversation with the president in the
Oval Office and in his press conference that the picture
Proxmire was painting was close to what he had in mind.
But now, in the Senate, he did not want to respond directly.
He pointed out that the country was facing great problems
and recalled that he had persistently spoken of the need for
stability in terms of inflation and the value of the dollar
abroad. “I don’t want interest rates any higher than they
have to be,” he said, without giving any clue as to how high
he thought they might ultimately have to rise and just how
difficult life in America might become.

Proxmire tried again. He noted that Volcker had voted in
favor of interest rate increases the previous March and April,
in contrast to his predecessor Miller and the majority on the
Federal Open Market Committee. “Does this mean we enter
this recession with the likelihood of a tight monetary policy
and possible interest rates at an even higher level?” the sen-
ator asked.

Volcker sidestepped the question, saying, “I don’t think
it would be appropriate for me to comment on what partic-
ular moves might be necessary or desirable in the near
future.”51 Still, he said wryly, he did not think that there was
evidence to suggest “that the economy is suffering griev-
ously from a shortage of money.”

To the economists listening, the answer was clear. Every-
one knew the economy was in trouble. If there was no short-
age of money, as indeed was the case, then perhaps there was
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an oversupply. And the remedy available to the Fed was to
reduce that oversupply by tightening, jacking up interest rates.

Proxmire did not pursue the point. Well into the two-and-
a-half-hour hearing, Senator Nancy Landon Kassebaum,
Republican of Kansas, picked up on Volcker’s facetious ref-
erence to the more than ample money supply, seeking an
answer everyone could understand. “Does this mean that
you do feel that interest rates should be higher?” she asked.

Volcker was just not going to say, one way or the other,
however obvious the answer might be. He had been a Fed
man too long. “I don’t think I want to begin my career as
chairman by projecting just where interest rates might be or
where they should be,” he said.52

“Thank you,” Senator Kassebaum replied. She was not
going to push Volcker either.

The senators may have known as well as Volcker that
interest rates and inflation and the value of the dollar in
international markets were intertwined. Yet several of the
senators expended a good deal of energy that day in laying
down a trail in the Congressional Record to show voters
their lack of sympathy for any policy that favored a strong
dollar and good international trade relations over concerns
about inflation and unemployment at home—whether or not
their comments had any economic logic.

One senator taking that line, Donald W. Riegle, Jr., a
Democrat from Michigan, worried that Volcker’s focus
would be more on international finance and “less toward
domestic economic policy.” The two issues were inseparable,
Volcker said: “If we try to distinguish them, we get into trou-
ble,” adding, “I see them as part of one piece.” In his ques-
tioning of Volcker, Riegle continued to juxtapose domestic
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and international economics, but his bottom line was a
mutual prayer shared with his senate colleagues that day. It
was his strongest hope, he said, “that we would not get fixed
on a course where the belief was that the economy had to go
through the wringer and that monetary policy would remain
restrictive, and we would endure an overly severe and overly
long recession.”53

On August 6, at the swearing-in ceremony for Volcker as
the new chairman of the Fed and G. William Miller as the
new secretary of the Treasury, in the glittering East Room of
the White House, President Carter again delivered his
steady-as-you-go message. “Now,” he said, “is not the time to
change course.”54

The newly installed chairman of the Federal Reserve
Board was going to do what he knew to be right, no matter
what. His years of study, his sense of civic duty, and his calm
detachment from the heat of politics would guide him in his
decisions. Indeed, all of Volcker’s life up to now would come
to bear on this moment and would have a profound effect
on economic history.
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CHAPTER FIVE

YOUTH
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Paul Volcker grew up in the shadow of New York, in the
suburban town of Teaneck, New Jersey. From the kitchen
window of the family home on Longfellow Avenue, he

could the see the spire of the Empire State Building shim-
mering in the distance across the Hudson River, and in half
an hour he could be in Times Square.

Yet as close as Teaneck was to the great city, it had the
feel of an entirely different world. It was filled with trees and
parks and quiet streets of modest Tudor and Dutch Colonial
style houses and a fair share of ordinary clapboard and brick
houses of no particular heritage. Teaneck High School
looked like a crusader’s castle and boasted its own football
stadium and running track. The main shopping district con-
sisted of a few blocks of restaurants and small shops and a
movie theater along Cedar Lane. The overall impression
was residential, verging on rural, nothing at all like the
small, gritty city of Hackensack on the western edge of Tea-
neck, not even as commercially developed as Englewood to
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the east. “It was an idyllic place to grow up,” says Dr. Don-
ald W. Maloney, a classmate of Volcker’s at Teaneck High
School.1

In 1949, the United States Army Corps of Engineers
looked at 10,000 communities in the United States and con-
cluded that Teaneck was the very model of small-town
America. The Army sent in a photographer and mounted
an exhibit that, apparently without a moment of self-
consciousness, was shipped off to Germany and Japan as an
example of what those countries might strive for as they
were rebuilding after World War II. Teaneck was the real
home of Ozzie and Harriet Nelson before they began play-
ing themselves in their radio and television series, from the
mid-1940s to the mid-1960s, about a happy, middle-class
American family.2 Later, Pat Boone, a movie and television
star who personified American wholesomeness, chose Tea-
neck as his home. 

Volcker and his three older sisters moved to Teaneck with
their parents shortly after their father, Paul A. Volcker Sr.,
was recruited as Teaneck’s first town manager in late 1930.
Paul Sr. was a natural for the job. The town manager form of
government was just beginning to take hold in America, and
he was one of the few people with experience in the new
field. Five years earlier, the resort town of Cape May on the
southern coast of New Jersey, in debt and disgusted with its
leaders, had been the first community in the state to adopt
town manager government. The senior Volcker, a civil engi-
neer with a degree from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, had
been working in Lebanon, Pennsylvania, first as the city
engineer, then as manager of the chamber of commerce.
Cape May hired him away.
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When the Volckers arrived in Teaneck, near the begin-
ning of the Depression, the town was close to bankruptcy.
Paul’s father saved money right away by agreeing to also
serve as the town engineer for one extra dollar a year.3 Then
he went to work putting the town’s finances in order.

Tall, stern, and more of a listener than a talker, Paul
Volcker Sr. projected a sense of serious purpose and
integrity, characteristics his son would exhibit decades later.
“For years,” he said in his retirement speech in 1950,  “I have
made it a point to speak as briefly and as concisely as possi-
ble.”4 During his time in public office he generally kept peo-
ple at arm’s length. But it was not a style he had to work at.
At home, he was also distant and aloof. “Emotionally dis-
tant,” his son, Paul Jr., says. “I mean, he was there. He paid
attention. But he was not warm and cuddly.”5 With his wife,
he was respectful and close, but they both came naturally to
a reserved demeanor. “She had a hard time expressing love
and devotion,” Virginia Volcker Streitfeld, one of Paul’s sis-
ters, says of their mother.6 “Some mothers will tell you,
‘You’re wonderful; I love you.’ You knew she would always
be there if there was ever a problem. You had a big sense of
security. But there was not a lot of emotion.” In a rare
moment of public introspection, Paul Sr. admitted in his
retirement speech  that he suspected some people thought of
him as “a cold fish.”7

Much of the nature  of his parents passed directly to Paul
Volcker Jr. As chairman of the Federal Reserve, it served
him well. A certain remove had become part of the public
expectation of Federal Reserve chairmen, and it proved to be
a useful approach in fending off questions from members of
Congress and journalists.
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Volcker’s friends and colleagues say they rarely if ever
recall his drifting off into tales of his early days or of his par-
ents, as so many people do. Most of them never heard more
than a word or two—at most—about his highly regarded father
and his own youth. Ask Volcker a question about monetary
policy and his response flowed clear and precise. But ask him
to help set the scene on a particular day in his life, as I did in
interviews for this book, and he would shake his head, his lips
pursed in a half smile. “Trivial,” he might say, by way of com-
mentary, if he decided to say anything at all. He often seemed
good-natured during our numerous meetings together, some-
times grumpy and irritable. But never a chatterbox. Some
things that would roll off the tongues of most people just don’t
come up with him. He never mentioned to his daughter, Jan-
ice, for example, that the town green in Teaneck was named
in honor of her grandfather. “Oh, my God!” she exclaimed
when I told her. “I’ll have to go by and see it.” Until I men-
tioned it, he says, it never occurred to him that his wedding
anniversary is on September 11, the day the World Trade
Center was destroyed by terrorists in 2001. It didn’t mean
that he didn’t love his wife or that the attack did not stun him;
his mind just doesn’t work that way.

Frugality was a family tradition. The Volcker girls made
their own clothing,8 and Paul Sr. wore double-breasted tweed
suits until they frayed. Most days, Paul Sr. went home for
lunch. He drove unpretentious, sensible cars, usually dark-
colored Plymouths and DeSotos, often models with jump
seats to accommodate a family of six with all but mother over
six feet tall. Volcker displayed his frugality one day when I
went with him after breakfast at his Manhattan apartment to
a dry cleaner and shoe repair shop. He was trying to salvage
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a stained tie and was ordering yet another retread for an old,
but certainly serviceable, pair of black cap-toed oxfords.

As the town manager, Volcker’s father held the purse
strings of Teaneck. He held them tight and was privately
accorded the nickname “high-pockets.” “When a person’s got
deep pockets, it generally means you can get into them,” says
Dick Rodda, who served for 40 years as Teaneck’s director of
parks and recreation. “When he’s got high pockets, he doesn’t
want to give anything to anybody, including himself. He
wanted results and he wanted them at low cost.”9

Paul Adolph Volcker Jr. was born in Cape May on Sep-
tember 5, 1927, about two years after his father had become
town manager. He was three years old when the new job
took the family to Teaneck. Until his birth, there had been
three Volcker children, all girls and all born while their
father was working in Lebanon, Pennsylvania. A fourth sis-
ter, Eleanor, was born in Lebanon, but she contracted pneu-
monia and died at the age of four months.

Paul Jr. was the baby in a family of strong-willed sisters,
born to a strong-willed Teutonic couple. At five or six, he
slept in a little alcove, then moved to one of the rooms in the
attic. It was only after his sisters had gone off on their own
that he was given the front room. The family called Paul
“Buddy” to distinguish him from his father.

The girls, Ruth, Louise, and Virginia, had witnessed the
virtues of prudent, righteous behavior in their parents, and
took it upon themselves to see that their little brother got the
message. “We acted like three mothers,” says Virginia Volcker
Streitfeld, who is three years older than Paul and his only 
surviving sister. “We were mother hens, in a way, making 
sure he did the right thing.”10
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All the girls went to college and, far from typical in the
1940s, took up careers. Ruth, who was nearly 11 years older
than Paul, earned a degree in library science at Simmons
College in Boston and worked for Eastman Kodak in
Rochester as a research librarian.11 Toward the end of World
War II, Kodak recruited her for the Manhattan Project,
which developed the atomic bomb, and she was sent to
work at a facility in Oakridge, Tennessee. After the Manhat-
tan Project ended, Ruth moved to a Kodak chemical plant in
Kingsport, Tennessee. She remained in Kingsport after
retirement and died there in 1991 at age 75.

Louise was nine years older than Paul. She majored in
government at Barnard College in New York, then the sister
school of Columbia University, and went on to get a mas-
ter’s degree in social work at the University of Chicago.
During World War II she worked for the Red Cross at vet-
erans’ hospitals in Atlanta and San Francisco, and later
became a social worker at St. Luke’s Hospital in Manhattan.
She was stricken with breast cancer and died in 1966 at 48
years old.

Ruth and Louise never married. All of the girls were
unusually tall. Ruth stood six feet tall, Louise six-one, and
Virginia, six-two. In Volcker family lore, height helped
explain why Ruth and Louise remained single. “My mother
never gave us the message that you had to get married,” says
Virginia. “You had to get a job and support yourself and I
think that was partly because we were so tall.”

Virginia, three years older than Paul, studied political
science at Wellesley College in Wellesley, Massachusetts,
taught fifth grade on a Navaho reservation in New Mexico
for a year, and then got a master’s in education at the
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University of Chicago. At Chicago, Virginia met and mar-
ried Harold Streitfeld, who was studying for a Ph.D. in clin-
ical psychology. He was very intellectual, she says, and “sort
of mysterious in some way.” He smoked a pipe, like her
father, and, not inconsequentially, he was tall. At six-one, he
was within an inch of being as tall as Virginia—unless she
wore heels. For a change, here was a man she did not tower
over. She could be with him and not feel she stuck out.12

Virginia taught elementary school in Illinois for several
years, then devoted herself to raising their five children.
After getting a divorce in 1973, she earned a master’s degree
in social work at Fordham University and spent 14 years
working with troubled children at a Roman Catholic foster
care agency in New York. She has been living in Connecti-
cut for years and from time to time gets together with her
brother in New York City.

For the Volcker girls, their height was a social curse. In
their world, the man was always supposed to be taller than
the woman. By the time the girls were 12 or 13, they were
already over six feet tall. But at that age, Paul Volcker was
no taller than average. And it began to bother the girls. “We
were afraid he was going to be the little one of the family,”
Virginia says. “That would have made it even worse that we
had suffered being tall.” But, finally, Paul’s growth hor-
mones kicked in and at 6 feet, 7 inches, he more than met
Volcker height standards.

Being tall was not a blessing for the boy in the family,
either. “I was very self-conscious in those days,” Volcker
says, partly because of his height. It was definitely not a plus.
“I think it was a negative, being that tall,” he says.

Paul’s grandfather, Adolph Volcker, gave the family its
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height and its determined reticence. He had come from a big
family of big boys, all very tall. He stood 6 feet, 4 inches and
weighed 300 pounds13 and had the bearing of a military
commander. He had come to the United States in the late
1800s from the German town of Meppen, near the Dutch
border. He worked as a tea and coffee wholesaler and even-
tually married another German immigrant, Pauline Keyser
from Eisennach, near Dresden. She taught school in Hobo-
ken, New Jersey. At first, they lived in Hoboken, where
Paul’s father was born in 1889; then the family moved to
Brooklyn. Paul Sr.’s two brothers were born there and the
three of them studied at Boys’ High School in Brooklyn.
Years later, Paul Sr. spoke proudly of the classical education
he received there.

To his grandchildren, Adolph Volcker seemed stiff and
autocratic. He sported a handlebar mustache and was once
mistaken on the streets of New York as the captain of the
infamous German battleship Bismarck.14

Sometimes, the girls got physical with their brother. As
Virginia recalls, it was probably “more pushing him around”
than punching him. In any case, she rationalizes, “It was
always with the most noble motives,” becoming assertive,
saying, “if he did something he wasn’t supposed to do.” The
crimes in the Volcker family were never capital offenses. In
one of the more serious infractions, Virginia caught Paul Jr.
playing with matches. She remembers grabbing them away
and giving him a shove. “It was the kind of thing my mother
would have done,” she says.

Paul remembers his sisters bearing down on him. He
laughs about it now, but he says their behavior verged on
abusiveness. “I joke about this, but there’s some truth in it,”
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Volcker says. “They were all so conscious that I was not to
be spoiled that they leaned over backwards to abuse me.”15

Louise may ultimately have ended up having the most
influence on Volcker, but their relationship was difficult. “I
did not get along with her all that well when I was younger,
to say the least,” Volcker says.16 “She was an emotional and,
I thought, self-centered person. She wrote extremely well
and she was a pretty good artist. She was flamboyant. She
had interesting friends—very interesting friends. She was
very preoccupied with her own life and I’m sure I annoyed
her. And she’d squash me once in a while.”

One of Paul’s childhood passions was building model
airplanes made of balsa wood. There seemed to be hun-
dreds of tiny parts and it took great patience and skill to 
put them together. When he had the mumps, his mother
brought him a new model plane kit every day. One day
Louise staged her own Pearl Harbor in the Volcker house
and smashed Paul’s entire aircraft fleet. “I did something to
annoy her,” he says. “I got in the way or something. She
destroyed all my model airplanes.”17

Years later, the incident seemed far too trivial for a great
economist to be discussing. The memory had simply
popped out of Volcker during one of our meetings, and it
quickly struck him as silly, lacking in dignity, embarrassing
even, certainly not something he wanted to dwell on. He
had gotten to the point where he could laugh and joke about
Louise’s assault on his planes and other childhood bruises.
But it seemed that the incidents had not been funny at the
time, and had left a lasting impression.

Being the only boy in that household cast Volcker as
somewhat of  an outsider. “He sort of got lost in the shuffle,”
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Virginia says. “We did a lot of sewing. That was one of the
things he was not involved in; and shopping and cooking,
not the kind of things a mother does with a boy. Except for
fishing, my father wasn’t interested in sports. So, as the boy,
Paul was kind of left out.”18

Louise especially hogged the family spotlight. “Louise
took a lot of attention,” Volcker says. “She was always hav-
ing emotional ups and downs and it annoyed me that she
was taking so much attention. I remember I had to listen to
all this and calm her down.”

Volcker’s response was to withdraw into himself. In high
school he was in the top of his class and played varsity
basketball. But he was quiet and shy.  Paul’s mother, Alma
Volcker, told Newsweek magazine that her son’s reticence
came early. He had to repeat kindergarten, she said, because
he was so quiet that the teacher thought he was immature.19

“His father and I got a report from school complaining that
he didn’t take part in group discussions,” she said. And then,
much as her son does today, she added a bit of playful
hyperbole, saying, at a time when Paul was 58 years old,
that “he hasn’t taken part in group discussions in the family
since.” Paul’s best friend in grade school was a very quiet
boy in the neighborhood, Harry Johansen. Virginia says
they played for hours without exchanging a word.

As Volcker got older, he remained wary of small talk,
and it was decades before he mixed easily with women.
Dorothea Van Duzer used to walk to high school with Vir-
ginia and two other girl friends. Paul Jr. often started for
school at about the same time. But, Van Duzer recalls Paul
showing no interest in his sister’s friends. “Buddy would
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come behind us and walk right past,” she says, “with no
acknowledgement of us at all.”20

As Volcker was heading to college, he began drawing
closer to Louise. She would write him letters from her Red
Cross job in San Francisco and they would spend time
together when they were home for the holidays. “She was
very interested in my career and that I made something out
of myself,” Volcker says.21 He named his first child Janice
Louise after his sister.

Jim Volcker, Paul’s son, got to know Louise when she
worked as a social worker at St. Luke’s Hospital in New
York. “She was as extroverted as he is close to the vest and
quiet and within himself,” Jim says. “She was very creative.
She had a very lively hobby in painting. She did landscapes,
but kind of abstract landscapes. Growing up, when I was
four or five, she would do wood block prints for me of small
animals.”22

In Teaneck, the mayor and town council posts were
part-time jobs. As the more-than-full-time town manager,
Paul’s father was the most prominent official. He was  the
problem solver, the symbol of authority. He ran the town,
and the weight of his office fell on the Volcker children.
“Your worst fear was that you’d do something that could
get you in the newspapers,” Virginia recalls. “You had to
uphold the family name. We were always very much aware
of that responsibility.”23

As a teenager, Paul Jr. led an especially careful life. Be-
cause of his father’s position, he assumed he had no leeway.
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“Everybody who was anybody knew him,” Paul Jr. recalled,
“and if I ever did anything wrong, they’d know who I was.
When my friends went out knocking out streetlights, I
stayed home. I couldn’t risk getting picked up. I felt that
pressure very strongly.”24

Paul’s father set the standard. Once, after a heavy snow-
fall, the head of public works in Teaneck sent a plow to clear
the Volckers’ driveway and the street in front of their house
before taking care of the rest of the town. “Paul gave him
what for,” Dick Rodda remembers. “He said, ‘Don’t you
ever do that again.’ He didn’t want the appearance that he
was getting special treatment.”25

During World War II, Paul and his father went on a fish-
ing vacation in Maine with some friends from Teaneck.
Gasoline was rationed then and the Volckers’ friends pooled
their allotments to get enough fuel for one car to drive up
together. But, concerned that people might suspect that the
town manager had somehow gotten an extra ration for the
group, Paul’s father insisted that he and his son go by train.
They had to transfer twice, then hitch a ride for the last 10
miles. They arrived in North Lovell, Maine, at 11:00 P.M.26

One winter, Rodda got permission from Paul Sr. to close
off 15 hilly streets in Teaneck for sledding. Rodda went to
high school principal Charles Steel and told him he wanted
to hire 15 of his best seniors as safety monitors.27 About 10
days into the program, Rodda was summoned to Volcker’s
office. When Rodda walked in, Volcker got right to the
point. “I see you have Buddy’s name on the payroll.”

“That’s true,” Rodda said.
“Well,” said Volcker, “I want you to fire him.”
Rodda did not think the order was reasonable. “I said,
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‘Wait a minute. You want a good program here and I want a
good program. I think we have 15 top-drawer young people
to help us provide this and you must have a pretty good rea-
son for asking me to do this.’”

Volcker replied: “Dick, I have three. First, he’s my son
and therefore he should not be on the municipal payroll.
Secondly, I don’t know what you’re paying him, but what-
ever it is, there are kids in this town that need it more than
he does.”28

Volcker paused, and Rodda reminded him that he had
said he had three reasons, but that he’d given only two. The
pause, it turned out, had been for effect. “Dick,” Volcker
continued, “if you don’t fire Buddy I’m going to get some-
one else to run the rec department.”

Rodda went to Paul Jr. with the bad news. “I told him,
‘This has to be your last day on this assignment.’ And he
said, ‘Well, is it something I’ve done?’ I said, ‘No.’ He said,
‘Is it something I haven’t done?’  ‘No,’ I said, ‘it’s not that.’
Then he said, ‘Oh, my father must have said something,
right?’ I said, ‘Bingo. You got it.’ And he said, ‘Well, that’s
okay.’ And nothing more was ever said.”29

One thing Paul Volcker Sr. liked to talk about was engi-
neering. Driving on trips around the state, he would turn to
Dick Rodda, a frequent companion, and, as they passed a
bridge, go into detail about its construction. He liked
explaining to his son, too, how things were put together. 
At these moments, Paul Jr. saw a “very, very patient” man.
“He really was intrigued by engineering—civil engineering,” 
Paul Jr. says. “He told me how you build a bridge and all the
stresses. He would draw pictures. He always had an expla-
nation for civil engineering projects.”
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Paul’s father also liked to cook. While Mrs. Volcker
thought of cooking as a job, for her husband it was relax-
ation. Paul and the three girls picked up his enthusiasm.
“My brother follows recipes,” says Virginia.30 “He loves Julia
Child. He likes to try out different things.”

At Thanksgiving, Volcker usually cooks dinner for
friends. The secret to his succulent turkey, he says, is that
instead of cooking the bird on its back, in the conventional
way, he flips it over on its breast and, every 15 minutes or so,
douses it with a fine port. (Others have come to see the wis-
dom of this method; now some supermarket turkeys come
with a suggestion printed on their wrapper that they be placed
in the oven the way Volcker does it.) He also makes a memo-
rable meat loaf and often whips up pasta dishes. Volcker’s fet-
tucini Alfredo was a favorite of his wife, Barbara. When they
bought their apartment on the Upper East Side of Manhattan,
the previous owner left them a Viking professional range,
which remains the jewel of his apartment kitchen.

“If you could sit at our Thanksgiving dinner table, those
are some of the best memories of the family,” says Volcker’s
son, Jim.31 “Everybody gathers together. We can sit there
quite a while talking about anything. My dad seems to open
up quite a bit at those gatherings.”

In Teaneck, the Volckers’ life centered around their
home. They did not belong to the country club and they did
not throw big parties. The family usually went to church on
Sundays, but they did not go together. Paul Sr., the strong,
upright father, went to his church, Christ Church Episcopal;
the strong, upright mother and their children walked to 
St. Paul’s Lutheran, just down Longfellow Avenue from
their house.
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Here was another of those quiet, unstated Volcker family
lessons: Exercising personal independence and preference
need not cancel out the love, admiration, respect, and loyalty
of family and friends. Breaking the mold did not necessarily
mean breaking the ties. A family—a person—could be con-
servative and still be unconventional, following his or her
own pursuits. And Paul and his sisters did just that.

Virginia was the first of the Volcker children to be mar-
ried. But she decided it would be better if it were not a big
event. Her parents had not been thrilled by her choice. “My
father was always very apprehensive about who we were
going out with,” Virginia says.32 “And who might be inter-
ested in us and might take advantage of us. He was not
exactly protective, but he was very suspicious of our gentle-
man friends.”

Hal Streitfeld, as she puts it, was not a gung ho type of
guy. He did not like to go fishing with her dad. He was very
much into reading and music, especially classical jazz. He
was also Jewish. “That was a little disconcerting to my fam-
ily,” Virginia says. “My parents never quite liked him. They
came to accept him more.”33

Virginia and Harold were married in the Volcker living
room. Three clergymen presided: the pastor of Paul Sr.’s
Episcopal church, the pastor of the Lutheran church that
Virginia, her mother and the others attended, and a rabbi. “I
thought the easiest on everybody would be to just have a
small wedding,” Virginia says.

In his years in government, Volcker often found himself
working with swashbucklers, masters, or at least lovers of
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the bold stroke. John B. Connolly, the charismatic former
governor of Texas and pal of President Richard Nixon who
served briefly as Nixon’s secretary of the Treasury and 
Volcker’s boss, is the exemplar. But Volcker believed in cau-
tion. He did not lunge into action. His demolition of the
Bretton Woods agreement that ended the linkage of the dol-
lar and gold at a fixed rate and his successful attack on infla-
tion were nothing but bold. But both came after careful
deliberation. In New York and in Washington, he would
spend hours bouncing ideas off a handful of aides. “He
would pursue a line of inquiry until he got to the ‘I don’t
know’ answer,” says Neal Soss, a special assistant to Volcker
at the Federal Reserve Board in the early 1980s.34 “He
would not stop questioning you until you said, ‘I don’t know
about that one.’ Then he’d say, ‘Well, go find out.’ This led
to some very lengthy evenings of sitting around saying,
‘Let’s think about this from yet another perspective.’”

As president of the Federal Reserve Bank in New York,
Volcker regularly called in four or five of his people on Fri-
day afternoons. “We would just debate the issues,” says
Ernest Patrikis, then general counsel of the New York
bank.35 “My motto for Volcker is: He never decided an issue
before its time.”

Neither, apparently, did his father.  In a newspaper col-
umn about the elder Volcker shortly after his death in 1960,
Bob Henderson of the Teaneck Sunday Sun said that “Paul sel-
dom if ever made snap judgments.”36

“If anyone went to him with a suggestion, an idea or a
complaint, he’d most likely take a long puff on his pipe,
remark that he hadn’t thought of it that way, but [that] if the
caller would come back on Thursday at 2:00 P.M., he’d have
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an answer. And he’d have an answer and a cracking good
reason for his decision.”

The home Volcker grew up in was a home of abundant
caution. Perhaps it was his parents’ experience of having
lived through the Depression, an experience he shared as a
child. Or perhaps his parents were simply two people who
would have veered toward caution in any case. The children
saw it in their father’s methodical ways. They heard it from
their mother. “What I got from her,” Virginia says,37 “is,
‘Okay, today everything is going fine. But you can never be
sure about tomorrow. You have to watch out, be cautious.’”

Jim Volcker describes his father as a “very private per-
son.” “He doesn’t have a large circle of friends,” Jim says.38 “I
can remember him telling me when I was growing up as an
adolescent that if you can count the number of friends on
one hand, true friends, that’s a lot. He has about four or five
good friends.”

The quiet of the father has been difficult for the son to
understand and negotiate. “Even at 45, I can say I’m still
learning how best to communicate with him,” Jim said late in
2003. “He’s the kind of person you have to peel like a
banana. People might perceive him as aloof. But once you
get past the exterior he’s a very sensitive person. It takes a
while to reach that, depending on the day or his mood.”

Paul Volcker Sr. may have always been a man of great
integrity and thrift. But the job in Teaneck demanded those
virtues. The town had gotten into serious financial trouble
just as the stock market crashed in 1929 and the country
was heading into the Depression. Over nearly a decade, the
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town’s elected leaders had gone on a spending spree that left
Teaneck, as the Volckers were arriving, with more than $6
million in debt. In his first three years as town manager,
Volcker reduced the debt nearly 30 percent and managed to
cut taxes while most other communities in New Jersey were
raising them. He produced a master plan for the layout of
the town that restricted commercial development and made
provisions for creating parks, helping to preserve the small-
town character that Teaneck maintains even now.

“His hand, his imprint is so much on Teaneck,” says
Helene V. Fall, the town manager in 2003.39 More than half
a century after Volcker retired in 1950, the Teaneck town
manager still worked in the small, rectangular office just off
the main entrance to the Georgian-style municipal building
that had been his headquarters. Fall, a short, sturdy woman
with a master’s degree in public administration from Fair-
leigh Dickenson University, sat at Volcker’s old desk, a
slightly scuffed block of maple. A framed charcoal drawing
of Volcker, pipe jutting to one side in the style of General
Douglas McArthur, looked down at her from one wall.

Frank Hall, an editor of McGraw-Hill trade magazines,
served as mayor of Teaneck from 1978 to 1982 and again
from 1988 to 1990. He moved to Teaneck in 1949, Volcker’s
last year as town manager, and he later edited The Teaneck
100 Year Book, celebrating the town’s centennial in 1995. “I
was just a young guy, just out of the service, when I moved
to Teaneck,” he says. “I saw how the town was run. The guy
was fantastic. He was very strict, very tough. He set up a
master plan that we’re still following to this day.”40

Volcker saw himself as the conscience of the community,
and that led to tensions between him and the elected officials.
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“My observation of being on the town council is that after
awhile you get to thinking of yourself as the most important
person in the world and you want to do favors for people,”
says Hall. “Volcker was strictly against that.”41

Eight years into his career in Teaneck and with another
election approaching, the stress became too much for Paul Sr.
“Things got so mixed up that suddenly I found I couldn’t
talk,” Paul Sr. said.42 After a brief hospitalization, he was
back at work. But, under constant pressure, he suffered sev-
eral strokes.

Midway through his career in Teaneck, Volcker nearly
lost his job. Three of the five council members, including
Karl D. Van Wagoner, who had brought him to Teaneck,
pressed Volcker to promote one of the town’s two police
lieutenants to captain. When he refused, saying neither was
qualified, the council members made the promotion them-
selves. But the state’s Civil Service Commission vindicated
Volcker. The commission reversed the decision, saying the
council had overstepped its bounds.

Soon afterward, the same council members ordered
Volcker to fire Henry Penney, the town tax collector. This
time, when Volcker refused, they suspended his pay and
began angling to get rid of him for good. The struggle
between the town manager and the councilmen became the
central theme of the scheduled elections a month later. All but
one of Volcker’s antagonists was voted out of office and the
election results were seen as endorsement of his management.

Political skirmishes continued in Teaneck long after
Volcker was gone. But Helene Fall says the tone Volcker 
set for town government has survived. “He created an
environment where employees can do their jobs without fear
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of political intervention,” she says. “Mr. Volcker set the
course for Teaneck as a municipal entity as it is now.”43

While Paul Sr. was running Teaneck, his wife, Alma, was
running the Volcker family. He often had meetings at night
and he seldom got going in the mornings before the children
were off to school. On Saturdays and Sundays he would
drive around town making notes on work that needed to be
done in the coming week.44

Paul Sr. had met Alma Klippel when he was helping
build new locks and bridges on the Erie Canal as an engi-
neer for New York State. Like himself, she was a child of
German immigrants. She was an only child; he, the eldest of
three sons.45 Her parents, Elias and Bertha Klippel, had set-
tled in Lyons, New York, and ran a dry goods store. The
Erie Canal cuts right through the town.

A few years after Paul Sr. retired in 1950, he and his wife
moved to Lyons. He died on Valentine’s Day in 1960 at age
70. In 1981, at the age of 89, Alma Klippel Volcker sold their
house in Lyons and went to live with her daughter Ruth in
Tennessee. Never much involved with possessions, she grad-
ually had pared down her belongings so that when Ruth
came to pick her up for the trip south, everything she owned
fit into the car. Mrs. Volcker lived with Ruth until her health
began to fail. She then moved into a nursing home and died
in 1990 at the age of 98.

Many of Alma Klippel’s high school classmates went to
relatively nearby Syracuse University. But she chose the
more elite Vassar College and graduated in 1913 as the
valedictorian with an honors degree in chemistry. She stayed
on at Vassar as a teaching assistant for a year, then met Paul
Sr. and chose family over career.
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She studied German at college and wound up more flu-
ent, the family said, than Paul Sr., who had grown up in
Brooklyn in a home where German was the first language.
Over her years as a wife and mother, she read history, kept
up with current affairs, and admired Eleanor Roosevelt.
“She was the one who, if you didn’t know what a word
meant, would have you get up from the dinner table and go
look it up in the dictionary,” says Virginia Volcker. “I always
had the feeling she would have made a great doctor. She was
always very good when things happened. She would not get
highly emotional, just do what had to be done. She was a
very strong person. But she was sort of puritanical, strait-
laced in lots of ways. She really made you toe the mark.”46

The value of public service was a message that infused
the Volcker house. “She talked about it all the time,” Vir-
ginia Volcker says.47 “It fit in with what my father was doing.
You spend your time doing good for people and working for
the betterment of the world. They agreed with each other on
the importance of service and social values. The idea of
being a businessman wasn’t sort of what you did. You did
good for the world. Business wasn’t seen as giving that
much of yourself.”

Paul says his mother “radiated” the virtues of public ser-
vice with her pride in her husband and her conviction that
by devoting himself to the well-being of the community he
was engaged in an ideal way of life. 48

While Paul’s father spent his life in public service, he had
one memorable conversation with his son in which he told
Paul Jr. he ought to think seriously about a career in busi-
ness. Paul was never quite sure what prompted the advice,
which, in its explicitness, was rare in itself. Maybe, Virginia
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ventures, it was a moment when their father was under par-
ticular pressure as town manager and began thinking that
had he chosen a business career, he could have done better
financially for his family. But she and Paul knew their
father’s heart was in public service. He had never shown any
real desire to do anything else. For Paul, it was simply an
idea that hung out there in hazy ambiguity, and that he
totally ignored. A future in public service was inevitable.
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CHAPTER SIX

SCHOOL DAYS 
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In the summer of 1945, the world war that had devastated
swaths of Europe and Asia and taken millions of lives
was in its last, violent spasms. The Nazis had capitulated

in May, and in August the attacks on Hiroshima and
Nagasaki with atomic bombs would humble the Japanese
commanders.

Paul Volcker graduated from Teaneck High School in
May of that year, and in July, with a wartime schedule in
effect, entered Princeton University, one of the finest univer-
sities in America. He was surprised to have been accepted.
Like its rivals, Harvard and Yale, Princeton in the 1940s was
open only to young men, the overwhelming majority of them
sons of prosperous if not wealthy families, prepared from
childhood at expensive private schools like Dalton and Col-
legiate in New York and tweedy New England boarding
schools like Andover, Groton, and Exeter.

Princeton’s reputation was intimidating to Volcker. “I
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thought places like Harvard, Yale, and Princeton were beyond
me,” Volcker says.1 “They didn’t take kids like me from Tea-
neck High School.” Had it not been for the war and the great
draining away of America’s young men, he rationalized, he
probably never would have gotten into Princeton, even
though he was a top student in high school, a member of the
National Honor Society, and the center on the varsity basket-
ball team.

Indeed, as Volcker moved into a room in North Dod
Hall, one of Princeton’s plainer dormitories, he thought how
strangely quiet the Gothic campus seemed. At that point,
hundreds of thousands of American men were serving in the
armed forces; hundreds of Princeton students were in uni-
form, scattered around the world in the U.S. Army, Navy,
and Marines.

Volcker had only narrowly missed being among them.
As he was finishing his senior year at Teaneck High School,
he, like many of his classmates, had been summoned by the
draft board in Trenton for a physical examination, the pre-
cursor to being taken into the armed forces. But at six feet,
seven inches, he was judged to be too tall. An army doctor
stamped his papers 4-F: unfit for duty. While Volcker may
have felt relieved at the time, the rejection later troubled
him. He had been sidelined from one of the monumental
events of his generation. He was only an inch taller than the
acceptable military standard and later he would wonder
whether he should have “shrunk down and gotten in.”2

On August 6, while Volcker was midway through his
first semester at Princeton, the United States dropped an
atomic bomb on Hiroshima. Three days later, a second
bomb destroyed Nagasaki. On September 2, the Japanese
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formally surrendered in a ceremony on the battleship Mis-
souri. Had he been drafted, Volcker muses, he might have
been out of the Army in six months or so. It would have
been a small price to pay for the distinction that forever
eluded him, the badge of service that so many others shared.

Volcker had not been dreaming about studying at
Princeton. His father wanted him to go to his alma mater,
Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, a reliable producer of engi-
neers in upstate New York. Paul Jr. applied to Rensselaer
and was accepted. But a few weeks before the start of classes
there, he wrote to Princeton.

Even the application form that Princeton sent him was
intimidating. “It was like parchment paper,” Volcker says.3

He mailed it in, and, a few weeks later, to his astonishment,
came a welcoming letter of acceptance. Paul Sr. was not
thrilled. He was apprehensive about how his son would fare
in the Ivy League, feeling that compared with his own clas-
sic Latin education at Brooklyn Boys School, the prepara-
tion at Teaneck High School fell somewhat short of what
was needed to excel at Princeton. But, as Volcker now
remembers it, the decision to go to Princeton was not a
major demarcation in the father-son relationship. Neither of
them, he says, regarded it as a young man’s defiant declara-
tion of independence. Paul just decided to take a shot, it
worked out, and he seized the opportunity. But his father
could not help but worry. “He kept telling me it was going 
to be very hard. You know, ‘Watch out.’ I was going to be
with all those smart prep school kids. And I’d find out I 
wasn’t so smart.” As he attended classes, Volcker’s self-
confidence grew. “I found out that wasn’t true,” he says.4

“They weren’t as smart as my father thought.”
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Or maybe it was just that Volcker was exceptionally
bright. Donald W. Maloney, another Teaneck High School
graduate, entered Princeton along with Volcker. Although
they had been in the same homeroom at Teaneck High for
several years and had been high achievers, they had not
been especially close. Nevertheless, they asked to be room-
mates at Princeton and were assigned a room on the fourth
floor of North Dod. Maloney, who went on to medical
school and practiced for years as an internist at Abington
Memorial Hospital in Abington, Pennsylvania, just outside
Philadelphia, was in awe of Paul. So were the other students
on their dorm floor.5 While they hovered over their work,
they seldom saw Volcker hitting the books. Yet, his grades
were off the charts. Maloney recalls evenings in the dorm
with Volcker. “I’d be sitting at my desk underlining in red,
then underlining in black,” he says. “And there would be
Paul lying on his back on his bed, feet propped up on the
wall, completely relaxed, just flicking through the pages of
his book, just sucking up the knowledge. He never had to
study. He just absorbed everything he heard.”6

Volcker remembers taking notes like other students, but
he hardly broke a sweat. “I was very good at regurgitating
what the professor said,” he says. Although he remembers
working hard in his first few semesters at Princeton, Volcker
says he “worked less and less hard.”

In his senior year, however, Volcker had a close call that
could have delayed his graduation, but ultimately changed
the course of his life. “This [incident] really startles me to this
day,” Volcker says. He was studying economics and history at
the then newly established Woodrow Wilson School of Public
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and International Affairs, which blended studies in political
science, history, and economics. As a graduation requirement,
he needed to write a thesis. But he had been unable to settle
on a theme. Finally, with graduation just half a semester away,
he hit on the idea of writing about the Federal Reserve. He
had taken only one course in money and banking, but the Fed
seemed interesting and he cockily thought: Here is something
I can knock out in a hurry. He had no sense that he would
wind up spending most of his life immersed in the Fed; at the
time, his objective was just to graduate on schedule. When he
got going, the thesis did not come as easily as he had
expected. “I got frantic because I really had to work,” he says.
“I had to get the damn thing done.”

His thesis adviser was Professor Frank D. Graham, a
specialist in international trade. Graham was impressed by
Volcker and encouraged him. “I would take him handwrit-
ten, scribbled chapters and he would comment on them,”
Volcker says. For most of his time at Princeton, Volcker
shied away from the faculty. “I was very bashful about talk-
ing to professors,” he says. “I didn’t think they would have
time for me. I didn’t take full advantage of the opportunity.”
But Professor Graham showered Volcker with attention. He
urged him to apply for a fellowship, earn a Ph.D. in eco-
nomics, and become an economics professor. Volcker pro-
duced a 250-page manuscript entitled, “The Problems of
Federal Reserve Policy Since World War II.”

In the Volcker household it was assumed that Paul, like
two of his sisters, would go on to graduate studies, but he
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felt no particular calling, no burning ambition, nothing driv-
ing him toward anything approaching greatness.

Yet, even without a career goal, he did exceptionally well
academically. Now, later in life, he does not especially want
to focus on his early thinking about career choices. When I
asked him about it, his first line of defense was to brush
away a question with a quip:7

Q. When you were growing up, what did you want 
to be?

A. (Laughter.) Fireman. (More laughter.)

Q. Really?
A. Oh, I’m sure I went through that phase. Everybody—

every boy wants to become a fireman.

Q. One of your roommates at Princeton, Don Maloney,
knew from the time he fixed a damaged bird at age
eight that he wanted to be a doctor.

A. I don’t remember having had any particular aspira-
tion. I surely didn’t have an aspiration to be an econ-
omist.

But he does recall one event that might have influenced
his career path. When Paul was in high school, his father
took him along for some business he had at the state capitol
in Trenton. He introduced his son to the governor, and
young Paul was impressed. “Maybe at one point,” Volcker
says, “I thought it’d probably be nice to be governor of New
Jersey or something.”
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Perhaps most of all, the experience underscored the
prestige of public service to the young Volcker. Though he
spent years navigating Washington, and friends sometimes
suggested he capitalize on what became a national reputa-
tion, Volcker never took steps to try for elected office. He
might have been good at some aspects of electoral politics.
The older he got, the more he shed his early shyness and
mixed easily with strangers. (In New York, years after he
had left the Fed, people would stop him on the sidewalk and
thank him for conquering inflation. He actually enjoyed the
attention and would chat amiably with them.) He was
always a powerful force on the podium, and, of course, his
commanding height might have been somewhat of a plus in
politics. His many appearances before Congress, and his
public relations flair in presenting the antedote to inflation
in simplistic terms while proceeding with an age-old rem-
edy, demonstrated the kind of sophistication and guile that
elected office seems to demand. But whether he had the
skill—or the stomach—to mount a campaign and get elected
was an unresolved question.

As he graduated from Princeton, Volcker did know one
thing: He wanted more education and he wanted it at a
good school. He applied to Harvard and was offered finan-
cial assistance at the law school, the graduate school of arts
and sciences, and the graduate school of public administra-
tion. During most of his life, money would not be a deter-
mining factor in his choices. But at graduate school he went
with the highest bidder, the school of public administration.

Volcker needed the tuition money, since his father had
told him that after Princeton he was on his own. But another
reason for his decision—besides being indifferent to whether
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he studied law or economics—stemmed from his profound
shyness. He had a concrete offer of $1,200 a year from the
Littauer School of Public Administration, which later
became the John F. Kennedy School of Government. The
law school and the school of arts and sciences had not com-
mitted themselves, but Volcker figured their initial offers
would be much lower, and he didn’t want to get into poten-
tially awkward negotiations.

The stipend at the Littauer School was fixed. You won
the fellowship, you got the $1,200. End of conversation. “If
you went to Arts & Sciences or the law achool,” Volcker
says,8 “they asked you how much you wanted. I figured they
were good for $500 or so. I would not have had the gall to
ask them for as much as the school of public administration
had on offer. So that determined my decision.” Then, unable
to resist one of his characteristic dashes of self-deprecating
humor, he adds, “That’s why I’m not now a lawyer.”9

The Littauer School was a creation of the departments of
economics and political science, a combining of disciplines,
much like the Woodrow Wilson School at Princeton. Volcker
took a heavy dose of economics at the Littauer School, and
ended up with a similar but slightly broader education than
if he had gone to the economics department.

Robert Kavesh, an economics professor at the Stern
School of Business at New York University, was a classmate
in graduate school. He and Volcker were in different pro-
grams, Volcker at Littauer and Kavesh in the Graduate
School of Arts & Sciences. But they were both studying eco-
nomics and they became friends.

Kavesh, too, was impressed by Volcker’s ability to stay at
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the top of the class with seemingly little effort. “There were
many students we called greasy grinds,” Kavesh says.10 “They
were people you would never see. They were always study-
ing, studying, studying. Then there were others who were so
brilliant that they never seemed to crack open a book. Paul
was closer to the latter. Some of us would spend vast amounts
of time in the Littauer Reading Room. I don’t think I saw Paul
there twice. If he studied, he may have done it in secret. But I
think he just had this natural gift for understanding things.”

Volcker had a sense of perspective that set him apart
from most other students. “A lot of students were highly
technical, econometricians,” Kavesh says. “They were very
interested in the mathematics of economics. Paul was much
more interested in the bigger picture of how things really fit-
ted together. He was always interested in policy rather than
the minutiae. We had a lot of people coming in with engi-
neering and mathematical backgrounds. This was not Paul’s
thing.”11

After two years at the Littauer School, Volcker received
a master’s degree and had completed the course work for a
Ph.D. in political economy. All that was needed now was to
write his Ph.D. thesis. After learning that the Rotary Club
was offering scholarships for study abroad, Volcker decided
to spend a year in England at the London School of Eco-
nomics (LSE) and write his thesis there.

The LSE turned out to be a perfect place for Volcker. It
put him in the heart of London, a short distance from the
Bank of England, the Houses of Parliament, and the Courts
of Law; and for the first time he was immersed in a different
culture. Volcker arrived in London in the fall of 1951. It was
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six years after the end of World War II, and the British were
struggling. Food was still being rationed and bombed-out
buildings still lay in ruins around the city. Just outside the
gates of the LSE, the ancient church of St. Clement Danes
was a charred wreck, with just the walls and the steeple
standing.

The LSE had become a Mecca for up-and-coming young
people from Britain’s colonies and former colonies in Africa
and Asia. Many of the leaders of the newly independent
countries had studied at the LSE. George Soros, who made
a fortune in currency trading and then spent heavily on phil-
anthropy, and Daniel Patrick Moynihan, the New York
scholar and senator, studied at the LSE in the early 1950s,
though they did not overlap with Volcker.

Dr. Anne Bohm, a Ph.D. in history, was in charge of
graduate students at the LSE in the 1950s and for years
later. To her, Volcker was indistinguishable from the few
hundred other American students at the university. He
lived in a handful of low-rent flats, one of them on Inver-
ness Terrace, not far from her apartment in the Bayswater
section of London. But it was not until years later that they
became friends.12

To Volcker there was more to London than the LSE. As
it turned out, he was even less of a grind there than he had
been at Princeton and Harvard. He rarely went to classes or
seminars and he never got around to writing his thesis.13 But
he developed a deep affection for Britain and traveled
around Europe, unconsciously laying the groundwork for a
career that would center on international economics.

Sometimes he traveled by train, sometimes by bike. His
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entrée was the Rotary Club. “You went from one Rotary
Club to another,” he says. “They put you up. In England, the
Rotary was more like the United States, a middle-class sort of
thing. On the Continent the Rotary was a high-class organi-
zation. It was a little snobbish in France and Switzerland.”

The British social system imposed itself on him. “Ameri-
can students were not nearly as common in England as they
are now,” he says. “They didn’t know what to do with you
because in England you were either working class or you
were a gentleman.” The result was that Volcker and other
American students were given a pass to gentleman status.

Volcker did, in fact, do some studying in London and
attended the lectures of some notable professors. Dr. Bohm
put him under the wing of Richard Sayers, a banking spe-
cialist on the faculty who later wrote a history of the Bank of
England. Like most of the American graduate students at
the LSE then, Volcker was not working toward a degree, but
was enrolled as a research student. “Research students at
LSE can do what they like,” Dr. Bohm said one afternoon in
her London apartment.14 “They can go to any lecture they
want. They can read in the library and they write something
if they wish—or not. All these big names did that, Pat Moyni-
han and the others. Very few of them did a Ph.D.” Volcker
often attended Sayers’s weekly banking seminars and some-
times dropped in on seminars given by Lionel Robbins, an
economist who later became chairman of The Financial Times.
“Students would sit around on the floor and reminisce with
him,” Volcker recalls.

Banking, and money, became central to Volcker. It was
in that lone banking course he’d taken at Princeton with
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Frederick Lutz, an Austrian who had left his country as the
Nazis were gaining strength, where a lifelong interest in
banking was ignited. Whatever it was that caught his inter-
est, the seeds were planted by Lutz, as well as by Oskar
Morganstern, a Princeton professor who was a pioneer in
game theory. At Harvard, Volcker studied money and
banking and public finance under Alvin Hansen, a propo-
nent of Keynesian theories of government stimulation of
economies and an adviser in the creation of the Social Secu-
rity system. He studied international trade with Gottfried
Haberler, an influential writer on business cycles and on
currency exchange rates.15

Volcker’s thesis was another remarkable element in the
journey of a man who even in his later years steadfastly con-
tended that he never had a game plan for his life but merely
shuffled along taking things as they came to him, not wor-
rying in the least about succeeding in a career. In retrospect,
the theme he chose to write about in London, like the thesis
he happened to write at Princeton, could not have been
more perfectly arranged as preparation for the job of chair-
man of the American central bank.

Largely because he spoke only English, Volcker decided
to use the Rotary scholarship in London, and since he was
going to be in England he decided his thesis would be a com-
parison of the central banks of Britain and the United States.
And, of course, he had already done a fair amount of the
heavy lifting in his Princeton paper.

So Volcker decided to look into how the two banks han-
dled interest rates, foreign exchange issues, and regulation.
One big difference, he discovered immediately, was that
Britain had a half dozen countrywide banks with hundreds
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of branches, compared with thousands of individual banks
in the United States, and that raised a range of questions.

“When you had this highly unitary banking structure in
England, how did that affect how loans were controlled,
interest rates and regulations and so forth,” Volcker says.
“I’ve still got some 5 × 7 cards where I took a few notes.”16

The Rotary gave him wonderful access. And sometimes
faculty at the LSE would pave the way for him. “I’d call up a
bank, say I wanted to see somebody,” he says. “I got to see the
chairman of the bank, for God’s sake.” But when Volcker left
England at the end of his Rotary scholarship, after 15 months
at the LSE, his thesis was still no more than a pile of notes.

Back home in Teaneck, Volcker’s parents invited a few of
Paul’s friends over to celebrate his return. One of them was
Donald W. Maloney, his roommate from Princeton. Mal-
oney brought along Barbara Bahnson, the strikingly attrac-
tive daughter of a general practice physician in Jersey City,
New Jersey. Barbara, a student at Pembroke College, the sis-
ter college then to Brown University, met Maloney through
her brother, Bill. Bill Bahnson and Don were classmates at
the Harvard University Medical School and fellow summer
Reserve Officer Training Corps cadets at Fort Sam Houston
in San Antonio, Texas.

Barbara had heard a lot about Paul Volcker before she laid
eyes on him that night in Teaneck.17 But nothing had prepared
her for the real thing. “Everybody was standing up around
the table, and Paul was toasting the Queen,” she said.18

She was five-foot-seven, exactly a foot shorter than Paul.
He was the tallest man she’d ever met. And, to her, this
quiet, serious young man with a talent for economic analy-
sis was “certainly the funniest.” She felt a spark, and decided
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Paul was her man. She got some friends to organize a cock-
tail party and invited him.19 “She called me up and said, 
‘Oh, we just happened to—some friends and I are having a
party and we thought you might want to come,’ ” Volcker
recalls.20 He went to the party. But his interests were else-
where. “I had a girlfriend at that point,” he says. “She was in
England.”21

Distance did not help the London relationship, though,
and besides, Barbara was determined. She offered to do
some typing for Paul.22 Finally, he suggested they go out. “It
was an uphill fight for two years,” Barbara said.23 In the end,
she hit him with a tactic that has done wonders with men
over the centuries. “I started going out with someone else,”
she said.24 But even then it was Barbara who proposed. “I
really went after him,” she said.25 They were married on Sep-
tember 11, 1954.

At the time of his marriage, Volcker was working at the
Fed in New York. With seven years of college behind him,
he was making $3,000 a year.26 Barbara, who had gone to
work after getting her bachelor’s degree, was at Colgate-
Palmolive earning only about $500 less27 as one of the
assistants (they were then called executive secretaries) to
the chairman of the board of the company, E. H. Little.28

It was not until years later that economists, even in gov-
ernment service, began to draw much higher pay. Volcker
did not have high expectations for the future. Indeed, he
told Barbara “that he would never amount to much and
would probably wind up working in some dark office as an
economist, wearing his green eyeshade and making only
$6,000 a year.”29
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The Volckers had no idea what lay ahead for them, but
Paul’s hunch about his poor earning potential, while exag-
gerated, was closer to the truth than he could know. The
man who would conquer inflation would soon face some of
the greatest battles—personal and professional—of his life.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

HARDSHIP
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Paul Volcker’s appointment as chairman of the Federal
Reserve Board, one of the most influential jobs in Amer-
ica, was not an entirely joyous event for his family. While

settling into his new professional position, Volcker was
forced to deal with personal issues as well. His wife and two
children, then 24 and 21, recognized the accomplishment,
but they all knew that the new job would mean additional
hardship for a family that had already endured plenty of
adversity. With the new position, the Volckers would be sep-
arated for years and  strained financially.

Volcker’s wife of 25 years, Barbara, had followed him to
Washington and back to New York twice, packing up the
furniture and china, helping to sell the old house, buy a new
one, and build a new social circle. But now, mainly for
health reasons, she did not feel she could do it a third time.
She had been afflicted with diabetes all her life and by the
time Volcker was chosen to run the Fed she was also suffer-
ing from rheumatoid arthritis, a painful, crippling disease
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that attacks the joints and bones. Each of these diseases
imposed heavy demands; together, they gradually con-
sumed her life. By the summer of 1979, when President
Carter summoned Volcker, Barbara Volcker, at the age of
49, strikingly attractive and as outgoing and entertaining as
her husband was reserved, had begun frequently wearing
braces on her lower legs and increasingly resorting to a
wheelchair.

After their latest move to New York, Barbara met Michael
D. Lockshin, a specialist in rheumatoid arthritis, at New York
University’s Hospital for Special Surgery in Manhattan. Dr.
Lockshin, a quiet, engaging man with the wiry build of a
cross-country runner and a voice that sometimes dropped to
a whisper, treated her arthritis and became her confidant and
adviser on virtually everything else. The whole family liked
him and he occasionally came to the Volckers’ dinner parties,
joining such guests as Bill Moyers of public television and Ed
Koch, the former congressman and mayor of New York. Bar-
bara could not bear to think of looking for a substitute for Dr.
Lockshin in Washington.

There was yet another health concern for the Volckers.
Their younger child, James Paul Volcker, had been born with
cerebral palsy. He had endured half a dozen surgeries that
enabled him to walk haltingly with a pair of canes. But in the
summer of 1979, Jimmy, as he was known then, was just com-
ing out of a stretch of depression and anorexia that had begun
to take hold in his last year of high school. The illness—a kind
of melancholy that was never fully defined, but that Jim later
attributed “to the usual adolescent anxieties, combined with
my feelings of dealing with the handicap”—led him to drop
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out of Brown University after one semester.1 Thinking he
might do better on a smaller campus, he spent a semester at
Hamilton College in upstate New York, but it was not to his
liking, either. As his father was poised to wrestle the nation’s
economy, Jimmy was attending New York University in
Manhattan and frequently spending the weekends uptown at
the Volckers’ East Side apartment. He had developed a good
relationship with Dr. Peter Kim, his psychotherapist. Given
the relative stability that Jimmy now found in New York, it did
not seem like an ideal time for him to be moving to Washing-
ton, and he was not ready to be on his own. It had been a long
haul for Jimmy, particularly during his last year of high
school. Finding Dr. Kim had been a blessing.

Back in 1975, instead of going to New York with their
parents when Volcker became president of the New York
Fed, the children had stayed in Washington. Janice was
going into her third year in the nursing program at George-
town University, and Jimmy was in his last year at St.
Albans, the elite Episcopal boys school at the National
Cathedral. For the first time, he would be living on the cam-
pus as a boarding student. During the first half of Jimmy’s
senior year, Barbara Volcker remained in Washington, close
to the children. Paul lived with Barbara’s parents in Jersey
City and commuted to the New York Fed in the Wall Street
district. When they could, they shopped for a co-op apart-
ment in New York. It was a good time to be house hunting:
The city was in the midst of a fiscal crisis and the bottom
had dropped out of the real estate market. They wound up
with a big apartment in one of the most desirable neighbor-
hoods at a stunningly low price. In early 1976, Barbara and
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Paul moved into the apartment on the Upper East Side and
Janice and Jimmy were on their own in Washington.

In that last year, something began to go wrong with
Jimmy. “I lost a lot of my self-confidence,” he said later.2 He
began to think that, because of his cerebral palsy, his friends
were preoccupied with the thought that he might stumble
and fall—as indeed he often did—and hurt himself. How
could they possibly have fun at a party, he asked himself, 
if they were worrying about his well-being? No one ever
raised the issue with him, he said, and he is not sure where
he got the idea. But it was real to him.

Jim also started to cut way back on eating. He was 5 feet,
11 inches tall, and, at one point, his weight dropped to 105
pounds, about 40 pounds below normal for him. Had he
dropped another five pounds, Dr. Kim was ready to recom-
mend hospitalization.

Jim had tried another psychiatrist before starting with Dr.
Kim. Some of Dr. Kim’s work, as Jim recalls, was very
straightforward. “I was losing weight and my parents were
extremely concerned,” Jim says. “I was never officially diag-
nosed, but I had the classic anorexic mind: I was going to get
fat and how was I going to work it off? Dr. Kim would say
simple things: ‘I want you, as you’re going around the city, if
you’re hungry and you see something you want to eat, just
go in and buy it and eat it. Don’t worry about having to work
it off.’ Simple things like that. And over time it worked.”

Volcker had to fly to Puerto Rico for business in 1978
while he was running the New York Fed, and Jim, still badly
underweight, was starting to take a few classes at New York
University. He took Jim along. On the way home, they
stopped in the Florida Keys to go bonefishing. The trip
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turned out to be a form of therapy. At every meal, father and
son stuffed themselves. “He always made sure we had full
meals,” Jim says. “They were not necessarily fancy, but we
fed ourselves well.”

Though the family acknowledged the hardship that
accepting the chairman’s position would bring, they did not
spend much time debating the issue. Jimmy was visiting his
grandmother in Lyons, New York, on the Erie canal, when
his father received President Carter’s offer. Volcker tele-
phoned his son with the news. “Of course I was supportive,”
Jim said later. “I told my father, ‘You should do it.’”

Barbara Volcker may have understood the inevitability
of her husband’s decision even better than Volcker himself.
“He is not confident about himself in some ways,” she told a
reporter for Time magazine after Volcker had been chairman
for a few years. “But in his field, he is more sure of himself
than anybody I have ever known. It may sound egotistical,
but I believe that he thinks he is the only man in the country
who can do the job. It is the culmination of everything that
he has done in his professional life.”3

At Volcker’s swearing-in in the East Room of the White
House on August 6, 1979, Barbara, their son and daughter,
her parents, and his sister Virginia were at his side. But only
Volcker would be moving to Washington. Barbara had
decided to remain in New York with Jimmy. “You go,” she
told Volcker. “I stay.”4

As Volcker took charge at the Fed, he and Barbara
agreed that he would take a shuttle flight home from Wash-
ington on weekends as often as he could and that sometimes
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Barbara would fly down to spend time with him in the capi-
tal. That worked well at the beginning of Volcker’s tenure:
Barbara would often be in Washington and Paul frequently
flew to New York. But as Barbara’s health deteriorated and
she began to feel less social, the frequency of these visits
trailed off. “Over time,” their son infers, “I think the stresses
that you might imagine would occur with the separation
became more evident.”5

One tension grew out of Barbara’s increasing belief that
in social situations in Washington, at receptions and dinners,
no one really wanted to talk to her. As far as she could tell,
she was merely an appendage of the chairman of the Federal
Reserve. Volcker and the children tried to reassure her. But
she only became more convinced of her own judgment.

“When he was at the Treasury, one thing you remember
about her was her humor,” Jim Volcker says. “She was
chatty in a way that my Dad was not. She could engage any-
body in conversation.”6

Barbara seemed to enjoy Volcker’s first two assignments
in Washington. “She made friends more easily than I did,”
Volcker says.7 “Washington is an easy place to be sociable
because there are a lot of new people around and every-
body’s looking to be friends. And she made a lot of good
friends, mostly people who were also in government.

“But when I became chairman and she wasn’t feeling so
well, she had this syndrome increasingly that many women
do, and she had a bad case, that the only reason anybody
pays any attention to me is because of you. This is a very
common feeling among Washington wives. They don’t think
they have any identity other than through their husbands.
But she had it in spades. She’d come down to Washington
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once in a while. But she didn’t take the pleasure in it that she
had earlier. And it was an annoyance to me, frankly, because,
first of all, it was nice to have her down there to go to some
of these things that I was always getting invited to.”

According to her family and friends, Barbara had
always had a tart manner. She was not mean-spirited, but
she was intolerant of pomposity and immodesty and she
did not automatically accept that high office suggested a
high-quality intellect or commitment to public service. “She
was very good at puncturing pretensions,” Volcker says.8

“But that was kind of nice. She didn’t do it in a nasty way.
People really liked to be with her at dinner parties, but she
just refused to recognize that, even though when she went,
she would enjoy herself.”

One family relationship actually grew stronger while
Volcker was chairman of the Fed. By the time he returned to
Washington in 1979, his daughter, Janice, had graduated
from Georgetown and was working as an assistant nursing
coordinator at the university hospital. She lived across the
Potomac River in Arlington, Virginia, and father and daugh-
ter managed to see quite a lot of each other. Sometimes
when he needed a partner for a dinner at the White House
or some other grand occasion and Barbara was not avail-
able, Volcker would take Janice.

Despite Volcker’s tendency against emotional displays,
there were some tender moments between the two. The
night before Janice was to be married in September of
1981, she went to visit her father at his apartment in Wash-
ington. Her mother was there, too, down from New York.
Janice was having second thoughts about the wedding. “I
really got the jitters,” she says.9 That night, Volcker and his
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daughter walked around and around the block, talking and
thinking. “We must have walked around the block 20
times,” she says. He was the father every young woman
would want; he did not push her one way or the other. “He
just said, ‘Just do whatever you need to do. Go with your
heart; it will work out.’ ” He would be with her, whatever
she decided.

The next day, September 19, Janice was married in the
National Cathedral to Christian Zima, the handsome brother
of her best girlfriend in high school and a sales representa-
tive for a company that supplied packaged cuts of beef to
hotels and restaurants. She was 26 years old; he was 30 and
divorced. They toasted each other at a reception at the exclu-
sive Cosmos Club, where for generations presidents and con-
gressmen and Washington power brokers have gathered.
They now live in a rambling home with a big yard in the Vir-
ginia suburbs and are the parents of three boys.

As Fed chairman, Volcker was recognized by millions of
Americans as one of the most powerful figures in Washing-
ton, confident and assertive. But the man that Americans
saw on television and the covers of national magazines led a
strikingly humble private life.

In one of the peculiarities of the Federal Reserve, when
Volcker went from being the president of one of the 12
regional banks to being chairman of the entire system, he
took a 50 percent pay cut.10 Oddly, for a man who had risen
to a position of influence over every American’s money,
Volcker had never been particularly concerned about his
own pay. He was not a big spender and he always had what
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he considered to be enough money, at least until his annual
salary dropped from $110,000 to $55,000.

Rummaging through some old files in 2003, Volcker
came across a pay slip for the first seven months of the year
after he’d been chairman for two or three years. It showed
earnings of $39,000, suggesting his annual pay had risen to
about $67,000. But after federal taxes, District of Columbia
taxes, a 7 percent contribution to the federal pension plan, a
withdrawal for Social Security, his share of his medical cov-
erage and some other deductions, Volcker’s take home pay
for about half a year’s work came to about $19,000.

On his own in Washington, beyond the marbled corri-
dors of the Fed, Congress, and the White House, Volcker
lived more like a graduate student than a prince of power and
influence. Some evenings, of course, he was invited for din-
ner at the White House, and he was a popular extra man at
exclusive gatherings at salons around the capital. But at the
end of the evening he went home to a bare apartment fur-
nished with an extra long bed, a couple of chairs, a kitchen
table, a chest of drawers—just the essentials. He watched the
news on a 10-inch black-and-white television set.11

In a city where most offices start to empty out around
four or five in the afternoon, Volcker was often at his desk
into the early evening. On nights when there were no dinner
invitations, he would head off to a modest restaurant; one of
his favorites was an unassuming place called Marrocco’s,
where he was likely to order a single domestic beer rather
than pay extra for an import.12 Volcker had been frugal
throughout his life, but now, living in an expensive city on a
shrunken income with medical expenses at home increasing,
he especially had to watch his spending.
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One might think, given Volcker’s prominence in the
world of high finance, that he took his trademark thriftiness
a bit too far. His first apartment in Washington was in such
a rough neighborhood that he worried about being mugged.
After a few weeks, Volcker moved to a one-bedroom apart-
ment on F Street, near the campus of George Washington
University. Most of his neighbors in the apartment building
were university students, and on some weekends he had to
weave around sweating kegs of beer and blaring loudspeak-
ers in the corridors.13 When Volcker visited his daughter he
would take a suitcase stuffed with dirty laundry to run
through her washing machine, just as some students did
when they went home. The monthly rent in early 1982,
after he’d been there for nearly three years, was $394.14

But for Volcker, the simple life was no ordeal. “You’re the
chairman of the Federal Reserve,” Volcker says. “You’re busy
anyway. You could live in a one-room apartment down there.
What difference did it make? People would invite you to par-
ties and not expect you to return the hospitality and all the
rest.”15 Though almost certainly not something Volcker
thought out, the austerity underscored his disdain for mate-
rialism and added to his legendary reputation for integrity.
But for Barbara there was no reward for coping with a tight
budget. “She’s sitting up in New York trying to make ends
meet and taking care of her son and worrying about him and
not having any money,” Volcker says. “She felt desperate.”

To raise money, Barbara took a job as a bookkeeper and
administrator for a small architecture firm in New York. For
a while, she rented a room in the Volckers’ Manhattan
apartment to a man who lived in the suburbs and owned a
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small printing business in the city.16 “The strain was on her,
not me,” Volcker says. “I didn’t need any money, because I
wasn’t spending any money.”

It was not an arrangement Volcker would have chosen.
But he and the family agreed there was no way he could
have walked away from a chance to run the Federal Reserve.
He had to do it.

Barbara Volcker was seven months old when her father,
Dr. Conrad Bahnson, a family physician in Jersey City, New
Jersey, realized that she had juvenile-onset diabetes. Now
known as Type I diabetes, it is the most severe form of the
disease and the least common.17 In 1930, when Barbara was
born, early-onset diabetes was a deadly disease; most people
who had it died in their twenties or thirties.

When Barbara and Paul were dating, she would tease—
in her edgy way of blending the macabre with the mun-
dane—that they would never get married because she would
not be living that long. But the prospects for diabetics had
improved markedly. After their wedding, Barbara was deter-
mined to have children. It was the 1950s and, like many cou-
ples then, the Volckers did not agonize over whether and
when to have children. The ethos was that being married
meant becoming parents.

But for a diabetic like Barbara, pregnancy and childbirth
were extremely risky. Mothers and infants often died in the
process, and many children who survived suffered severe
side effects.18 The Volckers knew the risks, but Barbara was
encouraged by the success that Dr. Priscilla White had been
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having at the Joslin Clinic in Boston working with pregnant
diabetics. From childhood, Barbara had been treated at the
clinic, now the Joslin Center for Diabetes, and at about the
time of her marriage she talked with Dr. White about hav-
ing children.

Within months of her marriage, Barbara was pregnant.
The next summer, in late June or early July, in about her
eighth month of pregnancy, Barbara checked into the Boston
Lying-in Hospital, a teaching unit of the Harvard Medical
School that is now known as Brigham and Women’s Hospi-
tal. Janice Louise Volcker was born on August 20, 1955, in
perfect health.

Two years later, encouraged by the smooth delivery 
of Janice, Barbara was pregnant with James. Again she
checked into the Lying-in Hospital well before her due date,
but this time things did not go well.

Barbara went into labor early. Further complications
developed, and James was delivered by Caesarean section.
“It was a big emergency,” Volcker says.19 “He almost died.
We didn’t know if he was going to live. He was a month or
so premature.”

Their son, they later learned, was suffering with hya-
line membrane disease, a respiratory ailment then com-
mon among premature infants. It disrupted the flow of
oxygen to the brain. The second son of President John F.
Kennedy, Patrick Bouvier Kennedy, had been born with
the condition and died within two days in the summer of
1963, a few months before Kennedy was assassinated.

After a short time, James was able to go home with his
parents, and at first he seemed to be doing fine. But he did
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not crawl the way infants usually do, and his parents thought
they noticed something unusual about his legs.

“He was eight or nine months old when he was diag-
nosed,” Volcker says. “We took him up to Boston. I don’t
know whether it was the Joslin Clinic or some other place.
But some expert or experts looked at him and told us that
he had cerebral palsy.”20

It was not among the severe cases, and in fact, James’
mind was well developed. At age five or six he would occa-
sionally pick up The New York Times from the coffee table and
read a few sentences. At a nursery school for handicapped
children he gave the four-year-old version of a valedictory
address on graduation day. But he could not control his legs.
He wore braces, and, when he was about five years old, Paul
had a wooden rig made of a sheet of thick plywood with two
stubby, thick dowels rising from it to enable Jimmy to stand
and strengthen his legs. Volcker would take the contraption
out to the front yard of their home in Chevy Chase, Mary-
land, and strap Jimmy in, left leg to left dowel, right leg to
right dowel. Then he would hand Jimmy a little baseball bat
and begin lobbing balls to him. While hitting the balls was
fun for the little boy, it was also a form of physical therapy
that added muscle to Jimmy’s upper body as well as his legs.
“My dad would spend hours with me,” Jim says.21

When he was four years old, the Volckers sent Jimmy to
a nursery school run by the Crippled Children’s Society of
Washington, D.C. In the mornings there were classes follow-
ing the teaching philosophy of Maria Montessori; in the
afternoons, physical therapy. But the Volckers wanted Jimmy
to be in the mainstream. And the sympathetic comments 
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Barbara endured on Jimmy’s behalf—“It’s okay, the next one
will be fine”—only made her more determined to help him
overcome his limitations and lead an independent life.

When Jimmy was six, Barbara spoke to Bob Barrows, the
head of the Mater Dei School, a small Roman Catholic boys’
school in Bethesda, Maryland. The school had never had a
handicapped student, but Barrows decided to give Jimmy a
chance. He got along fine and attended first and second
grade there while Janice attended public school nearby.

When Volcker left the Treasury and returned to Chase
in New York in 1965, the family moved to Montclair, New
Jersey, just outside New York City, and Janice and Jimmy
went to public schools. Four years later, as Volcker returned
to Washington, Jimmy went back to Mater Dei for the sixth,
seventh, and eighth grades. For high school, he went to St.
Albans. As at Mater Dei, Jimmy was once again the only
handicapped student at his school.

“I feel blessed to have been born to pretty enlightened
people,” Jim says.22 “They always encouraged me to be as
independent as possible, in terms of my mobility and deal-
ing with the able-bodied world. Each of my parents dealt
with it in different ways. My mother did certain things for
me in a classical motherly way. My dad would be the one, he
was sort of tough-love. Too strong at times, maybe. But he
was the one who pushed me.”

One example of this involves the New York City subway
system, a network of tunnels and trains that were new to Jim
when he first arrived in New York after graduating from 
St. Albans to rejoin his parents in their Upper East Side apart-
ment. Jim suggested that he and his dad take a subway ride
as a way to become more familiar with the transit system. His
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father surprised him by replying: “Why don’t you take a
ride?”23 “That’s his style,” Jim says. “ ‘You go out and see
how you manage yourself’ and, the implication was, ‘We’ll
talk about it later.’”

So, balancing on his canes as usual, Jim made his way
tentatively down the steep stairs of the subway, bought a
token, shuffled through the turnstiles in the strange under-
ground world, and finally boarded a train. “As it happened,”
he says, “I was fine. And I got to know my way around the
subways pretty well. I’m sure my dad loved me just as much
as my mother did. He just manifested it differently.”24

Janice remembered a similar experience with her father
when her husband’s company scaled back and he lost his
job. “He ended up going into business by himself and he
hated it and it was sort of one thing after another,” Janice
says.25 “I’ve always felt like my Dad’s been supportive. But
his response has almost always been, ‘Well, okay, pick your-
self up by your bootstraps and get going.’ You know? ‘It’s
going to be tough. Take a hard swallow and just get going.’
It’s not candy-coated. He’s there to lend an ear, but he doesn’t
give you a quick fix. He’s sympathetic. But he lets you figure
it out on your own.”

That sympathetic but firm line was very much what
America saw in Paul Volcker as he worked to stifle inflation.
His measures made life difficult for many people. He knew
he was causing pain, but he felt he could not ease up and
lend a figurative hand to struggling Americans, as previous
chairmen had. To do so, the record suggested, was likely to
cause another surge of inflation. So he held steady and, in
the end, inflation ebbed and the country was off to one of its
longest stretches of prosperity in history.
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Volcker’s son-in-law could not help but admire the man.
But sometimes his sense of propriety was mildly irritating.
Shortly after their marriage, with the 1981–1982 recession
casting a pall over real estate, Christian Zima and Janice
Volcker decided to buy a house. They found an attractive
place at what seemed liked a very low price, but they were
going to have to pay about 20 percent interest on the mort-
gage. “He would never help us,” Zima says of Volcker.26 It
was not a question of financial assistance. “He would never
even answer a question,” Zima said, “Like, ‘Is this a good
time to do this?’ He would never answer any of those ques-
tions. He would just mumble and change the subject.”

When Volcker did extend a bit of advice, it boiled down
to: Do the right thing, even if it hurts. At one point, Zima,
who is now an addiction counselor, was working for the John
Hancock Insurance Company. He got an offer from Cigna, a
competitor, and accepted. Then John Hancock countered
with more money. Zima remembers Volcker asking him,
“Well, did you give this other company your word?”

“I said, ‘Yeah.’ ”
“He says, ‘Well, what’s your decision then?’”
“I wanted to go back to Hancock because they’d given

me a better offer,” Zima said later, “but I’d already made a
commitment, so I went with Cigna.”

Volcker did not suffer high jinks well, and Janice was the
rebellious child in the Volcker household. In Washington,
the Volckers sent Janice to Sidwell Friends School, a presti-
gious private high school that has a history of enrolling stu-
dents from prominent Washington families. At the time,
Janice often drove a red Ford Falcon convertible. In a rare
extravagance, her father had bought the car for himself. “It
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was a big deal, I remember, when he bought the car,” Janice
says.27 It was not that the Falcon, a very modest car, had been
expensive. But, a convertible? A red convertible? He was
undersecretary of the Treasury for monetary affairs in the
Nixon administration at the time, and it was not the flashy
kind of car people in his circle drove. Father and daughter
began to share the car. When Volcker used it, he parked in
an official lot across the street from the White House with
space for the three top officials at the Treasury. At the time,
Nixon was in the midst of fighting his way through the
Watergate scandal. One day Janice slapped a bumper sticker
on the Falcon: “Impeach the President.” Volcker, of course,
could not drive the car to the White House with that thing
on it, and the bumper sticker quickly came off.28

Neither Jim nor Janice recalls any specific career advice
from their parents. Volcker never suggested they study at
Princeton, as he did, or that they consider the field of eco-
nomics and finance. “I went to him a couple of times and
said, ‘What do you think I should do?’” Jim recalls.29 “And
he would say, ‘It’s up to you.’ He was always very support-
ive. But what he would say to me was that you should do
what you enjoy. When I was younger that was kind of frus-
trating.”

As a matter of meeting the requirements at New York
University, Jim signed up for a freshman course in econom-
ics. To his delight, the subject excited him. His father was
still president of the Federal Reserve Bank in New York and
living in the family’s Manhattan apartment when Jim took
that first economics course, and he was able to turn to one
of the world’s top practitioners when he was stumped. “It
was great to have my dad home at the time,” he says. “He
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was a great Socratic teacher. You would ask him a question
and his answer would be: ‘Well, what do you think?’ We
would spend quite a bit of time talking about economics and
specific problems I had and working through them.”

In February of 1982, Jim graduated from NYU with a
bachelor’s degree in economics. He had worked summers
at the New York office of the Bank of First Boston and 
at Schroders Bank & Trust Co. After graduation, he joined
Schroders full-time as an economic analyst in the office of
Geoffrey Bell, a family friend who was overseeing invest-
ments in the United States for foreign central banks. Jim
stayed at Schroders when Bell went off to form his own
investment firm, Geoffrey Bell & Company, but he eventu-
ally shifted to commercial banking at the National West-
minster Bank USA.

In the summer of 1992, Jim’s life changed in a big way.
He was invited to the wedding of a friend, and there met
Martha deJong. They were married a year later. Martha still
had another year to go at Emory to get her MBA. Jim’s
solution was to take a leave from NatWest and move to
Atlanta. When they returned to New York, his job at the
bank had disappeared in the merger of NatWest with the
Fleet Bank. He began working as an administrator on a
research project at the NYU medical school and eventually
received a master’s degree from the university in public
administration. In 1999, Jim and Martha became parents,
adopting an infant girl from China. They also decided to
move to Boston to be closer to Martha’s family. With the
arrival of their daughter, Jennifer, Martha became a full-time
mother. Jim, the grant administrator at Children’s Hospital
in Boston, was the sole breadwinner for his family.
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Until he met Martha at the age of 35, Jim Volcker had
chosen to live at home with his parents—a frustration for his
father. Jim had a good job and money was no problem. Part
of the reason was his mother’s health. Jim and his mother
had grown extremely close during the time Volcker had
been living apart from them in Washington. Her health
grew steadily worse; she had the first of several heart attacks
in the late 1980s while visiting Volcker toward the end of his
term as chairman. With his father in Washington and his
mother getting progressively worse, Jim felt a strong pull to
stay with her. “I felt I couldn’t leave,” he says. “If I moved
out, she would have felt lonely and I would have felt guilty.”

His reticence was mainly emotional. Barbara’s physical
needs were taken care of by others. A woman who had
begun as a housekeeper for the Volckers learned to give Bar-
bara insulin injections and watch over her. She was with Bar-
bara every day, and eventually Barbara had nursing care
around the clock. When Volcker left the Fed in 1987 and
moved back home to New York, Jim was still unwilling to
leave. Volcker traveled frequently and Jim took that as justi-
fication for staying. “My dad was as present as he could be,”
Jim says. “But he wasn’t there 100 percent of the time.”

Jim would see his mother in the mornings, head off to
work, and then spend the evenings with her. They talked
and kept each other company. “We talked about baseball a
lot,” Jim says. “She was a great baseball fan. She loved the
Mets. They were my team, too, when they were good. Pro-
gressively, it was just watching TV at the kitchen table.”

Volcker thought his son and wife were developing an
unhealthy emotional dependence upon each other. The two
of them, Jim and Barbara, realized he had a point. But they
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could not make a break. “In hindsight, I probably should
have been going out doing my own thing,” Jim says. “But I
felt that if this is social support for my mother, given what
she had done for me while I was growing up, I could do this
for her. My dad encouraged me to go. I was obviously aware
I had to get out. She seemed to like my being there and
being a source of support. Yet if you were to ask her, she
would also realize she needed to give me my independence.
I think she felt very frustrated at her own lack of indepen-
dence, increasingly, so that she felt conflicted.”

Because of Barbara’s diabetes, there had been many
frightening times for the family. She had developed good
instincts about her insulin levels and, like other diabetics,
she usually tested blood samples during the day. But some-
times her best efforts failed, and she would go into insulin
shock as her blood sugar levels fell. “One thing that happens
is you get confused,” Volcker said.30 “You don’t quite know
what you’re doing. You may sweat. You’ll get a cold sweat. I
guess you get a little weakness after awhile. But mainly you
get confused. I mean, this would happen frequently. But
when it’s severe and there’s nobody around, you could lose
consciousness. And that happened a few times. You’d get a
frantic call.”

It happened once when Volcker was at the Treasury and
Janice, then a small child, was home with her mother. “She
had taken a nap,” Janice says,31 “and when she woke up she
began acting crazy. Then she lay back down and I couldn’t
get her to wake up. I called his office. I didn’t know it was an
emergency at the time. I can’t even remember how old I
was. Then I ended up calling back and I said, ‘I really think
there’s something the matter.’ They told me he was in a
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meeting or something. But he got on the phone right away
and came home, and then he called an ambulance.”

Barbara seemed to have been in a semi-coma. Volcker
squirted a sugary substance into her mouth to try to revive
her. Sometimes, Volcker would give Barbara a teaspoon of
honey or a cube of sugar. “If it was mild,” he said, “you’d do
it with a piece of candy. If you feel one coming on in time,
you take candy. You always have to have candy with you. It
would get a little scary. And it’s difficult sometimes because
she wouldn’t be conscious enough to take it and swallow it.”

Jim was with her through many of these episodes. “In a
severe case she would be perspiring and totally disoriented,”
he says. “In the middle of the night she would sit and turn
on the light and call out: ‘Help. I need help.’ ”

One of the attacks came in the middle of the night when
Volcker was in Washington. “I knew what to do from years
of experience,” Jim says.32 “But it was still kind of scary for
me. I ended up calling my dad at 2:00 A.M. and he kind of
coached me through it.”

For most of their life together, Volcker and his wife had a
close, warm relationship. She was a sounding board and
confidante. “He didn’t discuss monetary policy and the nitty
gritty of the job,” Jim says.33 “But in terms of career moves
and impact on the family, he would talk about things like
that. In terms of dealing with different personalities on the
Fed board, that kind of stuff, she was very good at listening.
And she was smart enough to offer good advice. She was
very supportive of his work. He had a tendency to pace and
talk at the same time and I remember my mother sitting
there and listening to him and discussing things. To that
degree, it was a real partnership.”
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One common result of Type I diabetes is arteriosclerosis,
a narrowing and hardening of the arteries. Sometime in the
early 1990s it began to affect Barbara’s mind. “She wasn’t
getting enough blood to her brain,” says her brother Bill
Bahnson, a retired psychiatrist.34 Because of the rheumatoid
arthritis, she was also often in a great deal of pain. Gradu-
ally, the spunky, determined woman that Volcker and the
children deeply loved became a different person, trans-
formed by degenerative forces that no one could stop. She
became harsh. “She could be mean, biting people’s heads
off,” Jim says. “She could really lash out,” says Janice.

It was puzzling and hard for everyone, including her
daughter, the trained nurse. “I never quite understood,” Jan-
ice says,35 “if my mother’s anger was—in the end—organic, or
if it was depression, or if it was anger at something that she
just couldn’t control anymore. I don’t know what it was. Of
course, it was really hard to take when you were right in the
midst of it. But you could step back and say, ‘Okay, I under-
stand where this is coming from,’ but my dad had to live
with it day in and day out. And I don’t know how he did
that.”

Volcker did what he always did. He stayed the course.
“People get sick,” he says.36 “The person gets angry and
upset, isn’t communicating maybe and doesn’t want to com-
municate. It’s a mess.”

The distress, the changed personality, went on for five
years or so. Barbara died on June 14, 1998 at 68 years old.
She had been on the brink for months, but her death
nonetheless hit Volcker hard. Janice had seen her usually
controlled father emotionally shaken only one other time,
when his sister Louise died.
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Shortly before Barbara’s death, Volcker, who by then
had earned a healthy salary in his post–Federal Reserve
career as an investment banker, decided to create a unit at
New York’s Hospital for Special Surgery in her memory.
With a $1.5 million contribution,37 he established the Bar-
bara Volcker Center for Women and Rheumatic Disease;
Dr. Lockshin, her favorite doctor, agreed to become the
director. It has become a base for his research on rheuma-
toid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases and on why
they befall women much more frequently than men.
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CHAPTER EIGHT

DIFFICULT CHOICES
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On a mission to conquer inflation, Volcker started off as
chairman of the Fed with a bang. To a large extent the bat-
tle was psychological: If Americans thought inflation was

going to continue to be a way of life, as it had been since the
days of the Vietnam War, they would keep driving up prices
and demanding higher wages to stay ahead of the game.
Some Americans were making money off inflation.1 But Vol-
cker knew that runaway inflation was ultimately destructive,
because at some point money became worthless and the
economy collapsed. No one knew exactly where the breaking
point was, but with inflation already running at an annual
rate of about 13 percent, Volcker was deeply concerned.

As he saw it, he was the sheriff called in to restore eco-
nomic order. His job was to convince Americans that infla-
tion was being crushed and that they no longer needed to
keep spending for their own protection. He thought of it as
changing people’s expectations. If they began to think that
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prices would not keep going up, they would no longer be
rushing to stay ahead of the spending curve.

The danger—and, some of Volcker’s critics said, the
probability—was that people simply would not cut back on
spending until they were forced to; in other words, not until
the economy stalled, a lot more people lost jobs, and those
people just could not maintain their old patterns. “You hope
to get such a change in expectations that you have a minimal
effect on actual economic activity,” Volcker says.2 But one
way or another, he was going to try to break the fever. In his
scenario, prices and interest rates would then begin to fall,
there probably would be at least a mild recession, and then,
hopefully, an orderly recovery.

Eight days after taking the oath of office, Volcker struck his
first blow, leading his colleagues on the Federal Open Market
Committee in a vote on August 14 to sharply raise the key fed-
eral funds rate—the interest rate that banks charge each other
for loans. No one outside the Fed could be sure how much
rates had been raised because in those days there was no offi-
cial announcement for several weeks on decisions by the
Committee for fear that abrupt news could shock the markets.

But all the big banks had Fed watchers whose job was to
monitor the trading in government securities and determine
which way the Fed was pushing the economy and by how
much. On August 15, as the Fed began selling Treasury bills
and thus reducing the amount of money in the banking sys-
tem, Fed watchers reported that the Fed appeared to have
raised its federal funds rate by one-quarter of a percentage
point, to 11 percent. Although they were off by a quarter of
one percentage point on the low side, they clearly received
the signal Volcker was sending.
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Chase Manhattan Bank in New York and Continental
Illinois National Bank in Chicago immediately matched the
increase in magnitude. Up until then, they had been lending
money to their best corporate customers at 113⁄4 percent, as
usual somewhat higher than the federal funds rate. Now they
shifted what was known as their prime rate to 12 percent.
Soon banks around the country were applying this new rate.

On August 16, Volcker convened a meeting of the seven-
member Federal Reserve Board that resulted in an increase
in another category of interest rates: the discount rate, the
amount of interest the Fed itself charges for loans to banks.
It was a rise of half a percentage point to 101⁄2 percent. Not
surprisingly, the commercial banks’ prime rate stayed at 
12 percent. The Fed’s discount rate was considered less sig-
nificant than the federal funds rate. But it was routinely
announced within hours of a vote, and it provided Volcker
with a tool for publicly underscoring his determination.

John D. Paulus, an economist at Goldman, Sachs & Com-
pany and a former staff member at the Federal Reserve Bank
of Minneapolis, explained the move for The New York Times on
August 17, 1979. It was “a signal to the markets that the Fed
does not intend to reverse its stance,” he said.3 After years of
the Fed backing off just as interest rates reached a threatening
level, Volcker realized that he had to drive home the mes-
sage that, this time, the Fed would not relent. The two rate
increases by Volcker’s Fed were enough to send the prime rate
climbing to a new record level of 13 percent over the next
month, a full percentage point above the previous high of 12
percent reached during the recession of 1974–1975.

The higher prime rate was just what Volcker wanted, but
a few days later, on September 18, he hit a wall. Volcker

D I F F I C U LT C H O I C E S

143

11245_Treaster_3p_c08.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 143



urged the Federal Reserve Board to raise the discount rate
another half percentage point to 11 percent. The board com-
plied, but this time the vote was split four to three. The
mixed signal that resulted was not what Volcker had in
mind. But he did not realize he had a problem until the
newspapers spelled it out for him: Perhaps further rate
increases would be impossible. The feeling among the dis-
senting board members was strong, and it would take the
opposing vote of only one more board member to derail
Volcker’s plans.

The three dissenting board members made it clear that
they worried that the latest rate increase was a step too far,
that it could deepen a recession without necessarily halting
inflation. “There is some point at which interest rates con-
tribute to inflation rather than restrain it,” Nancy H. Teeters,
a Carter appointee and one of the members voting against
the rate increase, said at the time.4

Whether or not a recession was under way was unclear.
Economists at the Fed and elsewhere had been describing
troubling signs for months, yet Volcker had his doubts. A
recession, of course, is political poison. No president wants
one, especially Jimmy Carter, who was gearing up for a
reelection campaign in the coming year. Volcker may have
been predisposed to minimize evidence of a recession, not
wanting to accept signs himself that he was being too
aggressive.

In testimony before the House Budget Committee in Sep-
tember 1979, Volcker said there was much more danger in
“prematurely anticipating the most unfavorable hypothesis”—
a deep recession—“than in dealing in the most orderly 
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and effective way we can with the clear and present fact of
inflation.”5

The value of the dollar in relation to other currencies
was another element in America’s long affair with inflation
that confounded Volcker and others before him. The prob-
lem involved investment from abroad and international
trade, each of which could contribute to worsening inflation.

Rising prices undermined the value of United States gov-
ernment securities and reduced investments by foreigners.
United States government securities were considered among
the world’s safest investments, but a German corporation
would not want to invest in Treasury notes paying 11 percent
if, say, inflation was running at 13 percent. The corporation
would be losing 2 percent on the deal. This weakened the
dollar. The reason was that in order to buy United States
securities, investors in other countries had to buy dollars
with their own currencies. If inflation in the United States
were reducing the return on government securities, the
investors would look elsewhere to put their money. They
would not be buying dollars, and therefore, with less
demand, the value of the dollar would fall.

The value of the dollar was important to American 
policymakers for two reasons beyond mere civic pride. If it
were low in comparison to other currencies, United States
products would seem cheap to international customers. This
would be good for American manufacturers and for the
United States’ balance of payments, but it would drive the
leaders of other countries crazy because it could hurt their
manufacturers. American policymakers had to be concerned
about the problems a weak dollar created for other countries
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because Germany, Japan, and other giants could retaliate 
by imposing barriers to American imports. In fact, what the
other countries did most often was not retaliate with sanc-
tions but buy dollars and stow them away in their central
banks. This increased demand for the dollar and bolstered
its value, keeping the prices of American goods more or less
on a par with, or even higher than, products made in other
countries. But this intervention, as the bankers called it,
could eat up a lot of foreign currency and lead to complaints
that the United States should find a way to keep the value of
its currency more in line with that of other countries.

Moreover, a dollar weakened by inflation could lead to
more inflation. Unless foreign manufacturers accepted less
profit, prices in the United States for cars made in Japan and
Germany and wine from France would probably rise as a
weak dollar bought fewer yen or marks or francs, and with
the prices of imported goods increasing, American busi-
nesses might safely raise their own prices. Volcker knew that
a weak dollar complicated the fight against inflation and ulti-
mately made matters worse for Americans at home. His
solution for both inflation and the weak dollar was the same:
Raise interest rates.

Yet most Americans in their daily lives had nothing to do
with foreign currencies, and whether or not the dollar was
relatively strong or weak seemed remote to them. They did
not necessarily see inflation and the strength of the dollar as
intertwined. Instead, their tendency was to regard the raising
of interest rates as harmful to them and as a kind of gift to
other countries by making foreign products more competi-
tive in the huge American market and making American-
made goods more costly overseas.
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After the split decision at the Fed on September 18 over
raising the discount rate, Rep. Henry S. Reuss, a Democrat
from Wisconsin and chairman of the House Banking Com-
mittee, spoke up for the people. From where he sat, the resis-
tance to higher interest rates looked good. “For the first
time,” Reuss said, “Fed members are wondering out loud
whether it really makes sense to throw men and women out
of work, and businesses into bankruptcy, in order to ‘rescue
the dollar’ by chasing ever-rising European interest rates.”6

When the board split over the discount rate, Volcker
believed that the three board members who had voted with
him were strongly in his camp and that a defection was
extremely unlikely. “I knew we had the four votes and if I
wanted to increase the discount rate again I would still have
four votes,” Volcker says. “It didn’t particularly bother me.”
But his confidence was not enough. “The market read it dif-
ferently,” he says.7 He was going to have to demonstrate to
Wall Street and the rest of the country that the Fed was stick-
ing to its guns. “I decided right after that, that we ought to
think about some ways to shake this up a bit,” Volcker says.

In the middle of his second month as Fed chairman,
Volcker began developing a strategy for implementing what
would be the single most important decision of his career.
His insight, triggered by the reaction to the close vote, was
that as confident as he felt at the moment, there might very
well be a point, before inflation had been stopped, at which
a majority at the Fed would say, No more. “When you have
to make an explicit decision about interest rates all the time,”
Volcker said years later, “people don’t like to do it. You’re
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always kind of playing catch-up. I wanted to discipline our-
selves.”8

His solution, which now seems breathtakingly simple,
was to take the cutting-edge decision out of the hands of the
members of the Fed—or at least make it seem that way.
Under Volcker’s new plan, the Federal Open Market Com-
mittee would end the practice of setting the most influential
interest rate. Instead, the members would establish targets
for the supply of money in the American economy and per-
mit the supply of money to determine the federal funds rate.
The board would retain the discount rate as a largely sym-
bolic tool, but the emphasis would be on the money supply.

Historically, after the Federal Open Market Committee
determined the interest rate, the Fed’s trading desk in New
York went to work buying or selling government securities
to raise or lower the supply of money to the level required
to reach the desired interest rate. Volcker’s plan turned the
procedure on its head: Instead of the rate determining the
supply of money in the banking system, the supply would
determine the rate. It was still a matter of supply and
demand, and the end result would be the same: An increase
in supply would tend to lower rates; a drop in supply would
raise them.

The real genius of Volcker’s approach was that the inter-
est rate would seem to take on a life of its own and merely
settle at a point dictated by the supply of money. The effect
was to distance the Federal Reserve from the dread act of
directly raising interest rates and to underscore for Ameri-
cans that inflation was very much about supply and
demand. “They’d all been imbued with the idea, which
obviously had some validity, that too much money creates
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inflation,” Volcker says, “and the way to control inflation is
to control the money supply.”9

Economists had been talking about dealing directly with
the money supply in this way for years. Volcker himself had
touched on it in rather technical terms in a speech or two
and there had been some enthusiasm for the approach in
Congress. But no one had ever actually tried to implement
what Volcker envisioned.

An entire school of economists, led by Milton Friedman,
the Nobel Prize winner from the University of Chicago, advo-
cated influencing the economy directly through the money
supply. But Volcker was not considering the Friedman
approach. Friedman argued that the money supply should be
increased at a steady rate that roughly kept pace with the
overall growth of the economy. Volcker was not going to do
that—he was in crisis mode. His targets could not be steady.
They had to shrink as a counterpoint to rising demand. As
the money supply tightened, interest rates would rise, the
economy would slow, and maybe inflation would halt. 

One of Volcker’s first steps was to speak with Stephen H.
Axilrod, his staff director for monetary and financial policy.
Axilrod worked closely with the Fed’s trading desk in New
York to see that the policies adopted in Washington were
being carried out as expected. He also monitored the dollar
in world markets. Volcker and Axilrod usually spoke two or
three times a day. But this was something special. “I’ve got
this idea,” Volcker told Axilrod. “You flesh it out a little bit
and see how it goes.”10 Together with Peter D. Sternlight, who
ran the Fed’s trading operation in New York, Axilrod drafted
a paper detailing Volcker’s plan. “I wrote the general stuff
and Peter Sternlight wrote the structure,” Axilrod says.11
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Volcker quietly began building support for his plan
within the Federal Reserve. He wanted a public show of sol-
idarity from the six other members of the board and the five
presidents of regional banks who, along with him, collec-
tively made up the Federal Open Market Committee. “To
make this kind of change you would obviously want full and
enthusiastic support,” Volcker says.12

At first, Volker moved cautiously, worried that “leaks,
uncertainty, opposition in the government, all kinds of
things” could preempt him. But once the pieces were in
place, he planned to strike swiftly.13

Emmett J. Rice, one of the members of the Fed then,
remembers speaking with Volcker. “He’d didn’t go around
saying, ‘Well, I have a plan to present to you guys and I’d
like to know if you agree or disagree,’” Rice says.14 “I’m sure
he did it with everybody the same way he did it with me. We
sat down and discussed monetary policies and the difficul-
ties facing us at the time and which techniques and controls
were likely to get the best results. He knew very well where
I stood. He didn’t ask me, did I agree with him? Should we
do this? He knew I was with him on this.”

On Saturday, September 29, 1979, Volcker, G. William
Miller, the secretary of the Treasury, and Charles Schultze,
the chairman of President Carter’s Council of Economic
Advisers, flew to Europe for the annual meeting of the Inter-
national Monetary Fund and World Bank. On the way in 
an Air Force plane, Volcker sketched out for Miller and
Schultze what he had in mind. “They were not enthused,”
Volcker said.15

Both Miller and Schultze worried about the impact the
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plan might have on President Carter as he campaigned for
reelection in the following year. Miller was concerned that
setting targets for the money supply instead of specifying
interest rates would lead to wide swings in the rates and per-
haps feed further inflation. For Schultze, Volcker’s plan
looked like a guarantee for a recession.

From the plane, Volcker phoned Washington to see how
Axilrod was coming with his draft of the plan. “There was
so much static I couldn’t understand a word he was saying,”
Axilrod recalls. “All I would say is, ‘Yes, Paul, sure. Yeah!
Sure.’ I didn’t know what I was saying ‘yes’ or ‘sure’ to.
Paul’s kind of a restless man. And I’m sure he was up there
worrying, ‘Now, is this guy Axilrod doing the right thing or
not?’ So he called and I reassured him.”16

On the way to the banking conference, held that year in
Belgrade, Yugoslavia, Volcker and the others stopped in
Hamburg, Germany. They spent four hours with Helmut
Schmidt, the chancellor of West Germany, who, as Ger-
many’s Finance Minister, had worked closely with Volcker
in the early 1970s when Volcker was undersecretary of 
the Treasury for monetary affairs. Another old friend of
Volcker’s, Otmar Emminger, then head of the West German
central bank, and Hans Matthofer, the German economics
minister, joined in the discussion at Schmidt’s home.

Schmidt was disturbed that the weak dollar was upset-
ting international trade in favor of American business. In the
previous 10 days, the dollar had declined 4 percent against
the West German mark.17 The dollar had weakened against
other currencies as well. “Schmidt was at his irascible
worst—or best, depending upon one’s point of view,” Volcker
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said.18 “He dominated the conversation and left no doubt
that his patience with what he saw as American neglect and
irresolution about the dollar had run out.”

Schmidt’s history of friendship and support for the
United States sharpened his argument for the Americans.
This was not just any world leader spouting off. In Belgrade,
the Americans heard more of the same from central bankers
of other countries: Something had to be done about the dol-
lar’s weakness. It added further urgency for the solution that
Volcker was preparing. Higher interest rates could reduce
inflation and strengthen the dollar.

At the conference, Volcker spoke privately with two old
friends from other central banks. Off to one side at a recep-
tion given by the Deutsche Bank, he chatted quietly with
Emminger, the president of the German central bank, and
Karl Otto Poehl, who had been designated as Emminger’s
successor.19 Volcker hinted at what he had in mind and they
seemed supportive.20

Volcker left the Belgrade conference early, on Tuesday,
October 2, touching off speculation that he was rushing
back to Washington to devise a response to the criticism
over the weakness of the dollar. When the dollar had
plunged a year earlier, Volcker, as president of the New York
Fed, had been one of the principal players in putting
together a package of $30 billion in foreign currencies to
strengthen it.21 The bankers at the Belgrade conference and
the journalists reporting their sentiments thought Volcker
was up to something similar. Volcker has always insisted
that he went home to finish the plan he had put in motion
before heading for Europe. “I was a little itchy because I
wanted to get this thing on the road,” he says.22
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Though Volcker has consistently said his priority was
domestic inflation, raising rates to squelch inflation also
would directly answer the prayers of the foreign leaders and
private bankers who were screaming about the weak dollar.
It was no wonder they thought the main reason for Volck-
er’s early return to Washington was the trade issue, because
that was their main concern. They were proven wrong
about Volcker’s primary motive, but they got what they
wanted—not through an intervention in foreign exchange as
they expected, but through an entirely different and surpris-
ing method.

Back in Washington, Volcker went over his plan again
with Axilrod. Volcker decided that as significant as the shift
in tactics on the money supply and rates was, he needed
more bells and whistles. After all, he was working on expec-
tations, what was going on in people’s heads about this infla-
tion business. “I thought that in itself, as an innovation, it
would not necessarily carry the message we wanted to
carry,” he says.23 “It might be the most important thing we
were doing, but you know, what would the press make of,
‘Fed Talking Money Supply’? Well, we’d been talking the
money supply in one sense all along, not very successfully.
‘Fed Changes Operating Technique.’ That’s page 13 of the
business section. I wanted to move the story at least to the
front page.”

So he devised a three-point package. Each element could
genuinely be seen as a significant step toward fighting infla-
tion, but, taken together, they unquestionably made the
booming statement Volcker was after. Provided he got the
support he needed, Volcker planned to lead off with some-
thing familiar, but dramatic: a 1 percent jump in the discount
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rate, the largely symbolic rate that the Fed charges banks for
loans. Rate increases in both the discount rate and the more
influential federal funds rate had historically been adminis-
tered at an eighth, a quarter, or sometimes a half a percent-
age point at a time. Only once had the Fed increased rates 
a full percentage point: the previous fall, when it was trying 
to reverse a sharply falling dollar. The jump was intended 
as a jolt then and it was intended, again, to underscore a
determination to force economic change. For the next piece,
Volcker would require the banks to increase their reserves.
This would reduce the amount of money they would have
available to lend and help tighten the overall money supply.
It would also reduce bank profits. Finally, Volcker would get
to the part about focusing on the money supply and permit-
ting interest rates to find their own level.

The new approach was never intended to be entirely
freewheeling in the sense that there would be no ceiling at all
on interest rates, or that, as Peter D. Sternlight, the manager
of the Fed’s securities trading operation in New York in
1979, puts it, there would be an “absolutely unguided course
for rates.” If Volcker’s plan were endorsed by the others at
the Fed, Sternlight would be in charge of implementing it.
“He wanted to have a device that let rates go considerably
higher,” Sternlight said of Volcker. “I think he felt they had
to go considerably higher and I think it made it a more sal-
able approach to say, ‘Well, we’re just letting the market set
the rates.’”24

Volcker decided he would orchestrate a vote on his plan
on Saturday, October 6, believing he had the support of the
six other governors of the Federal Reserve Board and that the
five voting presidents of the regional banks on the FOMC
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would be on board. “We wanted to have it on a Saturday
because all the markets were closed and that was the obvious
day to have the vote,” Volcker says.25 “We’d minimize the
uncertainty in the market; give the market a chance to under-
stand it and so forth.” Volcker also knew that the reaction of
the markets aside, the Fed had rarely, if ever, taken action on
a weekend and that the timing of the event would heighten
the drama of what he expected would be the announcement
of a blockbuster anti-inflation package.

When Miller, the secretary of the Treasury, and Schultze,
the chairman of President Carter’s Council of Economic
Advisers, returned from Belgrade on Thursday, they were
still cool to Volcker’s plan. Volcker’s thinking was way out-
side the norm, far too bold and dangerous, fraught with the
potential for any number of unpleasant surprises. No one on
President Carter’s team wanted more uncertainty as they
prepared for an already uphill reelection battle.

Miller and Schultze tried to block Volcker. In an inter-
view with William Greider, Schultze said it was obvious
something had to be done about inflation and the weakness
of the dollar. “My objection,” Schultze said, “was that once
you do this, you can’t back out. Once you tell the world this
is the money target and we are going to follow it no matter
what happens to interest rates, you have to stick with it and
you have no flexibility.”26

Yet, that was precisely why Volcker wanted the change.
He wanted to remove the flexibility, suspecting that persuad-
ing his colleagues at the Fed to keep pulling the trigger on
higher rates would prove impossible as the thunder of public
protest inevitably rose. Before battle fatigue hit the troops at
the Fed, Volcker wanted their fingers off the trigger.

D I F F I C U LT C H O I C E S

155

11245_Treaster_3p_c08.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 155



Schultze concluded in his conversation with Greider that
Volcker was making a political, rather than an economic,
move. “In theory,” Schultze said, “the Fed could have kept
on raising the bejesus out of the interest rates, but that’s
what it couldn’t do politically. The beautiful thing about this
new policy was that as interest rates kept going up, the Fed
could say, ‘Hey, ain’t nobody here but us chickens. We’re
not raising interest rates, we’re only targeting the money
supply.’ This way they could raise the rates and nobody
could blame them.”27

Volcker could not deny that his plan put some distance
between the Fed and interest rates, but in an uncommon
flash of anger he contended that he never tried to trick any-
one. “There’s a very cynical view that this is just a way to
avoid, to fool the public,” Volcker says. “I entirely reject
that.”28 But, he adds, “It is true that I thought this was a way
of getting ahead of the ball instead of behind the ball. People
don’t like to raise rates. They’d much rather lower interest
rates.”

Rather than change the way of fighting inflation, Miller
and Schultze suggested the Fed announce a spectacular 2
percent increase in rates. They told Volcker that President
Carter agreed with them. Volcker said he would be happy to
speak with the president directly, but the two aides said that
would not be necessary. Volcker thought it was significant
that Carter, who was being kept abreast of the discussions,
did not call him over to the White House. “My reading of
the situation,” Volcker said, “was that while the president
would strongly prefer that we not move in the way we pro-
posed, with all its uncertainties, he was not going to insist on
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that judgment in an unfamiliar field over the opinion of his
newly appointed Federal Reserve chairman.”29

Volcker consulted Anthony M. Solomon, the under-
secretary of the Treasury for Monetary Affairs. They had
worked together off and on since the 1960s when Volcker
was first at Treasury. Six months later Solomon, with Volck-
er’s endorsement, would take Volcker’s old job as president
of the New York Fed and be at Volcker’s side in Federal
Open Market Committee meetings in Washington as vice
chairman of the committee. At Treasury, Solomon’s main
concern was the stability of the dollar. He had been the point
man on what some referred to as the “dollar rescue” opera-
tion, a year earlier. He, as much as anyone, knew that the
United States had to respond to the clamor from abroad 
and strengthen the dollar. While Volcker stressed the fight
against inflation at home, Solomon knew that the Volcker
plan would also buck up the dollar. Volcker said Solomon
“advised me to go ahead if I really felt strongly.”30

Volcker marched ahead. Worried about a leak and
guarded by nature, he held his cards close to his vest. Now,
with Saturday quickly approaching, he notified the six other
Fed governors and the 12 regional presidents around the
country of the meeting, even though only 5 of the presi-
dents, as usual, would be voting. Some of them had to hus-
tle to get to Washington. One board member, Emmett Rice,
had gone to New Orleans to make a speech. “I was
informed late Friday night that there was going to be a meet-
ing the next day and that it would be good if I could get
back,” Rice says. “I got back, but only after the meeting had
started.”31
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The meeting was held in the long, rectangular Federal
Reserve boardroom. Volcker stepped through a door con-
necting directly to his office and took his place at the head
of the 34-foot-long polished wood conference table, the
marble fireplace to his back. Except for Rice, who joined
the group later, the governors and the 12 regional presi-
dents took their usual seats around the table. Early morning
light streamed through the windows to Volcker’s right. At
the foot of the table, Fed economists and other staff mem-
bers filled several rows of straight-backed chairs. High on
the wall behind them, stretched across nearly the entire
width of the room, was an immense map of the United
States showing the Federal Reserve districts. Stephen Axil-
rod, who also served as the staff director of the Federal
Open Market Committee, sat at a little side table at the
other end of the room, near Volcker.

At least some of those who would be voting that day did
not know why they were in the room. Larry Roos, the presi-
dent of the Federal Reserve bank of St. Louis—a center of
support for targeting the money supply rather than setting
interest rates—told William Greider he had neither been
briefed nor lobbied before the meeting. “We were summoned
to Washington and none of us knew a damned thing,” he
said.32

Volcker began speaking. Slowly and with the same kind
of absence of pressure that works so well for the most suc-
cessful salespeople, he brought the room to consensus. The
issue before them was grave. It required careful deliberation.
“I spent a good part of the meeting insisting that before we
voted, the consequences must be fully understood,” Volcker
said.33
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Frederick H. Schultz, a former state legislator from
Florida and a member of a wealthy banking family, was the
vice chairman of the board. “Paul was masterful” in the
meeting, he told Greider.34 “I knew exactly what he was
doing. The others ended up arguing with him, talking him
into doing it. By the end of the day, he had them fully com-
mitted.” Two votes were required, one by Volcker and the
six other governors, the other by the full Open Market
Committee that comprised Volcker, the governors, and the
five regional bank presidents. Both votes were unanimous.

The meeting ended at about 4:00 P.M. Joseph R. Coyne,
Volcker’s spokesman, suggested that he and two aides start
telephoning reporters for a 6:00 P.M. press conference.35 By
the time Volcker was ready to speak, at least 50 reporters
had assembled. The New York Times, The Washington Post, the
Associated Press, and all the television networks were repre-
sented. Coyne had spoken with an assignment editor at
CBS who had a problem: Pope John Paul II was in Wash-
ington that day. The CBS editor had scheduled his only
camera crew to be with the Pope at 6:00 P.M. What was he
going to do?, the editor wondered aloud to Coyne. “Send
your crew here,” Coyne recalls telling the editor. “Long after
the Pope is gone, you’ll remember this one.”

The next day, Sunday, the Fed’s changes were front page
news around the world. Having failed to talk Volcker out of
his new approach, the Carter White House declared its
strong support. The Volcker initiatives would “help reduce
inflationary expectations, contribute to a stronger United
States dollar abroad and curb unhealthy speculations in com-
modity markets,” said Jody Powell, President Carter’s press
secretary, in a statement shortly after the press conference 

D I F F I C U LT C H O I C E S

159

11245_Treaster_3p_c08.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 159



at the Federal Reserve.36 “The Administration,” he contin-
ued, “believes that success in reducing inflationary pressures
will lead in due course both to lower rates of price increases
and to lower interest rates.”

During the week before the Fed decision, the price of
gold shot up to a record high of $444 per ounce37 as the
value of the dollar slipped lower. While Volcker insisted that
domestic inflation was his overwhelming concern, the pres-
sure on the dollar helped him get majority support for his
plan in the long meeting on Saturday.

Emmett Rice had been one of those voting against rais-
ing the discount rate in mid-September. He had indicated
before the meeting on Saturday that he favored Volcker’s
new tactics, but he told Steven Rattner of The New York Times
that the latest international developments had influenced his
final vote. “There’s been a good deal of instability in the
financial markets, in the foreign currency markets and in the
gold markets,” Rice said.38 “These conditions have been
much more unsettled than I expected.”

There had also just been a report of a decline in unem-
ployment and another rise in inflation that bolstered support
for Volcker. The improvement in jobs suggested that money
could perhaps be tightened without dire consequences—yes,
there might be a recession, but maybe it wouldn’t be that
grim—and the worsening of inflation raised the volume of
the tolling bell that everyone at the Fed had been hearing.

A surprise for international bankers and currency and
commodities traders was that Volcker took no new steps to
strengthen the dollar by intervening in the markets, selling
foreign currency and buying dollars.39 Instead, he signaled
that he intended to rely on his domestic anti-inflation 
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measures to counter the dollar’s weakness. “I would empha-
size,” he told reporters at the news conference at the Fed,
“that the fundamental solution to instability in foreign-
exchange markets does not lie in intervention.”40

Monday was Columbus Day. Banks in the United States
were closed, but there was immediate reaction around the
world. The price of gold, which had already slipped from its
record high on speculation that the United States would be
bolstering the dollar, fell to $374 an ounce in London. At the
same time, the dollar rose sharply against most European
currencies and the Japanese yen.41 But bankers and econo-
mists, at home and abroad, told reporters the probability of
a deeper recession had increased.

When the American banks opened on Tuesday, interest
rates jumped. The Fed watchers were not quite sure how
high the federal funds rate had moved under the new sys-
tem. The Washington Post said the rate, which had been at 12
percent when the banks closed for the long weekend,
climbed as high as 18 percent that day before settling at 13
percent.42 The New York Times reported a high of 15 percent.43

In any case, the commercial banks upped the prime rate—the
interest they charge their best customers—a full percentage
point to 141⁄2 percent.44 Stock prices dropped sharply and
continued to fall for the next three days, setting off nervous
chatter about the market plunges in 1929 that led to the
Great Depression.

Finally, the market settled down. But interest rates con-
tinued to climb with swings of several percentage points a
day for almost two years before peaking in the summer and
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latter months of 1981. In June, the federal funds rate hit
19.1 percent. The prime rate rose to 201⁄2 percent in August,
and for a moment in December it surged to 211⁄2 percent.
The cost of mortgages crested at 18.45 percent in October.
People with less than perfect credit were paying even higher
rates, as were the multitudes who took out consumer loans
or accumulated credit card debt.

Volcker himself was surprised at the heights the rates
reached.45 “I never expected interest rates to go up the way
they did, as high as they did,” he says. He had hoped his
new plan would be so stunning that the very announcement
of it would have an immediate impact on the spending
behavior of Americans. “We wanted people to sit up and
say, ‘Oh, now things have changed, interest rates will go
down. We’ll buy bonds,’” he says. “But they didn’t quite do
that.”

To produce the changes Volcker thought were crucial,
Americans had to go through a lot of hard times. The econ-
omy slumped sharply in the spring of 1980, and in 1981 and
1982 the country struggled through a recession that drew
comparisons to the Great Depression.

Finally, in the summer of 1982, with the nation yearning
for relief, Volcker quietly began to loosen his grip on the
flow of money. But it was not until the fall that he disclosed
signs of a breakthrough. “The forces are there that would
push the economy toward recovery,” he told a meeting of the
Business Council, an organization of America’s most influ-
ential captains of business and industry, at the elegant
Homestead Hotel in Hot Springs, Virginia, in early Octo-
ber.46 “I would think that the policy objective should be to
sustain that recovery,” Volcker added.
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Alan Greenspan, who later succeeded Volcker as chair-
man of the Fed and won a degree of acclaim for his con-
founding talent at circumlocution, that day served as
interpreter of Volcker’s remarks. “They have eased,” said
Greenspan, who was attending the meeting as the head of
the National Commission on Social Security Reform.47

Volcker’s strategy seemed to have worked. Unemploy-
ment was still above 10 percent, higher than it had been
since 1940, and would rise even higher in the next few
months. But inflation had been knocked down to an annual
rate of 6.5 percent, less than half what it had been two years
earlier. Volcker figured he could begin to fuel the economy
with a little more money without igniting a new wave of
inflation.

But getting to that point had required iron-willed deter-
mination. The whole country, it seemed, had been alter-
nately pleading and demanding that Volcker loosen his
stranglehold on the economy, with some of the most intense
pressure coming from just three blocks away—the White
House.
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THE FALLOUT
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Despite the pain he inflicted on their administrations and
the country, Presidents Carter and Reagan rarely criti-
cized Volcker openly, perhaps recognizing that doing so

might be interpreted as an attempt to shift blame from their
own offices. However, their aides, especially President Rea-
gan’s, felt free to take shots at the chairman of the Fed, and
they went at him publicly and privately. Unbeknownst to
his critics at the time, their greatest achievement was to draw
national attention to Volcker, making him one of the best-
known Washington leaders—at first reviled as the father of
recession, later hailed for fostering prosperity.

Under pressure, Volcker was immovable. He believed in
his mission with the fervor of a priest, and he perceived that
his critics among the president’s legions either did not under-
stand basic economics or were pursuing political objectives
that contradicted economics. This unyielding quality might
not be ideal in many situations, but the Volcker style had cer-
tain advantages if you accepted the argument that the terrible
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inflation of the late 1970s was in part the result of the unwill-
ingness of previous Fed chairmen to stay the course.

The enduring complaint about Volcker is that he kept
interest rates too high for too long, prolonging the 1981–1982
recession at the cost of millions of jobs, with particularly
heavy damage to the auto and housing industries. At the
annual convention of the National Association of Home-
builders in early 1982, Richard Harwood, a contractor from
North Brook, Illinois, told a reporter from The New York Times
that the focus in his business had become survival.1 “Every-
one used to say, ‘How’s the family?,’ ” Harwood said. “Now
it’s, ‘How long do you think you can last? Can you make it
through [the year]?’”

Volcker’s policies are also widely blamed for contribut-
ing to the Latin American debt crisis that began in the sum-
mer of 1982 and to the failure of scores of American savings
and loan banks later in the decade. In both cases, high inter-
est rates, while not the only factor, were the culprit that
forced the issue. Yet Volcker led negotiations that helped
Mexico and the other countries get back on their feet, and,
for most economists, his reverses were far overshadowed by
his defeat of inflation. That victory was “essential to laying
the groundwork for the performance of the United States in
the 1990s,” says Allen Sinai, the founder and chief executive
of Decision Economics, a consulting firm in New York.2

Warren E. Buffett, the renowned investor and founder
and chairman of Berkshire Hathaway, has not always agreed
with Volcker’s strategies, yet regards him as a giant of finance.
“In the seventies the country sort of lost confidence in itself,”
Buffett says.3 “People thought that owning land or anything
was better than owning dollars and it took a very strong

PA U L VO L C K E R

168

11245_Treaster_3p_c09.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 168



character and a lot of guts to stem that feeling. You had to be
smart. But you had to have a lot of guts. It took courage to
hang in there and Volcker hung in there.”

Like some of his colleagues, Joseph E. Stiglitz, the
Columbia University Nobel Prize winner in economics, says
Volcker could have employed other tools to bring down
inflation and even contends that inflation might have died a
natural and rather painless death as America gradually
adjusted to the shock of a pair of tremendous surges in oil
prices in the 1970s and benefited from later declines in petro-
leum costs.4

But, Stiglitz concedes, it is impossible to know how
things would have worked out had Volcker not clamped
down. “We can describe the benefit of what he did, which is
that he brought down inflation,” Stiglitz says. “And we can
describe the costs. But we can’t know for sure what would
have happened if he had tried another approach.”

Volcker’s special strength in political Washington drew
from a single, fundamental desire he felt throughout his life:
to seek nothing beyond the freedom to follow his principles.
So it was difficult for presidential aides to gain leverage on
him. He did not aspire to other jobs in Washington and he
was confident that he eventually would be welcomed in pri-
vate business. He wanted to be respected and liked, but if he
was not regularly invited to White House social events, well,
he would have to live with that.

Nevertheless, to succeed as chairman of the Fed required
sensitive political instincts. Volcker muted his criticism of the
presidents and their policies—for which some fellow econo-
mists criticized him—and displayed agility in his testimony
before Congress. Both Congress and the president had the
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potential to intervene in his policies, either by law or simple
place of power, and as much as neither wanted to do so, it
was up to Volcker to make sure that they never felt com-
pelled to permit their objections to go beyond words. So
Volcker, like his predecessors at the Fed, tried to avoid con-
frontation, to accommodate without compromising. One
political tactic that came naturally to Volcker was procrasti-
nation. “He always had an ability to dominate an issue with-
out using his elbows,” a Treasury official, John Auten, told
Newsweek.5 “It was based on a great ability to just stand there,
doing nothing, until something absolutely had to be done.
And then people went to him.”

Another tactic, a cousin of procrastination, that espe-
cially annoyed more doctrinaire economists, was diffusion.
“Someone will accuse the Fed of not paying enough atten-
tion to, say, total credit volume and Paul will let it be
known, sooner or later, that the Fed is now taking into
account total credit volume,” said Jude Wanniski, an eco-
nomic strategist for President Reagan and a frequent critic
of Volcker.6 “And then,” Wanniski added in an interview
with Newsweek, “someone will say, ‘You’re not paying enough
attention to commodity prices.’ And he’ll make a speech say-
ing, ‘Yes, we’re paying attention to commodity prices, too.’
And then someone will scream, ‘But what about Reese’s
Peanut Butter Cups?’ and Paul will say, ‘We’re now incor-
porating Reese’s Peanut Butter Cups into our view of mon-
etary policy.’”

President Carter tried one sharp frontal attack on Volcker,
but it backfired, and he soon let it drop. More than 20 years
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later his criticism seems mild, but at the time it resounded
like a hand grenade. In early October 1980, just a month
before the presidential election, Carter was feeling edgy,
frustrated by an economy that would cause Americans to
give the wrong answer when candidate Ronald Reagan later
asked, “Are you better off than you were four years ago?”
and staring at the growing probability that he was going to
be voted out of office. During a campaign stop outside Phila-
delphia, someone at a small backyard gathering asked about
Volcker’s emphasis on the money supply in fighting infla-
tion. Carter said he thought it was “ill-advised,”7 and that the
Fed ought to be paying more attention to “the adverse effects
of high interest rates on the general economy.”8 Carter’s
Treasury secretary, G. William Miller, and his chief spokes-
man, Jody Powell, issued similar complaints, giving the im-
pression of a coordinated assault. It was the administration’s
first real slap at Volcker since Carter had appointed him a lit-
tle more than a year earlier, and it immediately drew fire
from former Fed chairmen and the Reagan presidential cam-
paign as an affront to the tradition of the Fed as an indepen-
dent and sacrosanct institution. Arthur F. Burns, Volcker’s
old friend and colleague at the Fed, called Carter’s remarks
“regrettable”;9 Burns’s predecessor, William McChesney
Martin, said the comments were “deplorable” and that
Carter had done a “serious and unfortunate thing.”10 Former
president Gerald Ford, campaigning for Reagan, called
Carter’s criticism “a cowardly act,”11 and George P. Shultz,
who was serving as chairman of Reagan’s economic policy
coordinating committee, elaborated on Ford’s remark, chid-
ing Carter for trying to divert responsibility for the ailing
economy away from himself.12 Less than two weeks after his
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remarks in Philadelphia, President Carter spoke for 20 min-
utes about the economy in an address to the National Press
Club in Washington and never mentioned Volcker.

The economy was only one point of vulnerability for
Carter. He suffered tremendously from the takeover of the
American embassy in Iran in which more than 50 American
diplomats were taken hostage. His inability to gain their
release over more than a year added, perhaps unfairly, to his
image as an ineffectual leader. Too many Americans con-
cluded that Jimmy Carter just could not get things done. In
a poll on election day conducted jointly by the Associated
Press and NBC News, two-thirds of the voters said Carter’s
performance as president was fair or poor.13

But the economy was pivotal in Carter’s defeat. Shortly
after the election, a New York Times/CBS News poll
showed that 73 percent of Americans regarded the economy
as the country’s biggest problem,14 and the Associated
Press/NBC News poll found that on the day Carter was
swept from office, voters expressing concern about inflation
endorsed Reagan three to one.

Years later, Stuart E. Eizenstat, President Carter’s chief
domestic adviser, noted Volcker’s accomplishment in break-
ing the back of inflation. But he said Volcker “also broke the
back of the Carter administration.”15

While Volcker’s high interest rates helped Reagan win
the presidential election in 1980, Reagan soon had to learn
to live with these rates himself. As he took office the country
was heading into the worst recession in decades, and
Volcker spoke out relentlessly against the growing budget
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deficits that resulted from Reagan’s tax cuts and defense
spending and that most mainstream economists agreed were
fueling inflation. In a White House news conference in Jan-
uary 1982, after Reagan had been in office one year, a
reporter asked the president if he agreed with those on Capi-
tol Hill who were calling for Volcker’s resignation. Reagan
was noncommittal, citing the independence of the Fed.
“There’s no way that I can comment on that,” Reagan said.16

But a month later, Reagan shifted gears, deciding to
embrace Volcker and cast himself as an ally in dealing with
the nation’s economic problems. Reagan, the old college
football player, seemed to have decided that the best offense
was a good defense, that publicly aligning himself with
Volcker might neutralize the chairman. On February 15th
the president invited Volcker to the White House for a pri-
vate meeting and a few days later voiced his strong support
for him. “I have confidence in the announced policies of the
Federal Reserve Board,” Reagan said in opening remarks at
a White House meeting with reporters. “The administration
and the Federal Reserve can help bring inflation and interest
rates down faster by working together than by working at
cross-purposes.”17

But the president’s allies did not relent. Howard Baker,
then the majority leader in the Republican-controlled Senate
and later Reagan’s chief of staff, complained that Volcker’s
Fed “should get its boot off the neck of the economy.”18 Don-
ald T. Regan, secretary of the Treasury for the first four
years of the Reagan administration and then chief of staff for
two years, persistently found fault with Volcker. Shortly
before Reagan’s conciliatory gesture toward Volcker, Regan,
a former chief executive of Merrill Lynch, referred to the
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Fed chairman as “obstinate and tyrannical,”19 and in his
memoir he mockingly called Volcker a “nanny” who seemed
to enjoy correcting bankers “for the sake of correcting.”20 In
his book, Regan noted that Volcker’s “actions did cauterize
inflation” in America, but added that “the burn cost the
patient the use of his right arm for nearly two years.”

Even with all the derision, by late spring and early sum-
mer of 1983, Volcker was beginning to look like a hero. The
high interest rates were beginning to pay off. Volcker had
beaten down inflation to an annual rate of under 4 percent,
from about 13 percent when he took office, and he was loos-
ening up on the money supply. A recovery was under way
that would stretch far into the future. Unemployment was
still running above 10 percent and would remain a persistent
concern, but it was on the way down, and by the end of the
year it would be close to 8 percent.

His success notwithstanding, Volcker was still not a
favorite of the Reagan administration. His four-year term
was expiring in August, but the White House would not say
whether he was going to be reappointed. Administration
officials told reporters in not-for-attribution conversations
that Reagan did not feel he had a good personal relationship
with Volcker and some political strategists were recom-
mending that the president replace the Carter appointee
with a Republican of his own choice, someone who might be
expected to be more supportive at election time. In late April
at the annual meeting of the American Newspaper Publish-
ers Association in New York, President Reagan seemed luke-
warm to Volcker, despite the president’s earlier attempts at
cultivating a convivial relationship. He was asked what
bothered him about Volcker’s performance and responded
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with three words, “Not a thing,”21 adding nothing further.
That same day, Treasury Secretary Regan took a swipe at
Volcker, saying that while the administration had not
decided whether to keep him, replacing him would not have
the negative impact that some bankers were predicting.22 In
Congress, support for Volcker was mixed. In the Senate,
Jake Garns, the Utah Republican and chairman of the Bank-
ing Committee, and Senator William Proxmire, the ranking
Democrat on the committee, favored another term for
Volcker.23 But in the House, ill feelings toward the chairman
had crystallized. Fernand St. Germain, a Democrat from
Rhode Island and chairman of the House banking commit-
tee, opposed Volcker as a symbol of “high interest rates and
recession.” St. Germain’s Republican colleague, Bob Michel
of Illinois, also wanted Volcker replaced.24

On a Saturday morning in mid-June, President Reagan
ended the speculation about Volcker, playfully announcing
his decision during his weekly radio broadcast. “We inter-
rupt this program for a news flash,” Reagan said, “I have
today asked chairman Paul Volcker to accept reappointment
for another term. He’s agreed to do so, and I couldn’t be
more pleased.”25

In the radio announcement Reagan added the stunning
assertion that Volcker was “as dedicated as I am to continu-
ing the fight against inflation.”26 Well, yes, Volcker surely
seemed dedicated to fighting inflation. But President Rea-
gan? His administration was continually at odds with Volcker,
constantly nagging him to let money flow more easily to
speed recovery and, once it was under way, make it more
robust; that was the opposite of fighting inflation. The way
in which Reagan disclosed Volcker’s reappointment was a
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slight in itself. Traditionally, Reagan invited new appointees
to appear at the White House with him in a ceremonial wel-
coming. For Volcker, there would be no ceremony; he
learned of his reappointment in a four-minute phone call27

from the president to his home in New York an hour before
the radio broadcast that Saturday morning and went on
about his duties when he returned to Washington.

The decision for President Reagan came down to fear,
just as it had for President Carter. The White House wor-
ried that changing Fed chairmen, no matter who the replace-
ment, would be interpreted as a lack of resolve against
inflation. Plenty of evidence confronted the administration.
“Wall Street believes that anti-inflation policy is totally
embodied in his person,” Robert Giordano, a financial ana-
lyst at Goldman, Sachs & Co., told Newsweek in late May.28

Charles Brown, the chairman of AT&T, told the magazine:
“Everybody is exceptionally pleased with the job Volcker’s
done on inflation. Very few people would like to see the
struggle abandoned.”29 In early June, A.G. Becker Paribas, a
Wall Street investment firm, took a poll of institutional
investors and economists and, 11 days before President
Reagan announced his decision, reported that 77 percent of
them believed Volcker was the best man to run the Fed.30

Treasury Secretary Regan referred to the poll in an inter-
view in The Washington Post on June 9, saying, “The financial
markets seem to favor him, and want him by an over-
whelming majority.”31 In the same article, the Post said that
Senator Paul Laxalt, a Nevada Republican and President
Reagan’s closest friend in Congress, appeared to be leaning
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toward Volcker. “Volcker seems to have a lot of support,”
Laxalt told the Post. “There is concern for making a change at
a critical time.” Not long after the reappointment announce-
ment, BusinessWeek reported that the White House also
believed that the mixed attitudes in Congress appeared to
have swung more in Volcker’s favor.32

No alternative for chairman came close to Volcker in
international expertise. On how Volcker might affect Rea-
gan’s reelection campaign in the following year, Regan and
the president’s other advisers apparently gambled they
would do better with Volcker than with a new chairman. Part
of the administration’s thinking, The Washington Post reported,
was that a new Fed chairman might feel compelled to make a
show of his independence from the White House.33 Volcker
had more than won his spurs in that regard, and the thinking
apparently was that his decisions would predictably be tied to
economic logic rather than to ulterior motives. Reagan’s
team could see the economy was moving in the right direc-
tion. Hopefully it would stay on course.

Volcker’s confirmation hearing was one of the spectacles
of the summer of 1983. The Senate Banking Committee
scheduled the event for the caucus room in the Russell
Building, the Senate’s biggest chamber, and still there was
not enough space. People crowded along the walls and in the
corners of the ornate room where the Watergate hearings
had been conducted. The senators and Volcker talked for
nearly four hours, and it was a good day for Volcker. Alan
Dixon, a Democrat from Illinois, said he had “profound
admiration” for Volcker in an “impossible job”;34 John
Heinz, a Republican from Pennsylvania, said, “We’re lucky
to have you as chairman.”35
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Volcker, sitting at a table covered in green felt and puff-
ing on a cigar, surprised the senators when one of them
asked whether he planned to serve out his full four-year
term. “I do not feel committed to do so,” he replied.36 He
said he planned to stay for at least two years, partly because
he believed that the tenure of the Fed chairman and the pres-
ident should coincide. That way, he said, an incoming pres-
ident could more easily install a person of his choice instead
of having to work with a holdover like himself from a previ-
ous administration.

By leaving in two years, Volcker would create an open-
ing at the Fed in August of 1985, so that in less than a year
after being sworn in, the winner of the 1984 election could
nominate his own Fed chairman. Perhaps not so coinci-
dently, the administration had been floating a story from
unidentified sources that Volcker might be willing to step
aside in two years. Perhaps Volcker had suggested to the
administration that choosing him might not lock them into a
four-year term; perhaps the administration thought that by
circulating the story it was laying the groundwork for evict-
ing Volcker at a time when his departure might not seem so
politically threatening. Those points were never clarified. As
it turned out, Reagan was reelected in 1984 and Volcker
stayed on. But his performance before the senators that day
seemed to be another display of his independent attitude
and political canniness.

Heading into his second term, Volcker was facing some
of the most challenging work of his career. It would not be
as dramatic as the initial taming of inflation, but at hand was
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the more delicate task of keeping inflation in check while
permitting the economy to grow. Volcker’s efforts were com-
plicated by national budget deficits in the $200 billion range.
To make up the budget shortfall, the government borrowed
money through the sale of Treasury securities. That put it in
competition with American business, which was also a big
borrower, and raised the overall demand for money, tending
to push up interest rates and stimulate inflation.

Volcker kept urging that the deficit be reduced by raising
taxes or reducing spending, neither of which were crowd
pleasers, and that irritated the White House. For their part,
Reagan administration officials prodded Volcker endlessly to
steer the economy in the most politically favorable way for
them. The week before Volcker’s Senate confirmation hear-
ing, Larry Speakes, Reagan’s deputy press secretary, said in a
press briefing that the White House “would not like to see
interest rates increased.”37Actually, no one wanted to see inter-
est rates increased. Volcker and most other economists
believed that raising rates was not an arbitrary decision, but
one that became necessary when inflation threatened. Indeed,
there were signs at the time that the Fed was quietly raising
rates. Some news reports speculated that the White House
had dispatched Speakes with his statement, hoping to plant
interest rates squarely on the agenda in Volcker’s Senate
confirmation, to underscore for the public that Congress,
too—not just the president—shared responsibility for the vicis-
situdes of the economy. If so, it was another case of overkill
for the Reagan administration; there was no way that the sub-
ject of interest rates was not going to come up at the Volcker
hearing, no matter what the White House did.

In his book about Alan Greenspan, Bob Woodward of
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The Washington Post gives an example of how pressure was
brought to bear on Volcker during the Reagan years. James
A. Baker III, the White House chief of staff, invited Volcker
to a meeting with the president in the residential quarters in
the East Wing in the summer of 1984. It was just the three
of them in the downstairs library. Baker turned quickly to
the subject of the presidential election coming in the fall. He
did not want any increases in interest rates that might hurt
Reagan’s chances. It was a surprisingly direct message and,
according to Woodward, Volcker was taken aback. Presi-
dent Reagan sat there, not moving, not speaking. No one
would ever be able to say the president had given the Fed
orders. “But the president’s presence, sitting there calmly—
detached or engaged, no one would ever know for sure,
including Baker—gave Baker’s words all the weight in the
world,” Woodward wrote.38

Volcker lowered interest rates before the election and
Reagan won overwhelmingly. But Volcker says his decision
had nothing to do with pressure from the White House.
“There were technical reasons,” he said in a conversation
with me in 2003.39 Still, his decision was controversial.
Other members of the Fed were reluctant to cut the rate. “I
had to convince the board to ease,” he says. “There was an
accusation that I eased despite the board, that I overinter-
preted my leeway. I don’t think so. But people did say that.”

Volcker told Woodward he considered reporting the
meeting in the White House library to the Senate Banking
Committee, then decided not to. It was perhaps the most
blunt attempt to influence him. And, according to Volcker, it
was totally unnecessary.

But the Reagan administration did not let up. In the fall
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of 1985, the White House offered Volcker the presidency of
the World Bank as a graceful way of getting rid of him. A few
months later, Volcker was confronted by what he regarded as
an attempted coup. Two Reagan appointees had recently
joined the seven-member Federal Reserve Board, increasing
the number of board members chosen by Reagan to four and
giving them a majority. Like the Reagan administration it-
self, the four Reagan appointees favored looser controls on
money. On the morning of February 24, 1986, the four mem-
bers, including Vice Chairman Preston Martin, who had
served as commissioner of savings and loan associations in
California when Reagan was governor, argued for easing up
on the money supply by lowering the discount rate, the inter-
est rate that the Fed charges banks, to 7 percent from 71⁄2 per-
cent. Volcker wanted to delay. He favored lowering the rate,
but he was concerned about setting off a run against the dol-
lar unless the decision was coordinated with Germany and
Japan. If interest rates in the United States suddenly dipped
below those of the other countries, investors would move out
of dollars to take advantage of the higher return on those
other currencies. Volcker was in the midst of trying to get
Germany and Japan to reduce their interest rates, but had not
yet received commitments. Besides the impact on the dollar,
an immediate decision in Washington would embarrass Vol-
cker with German and Japanese finance officials.

Martin and the other Reagan appointees insisted on vot-
ing. For the first time, Volcker was in the minority, and he left
the conference room in a fury. “It was obviously precon-
ceived,” Volcker says.40 “Nobody ever called for a vote sud-
denly against a chairman when it wasn’t even on the agenda.” 

He left the group with the strong impression that he
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intended to resign. The vote was to be made public, as
usual, at 4:30 P.M., and Volcker would not accept the public
humiliation of having lost control of his board.

Volcker went off to lunch with James Baker, who had
shifted from being the White House chief of staff to secre-
tary of the Treasury, and Jesus Silva-Herzog, the finance
minister of Mexico. Baker knew an upheaval at the Fed
would embarrass the Reagan administration with Wall
Street and roil the markets.

In the early afternoon, Volcker met with Wayne Angell,
a farmer and former economics professor at Ottawa Univer-
sity in Ottawa, Kansas, and one of the recent Reagan
appointees. Preston Martin joined them. Angell and Martin,
who insisted publicly that they had not been coached,
agreed that the board should reconvene, cancel the vote, and
give the chairman time to complete his negotiations with
Germany and Japan. The afternoon press release was torn
up and Volcker stayed on.

His authority was weakened, but he still controlled the
Fed’s larger policy-making body, the 12-member Federal
Open Market Committee consisting of himself and the six
other governors and the presidents of five of the regional Fed-
eral Reserve banks. The incident remained secret for about
two weeks, until reports of it began to appear in newspapers.
A few days after the incident became public, Vice Chairman
Preston Martin, who had become Volcker’s chief antagonist
inside the Fed, resigned. He had hoped to eventually replace
Volcker as chairman, and news reports speculated that the
White House had told him that was not going to happen.

For Volcker the rebellion was the beginning of the end.
The Reagan administration had him outnumbered on his
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own board, and the sniping from beyond the Fed continued.
His second term was due to end in August of 1987.

Over the next year or so, the administration dangled the
suggestion that Volcker would be offered another four years
interspersed with leaked comments that, of course, he would
not. Years later, it is hard to tell what Volcker wanted. His
wife was struggling with worsening health problems and the
family had been strained by the separation and the big pay
cut he had taken as chairman. Balanced against those con-
cerns was Volcker’s love of the job.

By some accounts, he agonized over whether to make
himself available for another four years. As Bob Woodward
tells it, aides to Reagan did not want Volcker to stay on, but
were unable to get a clear reading from President Reagan.
Reagan himself made no overtures and Volcker was unwill-
ing to coax an invitation from him.

On the afternoon of June 1, 1987, Volcker ended the
uncertainty: He was stepping down. He delivered the mes-
sage personally to President Reagan in the White House.
Howard Baker, the chief of staff, and Jim Baker, the secre-
tary of the Treasury, were at the president’s side. Reagan did
not try to persuade Volcker to stay. As Volcker turned
toward the door, he handed Reagan his formal letter of res-
ignation. The chief of staff and the secretary of the Treasury
had already lined up Alan Greenspan, a New York Republi-
can who ran his own economic consulting firm, had served
as the chairman of the Council of Economic Advisers under
Presidents Nixon and Ford, and frequently appeared on tele-
vision and before Congress. Minutes after Volcker left the
White House, President Reagan phoned Greenspan to tell
him the job was his. The Volcker era was over.

T H E FA L L O U T

183

11245_Treaster_3p_c09.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 183



11245_Treaster_3p_c09.f.qxd 3/10/04 11:33 AM Page 184



CHAPTER TEN

FLY-FISHING 
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Coming out of his high-profile post as chairman of the Fed-
eral Reserve for eight years, with commentators often
referring to him as the second most powerful person in

America, Paul Volcker was a dream prospect for corporate
America. The gilded doors of Wall Street swung open to
him as if he were a prince. Volcker had none of the riches or
even the most visible mannerisms of the clients or the
financiers of Wall Street, but the attraction among potential
employers lay in a deep sense that the mere association of his
name with a financial enterprise would lift its prospects.

Volcker was the stiff, inflexible man of integrity, deliber-
ately unfashionable and irascibly honest as he had always
been. Somehow, get Volcker on your team and money
would come. They believed that on Wall Street and it
proved to be true. For his outwardly humble part, Volcker
could surely stand a raise from the $89,500 he earned in his
last year at the Fed. He had almost no money; one report
put his personal savings at $62,0001 if you didn’t count his
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rambling Upper East Side apartment. But Volcker did not
feel a need for an enormous amount of money. He was not
dreaming of mansions and limousines and personal tennis
courts, and that made it especially hard for the Wall Street
chieftains to win him over. They did not have what he
needed.

Seven months after Volcker said goodbye to the Fed, the
tall man from Teaneck announced his new place of business.
He was not joining one of the giants of finance, but would
become chairman of the small investment banking firm,
James D. Wolfensohn, Inc. He would also contribute some
of what he valued most—his knowledge and experience and
sense of decency—to a new generation of students at Prince-
ton University, where he had first felt the spark of excite-
ment that led him into one of the most distinguished careers
in economics and public finance.

Volcker did not get into deep discussions with most of
the firms that sought his services, but it seemed unlikely that
they would feel comfortable about his spending two days a
week as the Frederick H. Schultz Class of 1951 Professor of
International Economic Policy at Princeton. If they were
going to make him a millionaire, they would want all his
time. But for James Wolfensohn, Princeton was no problem.

Wolfensohn had left Salomon Brothers as its chief invest-
ment banker with the beginnings of a small fortune in 1981
to start his own firm precisely because he wanted the free-
dom to hone his concert-hall-quality cello skills in his office
on any particular afternoon2 and to devote much of his
energy to endeavors like his chairmanship of the John F.
Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts in Washington and
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his campaign to help raise $50 million to restore Carnegie
Hall. He encouraged the 20 lawyers, economists, and
finance specialists in his firm to take on nonprofit work, and
he dedicated 20 percent of the firm’s annual profits to char-
ity.3 Here was a firm that could accommodate and challenge
Volcker at the same time.

Wolfensohn structured his small company with an eye
toward avoiding the conflicts of interest that were seemingly
inevitable for the big investment banks. They made their
biggest profits from managing mergers and acquisitions
(M&A) and they jumped from deal to deal to keep the cash
register ringing. That meant that on one transaction, the
bank might be representing General Motors, and on the
next it might be sitting across the table with a competing car-
maker, armed with a ton of inside knowledge about General
Motors. The big investment banks also made money by
issuing new stocks and bonds for corporations; they bought
and sold stocks and bonds for their own accounts as well.
The big firms often used those transactions as a way of
favoring particular chief executives as an enticement to hand
over their lucrative mergers and acquisitions business.

Wolfensohn’s firm did not underwrite new issues of
stocks and bonds. It did not try to boost earnings by playing
the markets. Instead, the firm made a fetish of long-term rela-
tionships with clients. The client paid an annual retainer—at
one point reportedly $250,000 a year4—and the firm worked
alongside the chief executive and his own finance team, offer-
ing the advice and guidance of a detached expert. When
there was an M&A deal to be done, Wolfensohn’s firm was
there to help make it happen for the customary extra fee. But
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often the firm would argue against a client’s takeover plan
and its own opportunity for juicy fees.5 Integrity like that was
directly in line with Volcker’s nature.

“We were an inside adviser, not someone just coming
along and trying to do a deal,” says founder James Wolfen-
sohn.6 The Wolfensohn bankers saw themselves as objective
members of a client’s family council. “The idea was to be
part and parcel of these firms, to be able to stand back and
to try to serve with sufficient continuity so that we had
depth of knowledge of the strategic and financial challenges
they were facing,” says Jeffrey A. Goldstein, who eventually
became a vice chairman at Wolfensohn.7

Wolfensohn also took the long view on the pay of its
own professionals. “The firm did not compensate people
based upon the number of transactions they did,” Gold-
stein says.8 “There was no imbedded incentive to try to
generate revenues because of personal interest. We all 
basically shared in the overall profitability of the firm.” 
The arrangement appealed to companies like American
Express, DaimlerBenz, and the Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation, now known as HSBC, all of which
became Wolfensohn clients.

Wolfensohn was just what Volcker wanted. “You were an
adviser to a firm in a confidential way over a period of time,”
he says.9 “If they did mergers and acquisitions, you worked
on that. But you weren’t dependent upon that. You were
there, all the time, as a resource. You were unconflicted
because that was all we did. No trading. No financing. No
nothing. We were there to give unbiased, unconflicted,
sound advice. This was our schtick. It was a good schtick.
That’s why I went there.”
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Size had been a factor as well. As unlikely as it might
seem, Volcker actually saw himself getting lost in a big firm.
“The problem at many of these places,” he told James Stern-
gold of The New York Times,10 “was that the firm would go on
pretty much as it was, whether I was there or not.”

Volcker had other reasons, too. “I didn’t want to work for
anybody anyway,” he said. “I didn’t want to be a subordi-
nate. And I didn’t want to be the umpteenth consultant they
had.”11 Volcker had been telling family and friends that he
especially did not want to become a highly paid glad-hander,
a rainmaker, the big name that draws business to a firm but
may spend little time on substantive matters.12 That was
another attraction of Wolfensohn for Volcker. “We didn’t go
out hustling for business,” Wolfensohn says. “All our business
came to us by referrals, one client to the other.”13

Wolfensohn and Volcker had known each other for
nearly a decade. They had met in 1979 in the government-
led effort to head off the bankruptcy of the Chrysler Corpo-
ration.14 After Congress agreed to guarantee $1.5 billion in
private loans, Wolfensohn, as the head investment banker at
Salomon Brothers and as Chrysler’s outside financial adviser,
cajoled the country’s reluctant banks to put up the money un-
der terms they regarded as too favorable to the automaker.15

Volcker, as the newly arrived chairman of the Federal Reserve,
headed the government’s Chrysler Loan Guaranty Board,
which monitored the deal. “We reported to him all the time on
what we were doing in the Chrysler reorganization,” Wolfen-
sohn says.16

They became friends, and when Volcker announced he
was leaving the Fed, Wolfensohn phoned him. “I said, ‘I know
you’re going to get offers from everybody,’” Wolfensohn
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recalls, “‘but if you want the option of retaining your pri-
vacy, and to give honest advice and do it in a totally profes-
sional and noncommercial way, maybe you’d like to come
with me and be chairman.’”17

Although Volcker and Wolfensohn came together on the
high plain of ethics, they were very different people. As
Volcker joined the firm, Wolfensohn, who was born in Aus-
tralia, was building a personal fortune. A one-time basketball
hopeful at Princeton, Volcker had become a sports spectator.
But Wolfensohn, at 53, seven years younger than his new
partner, was still working up a sweat. Wolfensohn had been
on Australia’s Olympic fencing team and still played a sharp
game of tennis. He collected art, took his cello most seriously,
and would eventually own his own private jet and four
homes, including a showpiece on 100 forested acres over-
looking the Snake River near Jackson Hole, Wyoming.18

Volcker would never be fabulously rich, nor did he aspire to
be. But late in life he was wealthy enough to donate $1.5 mil-
lion to the New York Hospital for Special Surgery to create a
research unit in memory of his wife and an additional
$600,000 to the Rand Institute in California to support work
toward making public service more attractive.

Neither Volcker nor Wolfensohn was willing to disclose
Volcker’s starting pay, but as Volcker joined the firm, The
Washington Post said people on Wall Street assumed he would
receive well over $1 million a year;19 The New York Times sug-
gested Volcker’s pay might be at least $2 million.20 After a bit
of back-and-forth in an interview with me, Volcker acknowl-
edged that the newspaper estimates were “probably true.”21 In
any case, his pay most certainly rose as the firm grew; the 
contrast to his government earnings was staggering. But the
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newfound money did not change Volcker’s lifestyle. Toward
the end of his first year at Wolfensohn, he told Forbes maga-
zine the main difference was that instead of just keeping ahead
of his family’s expenses he was now socking money away.22

As a professor at Princeton, Volcker would usually drive
out of New York across the Hudson River and down to the
campus on Friday evenings in the fall and spring in a chauf-
feured sedan23 with his wife, Barbara, have a quiet weekend
in the pre-Revolutionary home that the university provided,
then teach on Mondays and Tuesdays.24

He taught graduate and undergraduate students at the
Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs,
often bringing in well-known friends as guest lecturers. In his
first semester in the fall of 1988, he asked his undergraduate
students to write a term paper on “How to Reform the Ailing
Federal Deposit Insurance System.”25

In 1992, one of Volcker’s graduate seminars at Princeton
was published as a book that covered the highlights of his
government career and was as close as he ever came to writ-
ing an autobiography.26 He shared the seminar with Toyoo
Gyohten, a career official in the Ministry of Finance of Japan.
Gyohten’s lectures were published as alternating chapters in
the book, giving the Japanese perspective on Volcker’s ver-
sion of events.27

To accommodate Barbara Volcker’s decreasing mobility,
Princeton modified Volcker’s campus home, installing a
ground floor bedroom and bathroom. But the commute of
an hour or so each way to Princeton and the need to navi-
gate steps and other ordinary obstacles that the able-bodied
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scarcely think about became too much for Volcker’s wife. At
the same time, Volcker found himself more fully occupied
with his duties at Wolfensohn. So, about five years after it
had begun, his life as an academic ended. “The single most
important factor probably was that Barbara got sick enough
so that she couldn’t go to Princeton,” Volcker says. “And at
that point it just lost its appeal. I spent progressively less
time; partly it was supply and demand. I didn’t want to go
down there because she couldn’t go and meanwhile you get
more involved in the business.”28

For years, Wolfensohn had coveted the presidency of the
World Bank. In 1995, President Bill Clinton nominated him
for the post, and the bank’s directors quickly voted to con-
firm him. With Wolfensohn’s departure, Volcker became
the chief executive of the firm.

It had been seven years since he had joined Wolfensohn
in 1988, and in that time the firm had greatly expanded.
The Chase Manhattan Bank, where Volcker had worked
early in his career and where Wolfensohn also had close
ties, was one of many new clients. When Volcker first
joined the firm, he was Wolfensohn’s only partner; now in
1995 there were 10 partners and a total of 140 employees,
up from 50, and 50 clients where there had been only a
dozen. At Wolfensohn’s behest, Volcker oversaw the start-
up of joint ventures with the Fuji Bank in Tokyo29 and
J. Rothschild & Company in London,30 designed to assist
Japanese and European companies in business dealings in
the United States and American companies in ventures in
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Asia and Europe. Volcker had clearly proven his worth.
“He added tremendously to the firm,” Wolfensohn says.31

In 1995, a huge scandal began unfolding at the Bankers
Trust New York Corporation, one of the country’s biggest
banks. The bank specialized in racy derivatives, custom-
tailored financial instruments that, as the name implies,
derive their value from underlying stocks, bonds, currency,
commodities, and financial indexes. Some of the bank’s
clients, including Procter & Gamble, filed lawsuits to recover
tens of millions in derivatives losses. And, in the course of
the litigation, a tape recording turned up of Bankers Trust
traders laughing about taking advantage of clients who did
not seem to understand how derivatives worked.32 Bankers
Trust eventually paid federal regulators $10 million to settle
fraud charges and the chief executive resigned.33

In January of 1996, Frank N. Newman, fresh from duty
as a deputy secretary of the Treasury, took charge of
Bankers Trust. Job One for him was cleaning up the bank’s
reputation. His thoughts soon turned to Wolfensohn, the
home of Paul Volcker, and a possible merger as a way to
jump-start his revamping of Bankers Trust’s image.

Volcker and Newman had met years earlier when Volcker
was chairman of the Fed and Newman was the chief financial
officer of BankAmerica Corporation. “When I started at
Bankers Trust, Paul and I got together for lunch,” Newman
told Saul Hansell of The New York Times. “It was social at first,
but then we started to talk about how our two firms could
work together.”34

Volcker and his partners had turned down several previ-
ous opportunities to sell their firm.35 “I thought we had a
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nice little firm,” Volcker says.36 But he and his partners liked
Newman and his plans to restore Bankers Trust’s good
name.37 Some of the partners saw a merger with Bankers
Trust as a chance to expand their already extensive interna-
tional business through the bank’s network of offices in
Europe, Asia, and Latin America.38 Volcker had felt a ten-
sion between the partners who wanted a bigger Wolfensohn,
with more opportunities for increased wealth, and others
like himself, who valued a smaller firm. Some partners were
also apparently impressed that Newman was willing to pay
$210 million for their firm, as much as 40 percent more than
some analysts expected it to fetch.

Newman announced the acquisition of Wolfensohn on
May 22, 1996. No purchase price was disclosed, but finan-
cial analysts estimated it at $150 million. A month later, the
bank disclosed in documents filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission that it had paid $210 million, almost
entirely in stock.39 Analysts commented that drawing the
Wolfensohn firm and Volcker into its fold gave the bank
“instant credibility.”40 Saul Hansell of The New York Times said
the connection with Volcker “was a much-needed infusion
of integrity” for Bankers Trust.41

Wolfensohn, as the founder of the firm, received the
greatest portion of the proceeds, which The Guardian esti-
mated at $60 million.42 Volcker and the nine other partners
divided what remained. Had they taken equal shares,
Volcker would have presumably received at least $15 mil-
lion. He will not say how much his share came to, but he
says he and some other senior partners received larger por-
tions than the others based on the percentage of their own-
ership in the firm.43 In any case, it’s safe to say that Volcker
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made much more in one day than he’d earned in 30 years of
government service. Yet he was still far from rich by Wall
Street standards, where by the end of 2003 some chief exec-
utives were being paid more than $15 million a year and
others even boasted fortunes in the billions.

For Volcker, the sale of Wolfensohn was the end of his
investment banking career. While his nine partners became
executives of Bankers Trust and of its new unit, BT Wolfen-
sohn M&A and Corporate Advisory Group, Volcker resigned
from day-to-day responsibilities. As part of the deal, he reluc-
tantly became a director of Bankers Trust, raising its board
membership to 13. Even with Frank Newman at the helm 
and the bank avowedly following a new, clean path, Volcker
felt uneasy about being associated with it. Plenty of people, 
he feared, still associated Banker’s Trust with the unethical
behavior that Newman had been hired to expunge. “The
bank was well known as being very aggressive in those days,”
Volcker says.44

Leaving investment banking did not mean Volcker was
heading out to pasture. In August of 1996, as the details of
the sale of Wolfensohn were being tied up, Volcker held his
first meeting as chairman of the committee that investigated
the Swiss bank accounts of the Holocaust victims. He was
also on the board of the American Stock Exchange, United
Airlines, Nestlé, and the Prudential Insurance Company of
America. Since 1991, he had been the North American
chairman of the Trilateral Commission, the controversial
organization founded by David Rockefeller and comprising
mainly business and academic leaders from North America,
Europe, and Japan. He was also the chairman of the Group
of 30, a private research organization of some of the world’s
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most distinguished economists, central bankers, and bank
executives. And in 1998 and 1999 he returned to teaching as
a visiting professor at the Stern School of Business at New
York University.

For Paul Volcker, nothing came close to the magnetic pull
of his work in economics, finance, and international affairs.
But when he wanted to take a break, he most often went fish-
ing. Volcker is a fly-fisherman, the most elegant, refined, and
erudite form of angler. Fly-fishing takes patience and deter-
mination and is something of a metaphor for Volcker’s life 
in finance.

It takes fine timing and agility and an understanding of
how the waters are moving and how the fish are feeding, not
nearly as serious but not all that far removed from the con-
cept of market analysis. Yet, it is hard to think of anything in
finance, however exquisite the formulation, that comes close
to the beauty of a fly line curling and elongating over a fish-
erman’s head in the poetic and glorious ballet of the cast.
Volcker and friends who have shared a stream with him say
his form is not great. But, partly aided by his height, he can
cast a tiny fly in a soaring arc of 80 or 90 feet, much farther
than most people.

Volcker goes after the most difficult fish. No one says it
is easy to coax a trout to take a fly, but the fishing is even
more challenging with his favorites: Atlantic salmon, bone-
fish, and tarpon.

Fly-fishing requires intelligence, stamina, and great per-
severance, and it benefits from a childlike belief that if you
just keep trying you will ultimately succeed in finding a way
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to get the fish to come to the hook, then sufficiently exhaust
itself so that it cannot possibly break the line and defeat its
antagonist. That was exactly the Volcker that America saw
at the helm of the Federal Reserve. Other chairmen had
tried to stop inflation, but their resolve drifted and the infla-
tion monster breathed fire back at them. Volcker stayed with
it. Eventually, inflation crumbled.

Volcker has no patience for self-analysis—at least not in
public—and he would never acknowledge reading much into
his love of fishing. But the traits that have worked for him in
fly-fishing were crucial assets in his battle against inflation.
E. Gerald Corrigan spent much of his life working in the
Federal Reserve system, some of the time as a close aide and
fishing buddy of Volcker, and he sees the art of fly-fishing as
closely related to the art of central banking. “You have to be
very disciplined, very precise, totally focused,” Corrigan
said one day at his office in the Wall Street district at Gold-
man Sachs, where he is a managing director. “The concen-
tration is unbelievable.”45

Corrigan, who served as president of the Federal Reserve
banks in Minneapolis and New York, learned fly-fishing from
Volcker. His luck was immediately good. The first time out in
Montana, he caught a bigger trout than the master; a year
later, fishing again with Volcker, he hauled in an even bigger
fish. Working a trout stream, Corrigan says, the fly-fisherman
“has to get the fly to float down the river exactly at the same
speed as the current, or the fish will notice the fly is not real.”

“And when the fish rises to take the fly,” he continues,
“you have an absolute millisecond to strike—or the fish is
gone.”46

Volcker had more than a millisecond to make the critical
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move in his fight against inflation—the decision to focus on
the supply of money in the United States economy rather
than following tradition and adjusting interest rates. But he
believed he was working with a narrow window of opportu-
nity and he struck decisively. Then, as interest rates soared
and the pain of many Americans increased, Volcker held
firm.

That is the way he fishes. “He perseveres,” says Bob 
Wilson, a former vice chairman of Johnson & Johnson, 
who has fished with Volcker for 15 years.47 “He knows
you’ve got to keep at it.” 
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As important as fishing has been to Volcker, it has been
out there on the margins of his life, a fascinating way to
escape into the wilds, but not even a close competitor

with the give and take of finance, economics, and interna-
tional relations.

Most days, Volcker is in his office in Rockefeller Center
by 10:00 A.M., writing speeches in longhand on a yellow
legal pad, dealing with the handful of clients he advises, the
Holocaust settlement, and a dozen or so nonprofit organiza-
tions such as the International Accounting Standards Board,
the Group of 30, and the Japan Society. He keeps two secre-
taries busy and seldom leaves the office before 6:00 or 7:00
in the evening.

Two or three nights a week he goes straight to a business
dinner. At lunch, for efficiency’s sake, he prefers a bowl of
soup at his desk. But a couple of days a week, if someone
else is paying, he will dart down to the Sea Grill restaurant,
which looks out through floor-to-ceiling windows at the
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Rockefeller Center ice skating rink, or drop into an Italian
restaurant just across the street from his office.1

Volcker likes the road. Almost every week he is off to
somewhere. For example, on the morning of October 2, 2003,
a Thursday, he flew to Washington to testify before a Senate
committee, then drove to Shenandoah University in Win-
chester, Virginia, with Joseph Coyne, his former spokesman
from his days at the Federal Reserve. At the university, he
delivered a speech and received yet another honorary doctor-
ate. (He has been awarded more than 50 honorary degrees,
including three from his alma maters: Princeton, Harvard,
and the London School of Economics.) The next day, Volcker
flew to Syracuse, New York, for a meeting of the advisory
board of the Maxwell School of Public Administration at
Syracuse University and to deliver another speech.2

Two or three times a year, he tears off on a marathon
journey with several overnight legs followed by early morn-
ing meetings. On a trip in the fall of 2003, he hit five cities in
four countries in 13 days with plane changes in three other
cities in Europe and Asia. He did not seem to realize that he
was 76 years old.

The expedition in October began with a flight to Wash-
ington for a meeting with a senator that was canceled while
Volcker was en route. That afternoon, October 28, a Tues-
day, he spoke on a panel dealing with the federal budget.
Then, at 10:00 that evening, he caught a plane to Frankfurt.
He arrived in Germany the next morning at 11:35 A.M., and,
after two hours in the airport, continued on to Moscow. In
three days in Moscow, he spent a day in meetings preparing
to run a five-hour session of the International Accounting
Standards Board, lectured for two hours to students at a
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high school specializing in economics, then moved on to
meetings at the Russian central bank, congress, and the
offices of the United States Agency for International Devel-
opment.

It went on like that for almost two weeks, with stops of a
few days also in Brussels, Hong Kong, and Beijing. En route
to Hong Kong, Volcker finished running an all-day meeting
of his international accounting board in Brussels and caught
a 6:00 P.M. flight to London to make a connection to Asia.
He arrived in Hong Kong at 6:00 P.M. the next day, just in
time to get to a dinner given by C. H. Tung, the chief exec-
utive of the city. At 8:00 the next morning, Volcker and
others on Tung’s international advisory council started a
day of meetings. At 7:00 P.M. Volcker flew to Beijing.

He got back to New York, on a flight from Beijing via
Tokyo, as darkness was falling on Sunday, November 10. On
Monday, he was in his office by about 10:00 A.M. as usual. I
dropped by to talk with him Tuesday morning. Sipping black
coffee and tilting back jauntily in his high-backed leather
armchair, he looked like he’d just come off a vacation.

Volcker will speak to almost any university or profes-
sional group that offers him a platform for his favorite
themes: careers in public service, honest accounting, central
banking, international trade, the general drift of the econ-
omy. Most of the time, he speaks for free. “You’re educating
people,” Volcker says.3 “They ought to hear what’s right and
what’s wrong about American business.”

For about a half dozen speeches a year he collects a fee in
the tens of thousands of dollars. With two or three speeches,
he can make more than he was paid annually at the Fed.4

In his speeches, Volcker does not tell war stories about
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his adventures at the Treasury Department and the Federal
Reserve, which would actually make pretty good listening.
But Volcker is not dwelling on the past. He is focused on
current events and on tomorrow, which, as he sees it, could
be immensely better with a reformed civil service and hon-
est accounting.

Not long after leaving government service in Washing-
ton, Volcker sat for a long interview with a writer for The
Region, the magazine of the Federal Reserve bank of Min-
neapolis.5 Volcker does not usually respond well to ques-
tions aimed at revealing his inner self. But that day, with just
a little prompting, one of the great financial strategists and
moral leaders quickly fashioned a concise self-portrait.

He began with a touch of diffidence that can make him
seem slightly vulnerable and more appealing, but which
fades when he has settled on a decision. He said he consid-
ered himself discreet—to a fault, some might say—and prag-
matic. Then he talked about the way he works and, in a few
words, he captured the Paul Volcker that the world has been
seeing for decades. “I try to find a consensus solution or a
way for people who may disagree to proceed,” Volcker said.
“But I also think [that] on some basic points, you’d better
not be a compromiser.” 
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